

National Technical University of Athens School of Rural and Surveying Engineering

Machine learning methods for modelling and analysis of time series signals in geoinformatics

Doctoral Dissertation

Maria Kaselimi

Dipl. Rural and Surveying Engineer, NTUA

Supervisor: NIKOLAOS DOULAMIS, Assoc. Professor, NTUA

National Technical University of Athens

6 September, 2021

Advisory Committee:

Nikolaos Doulamis Associate Professor, National Technical University of Athens, Supervisor

Demitris Delikaraoglou Professor, National Technical University of Athens

Andreas Georgios Stafylopatis Professor, National Technical University of Athens

Examination Committee:

Athanasios Voulodimos Assistant Professor, University of West Attica

Emmanouel Varvarigos Professor, National Technical University of Athens

Vasileios Gkikas Professor, National Technical University of Athens

Maria Tsakiri Professor, National Technical University of Athens



Operational Programme Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning



Co-financed by Greece and the European Union

This research is co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Social Fund-ESF) through the Operational Programme «Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning» in the context of the project "Strengthening Human Resources Research Potential via Doctorate Research" (MIS-5000432), implemented by the State Scholarships Foundation (IKY)



Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο Σχολή Αγρονόμων και Τοπογράφων Μηχανικών

Τεχνικές Μηχανικής Μάθησης για τη Μοντελοποίηση και Ανάλυση Χρονοσειρών σε Εφαρμογές Γεωπληροφορικής

Διδακτορική Διατριβή

Μαρία Κασελίμη

Διπλωματούχος Αγρονόμος και Τοπογράφος Μηχανικός ΕΜΠ

Επιβλέπων: ΝΙΚΟΛΑΟΣ ΔΟΥΛΑΜΗΣ, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, ΕΜΠ

Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο

6 Σεπτεμβρίου, 2021

Τοιμελής Συμβουλευτική Επιτροπή:

Νικόλαος Δουλάμης Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο, Επιβλέπων

Δημήτοης Δεληκαφάογλου Καθηγητής, , Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο

Ανδφέας Γεώφγιος Σταφυλοπάτης Καθηγητής, Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο

Επταμελής Εξεταστική Επιτροπή:

Αθανάσιος Βουλόδημος Επίπουρος Καθηγητής, Πανεπιστήμιο Δυτιπής Αττιπής

Εμμανουήλ Βαρβαρίγος Καθηγητής, Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο

Βασίλειος Γκίκας

Καθηγητής, Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο

Μαρία Τσαχίρη

Καθηγητής, Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο



Επιχειρησιακό Πρόγραμμα Ανάπτυξη Ανθρώπινου Δυναμικού, Εκπαίδευση και Διά Βίου Μάθηση



Με τη συγχρηματοδότηση της Ελλάδας και της Ευρωπαϊκής Ένωσης

Το έργο συγχρηματοδοτείται από την Ελλάδα και την Ευρωπαϊκή Ένωση (Ευρωπαϊκό Κοινωνικό Ταμείο) μέσω του Επιχειρησιακού Προγράμματος «Ανάπτυξη Ανθρώπινου Δυναμικού, Εκπαίδευση και Διά Βίου Μάθηση», στο πλαίσιο της Πράξης «Ενίσχυση του ανθρώπινου ερευνητικού δυναμικού μέσω της υλοποίησης διδακτορικής έρευνας» (MIS-5000432), που υλοποιεί το Ίδρυμα Κρατικών Υποτροφιών (ΙΚΥ)

To Demitris and Elena

Acknowledgements

The past three and a half years of my doctoral studies have been a challenging and intense, yet fruitful and enjoyable period. At the end of this unforgettable journey, I would like to extend my heartful thanks to those who stood next to me and supported me during this period.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my research supervisor, **Prof. Nikolaos Doulamis**, for giving me the opportunity to pursue research and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. His vision and motivation have deeply inspired me. He has taught me the methodology to carry out the research, while simultaneously according me a great degree of freedom and helped me to present the research works as clearly as possible. It was a great privilege and honor to work and study under his guidance. I am extremely grateful for what he has offered me and especially for the great opportunities that he gave me to collaborate with him and his team in various research projects. I would also like to thank him for his strong passion and always positive attitude, and solidarity. I am extending my heartfelt thanks to his wife, family for their acceptance and patience during the discussion I had with him on research work and thesis preparation. Also, I would like to thank **Prof. Anastasios Doulamis**, the other half of my professor, for his help and guidance throughout these three and a half years. Together they have created a solid and comprehensive team, and I'm grateful to be part of this team.

At the same time, I would like to thank the two other members of the advisory committee, **Prof. Demitris Delikaraoglou** and **Prof. Andreas Georgios Stafylopatis**, for their support and important advice, as well as for their very constructive comments on my doctoral dissertation. Also, I would like to thank all the other members of the examination committee for their willingness to participate in the examination of this doctoral dissertation.

In addition, I would like to express my sincere thanks to the State Scholarships Foundation (IKY), for the three years of financial support, that greatly contributed in making my doctoral research come to life. The doctoral scholarship that I received by the IKY Foundation was especially significant for me and let me focus on my doctoral studies. I gratefully acknowledge this support.

I would like to express my special thanks to my tutors and friends, **Prof. Athanasios Voulodimos** and **Dr. Eftychios Protopapadakis**, for their constant encouragement, the ideas they shared with me, their genuine support throughout this research work that is sometimes extended to a psychological one, as well as. You provided me with the tools that I needed to choose the right direction and successfully complete my dissertation. I could not have completed this dissertation without the support of the rest members of the laboratory, who provided stimulating discussions as well as happy distractions to rest my mind outside of my research. I am extremely grateful to my parents **Gianna** and **Spyros** for their love and sacrifices for educating and continuing support to complete my studies. "Nothing that I say, can ever truly convey how important you are in my life. I want to thank you two for being the most wonderful parents ever. The most important things I have learned in my life, derived from your advises." Also, I express my thanks and my love to my triplets **Eirini**, **Anestis** and **Antonia** for their support and help and my younger sister **Panagiota** for her support and patience. Also, here, in this paragraph where I'm referring to my family, I would like to thank again **Prof. Demitris Delikaraoglou** and say to him: "Thank you for being a teacher and a mentor for me, in my heart you're like a parent to me."

Also I want to thank my closely friends for their patience, support and their friendship "Thank you for standing by my side".

Finally, my thanks to all the people who have supported me to complete the research work directly or indirectly.

Abstract

The analysis of experimental data that have been observed at different points in time leads to new and unique problems in statistical modeling and inference. The obvious correlation introduced by the sampling of adjacent points in time can severely restrict the applicability of the many conventional statistical methods traditionally dependent on the assumption that these adjacent observations are independent and identically distributed. The systematic approach by which one goes about answering the mathematical and statistical questions posed by these time correlations is commonly referred to as *time series analysis (TSA)*.

Time series modeling (TSM) plays a key role in a wide range of real-life problems that have a temporal component. Modern time series problems often pose significant challenges for the existing techniques both in terms of their complexity, structure and size. While traditional methods have focused on parametric models informed by domain expertise, modern **machine learning** (ML) methods provide a means to learn temporal dynamics in a purely data-driven manner. With the increasing data availability and computing power in recent times, machine learning has become a vital part of the next generation of time series models. Thus, there is both a great need and an exciting opportunity for the machine learning community to develop theory, models and algorithms specifically for the purpose of processing and analyzing time series data.

The impact of time series modelling and analysis on scientific applications can be partially documented by analysing problems of various diverse fields in which important time series problems may arise. Modern time series problems are characterized by *complexity*. Also, since real-world systems often evolve under transient conditions, the signals/time series tend to exhibit various forms of *non-stationarity*. As far as mathematical models are concerned, they can be categorized in many different ways. They can be linear or non-linear, static or dynamic, continuous distinct in time, deterministic or contemplative. The proper model selection to accurately describe a system depends on the system under study, on whether the operation of the system is a-priory known or not, as well as on the purpose of the implementation. This dissertation presents developments in *nonlinear* and non-static time series models under a machine learning framework, comparing their performance in real-life application scenarios related to *geoinformatics* as well as environmental applications.

In this dissertation is provided a comparative analysis that evaluates the performance of several deep learning (DL) architectures on a large number of time series datasets of different nature and for different applications. Two main fruitful research fields are discussed here which were strategically chosen in order to address current cross-disciplinary research priorities attracting the interest of Geoinformatics communities. The first problem is related to *ionospheric Total*

Electron Content (TEC) modeling which is an important issue in many real-time Global Navigation System Satellites (GNSS) applications. Reliable and fast knowledge about ionospheric variations becomes increasingly important. GNSS users of single-frequency receivers and satellite navigation systems need accurate corrections to remove signal degradation effects caused by the ionosphere. Ionospheric modeling using signal-processing techniques is the subject of discussion in the present contribution. The next problem under discussion is energy disaggregation which is an important issue for energy efficiency and energy consumption awareness. Reliable and fast knowledge about residential energy consumption at appliance level becomes increasingly important nowadays and it is an important mitigation measure to prevent energy wastage. Energy disaggregation or *Non-intrusive load monitoring (NILM)* is a single channel blind source separation problem where the task is to estimate the consumption of each electrical appliance given the total energy consumption. For both problems various *deep learning models (DL)* are proposed that cover various aspects of the problem under study, whereas *experimental results* indicate the proposed methods' superiority compared to the current state of the art.

Εκτεταμένη Περίληψη στα Ελληνικά

Η ανάλυση χρονοσειρών στηρίζεται σε δεδομένα που δίνονται με χρονική διάταξη και περιλαμβάνει την προσπάθεια διερεύνησης μέσω διάφορων μεθόδων του μηχανισμού που παράγει τη χρονοσειρά και εκτίμησης των χαρακτηριστικών της. Σκοπός είναι η ανάπτυξη ενός προτεινόμενου υποδείγματος (μοντελοποίηση) για να την περιγράψει και στη συνέχεια να επιδιώξει την πρόβλεψη της εξέλιξης της, δηλαδή την πρόβλεψη των επόμενων τιμών της χρονοσειράς. Η μοντελοποίηση και η ανάλυση των χρονοσειρών (times series modelling and analysis) έχουν αποκτήσει αυξημένο ενδιαφέρον κατά τη διάρκεια των τελευταίων δεκαετιών σε εφαρμογές γεωδαισίας, γεωπληροφορικής και περιβάλλοντος.

Τα μαθηματικά μοντέλα αποτελούν ένα πολύτιμο εργαλείο ερευνητικά για τη μοντελοποίηση και ανάλυση χρονοσειρών. Η ραγδαία εξέλιξη της τεχνολογίας τα τελευταία χρόνια, η οποία έχει προσφέρει τεράστια υπολογιστική δύναμη και ισχύ, συνεισφέρει στην ανάπτυξη σύνθετων μοντέλων, τα οποία είναι ικανά να εξηγήσουν περίπλοκους φυσιολογικούς μηχανισμούς. Επιπροσθέτως, εκτός από την αύξηση υπολογιστικής ισχύος, έχουν αυξηθεί και οι τρόποι απόκτησης δεδομένων, προσφέροντας έτσι περισσότερο χώρο για δοκιμή των μοντέλων, αλλά και την καλύτερη «εκπαίδευσή» τους. Οι πρόσφατες εξελίξεις στην τεχνολογία αισθητήρων (sensors) και η συνακόλουθη διαθεσιμότητα άφθονων πηγών δεδομένων με τη μορφή χρονοσειρών μπορούν να μεταμορφώσουν τον τρόπο παρακολούθησης και ελέγχου των πολύπλοκων συστημάτων στον πραγματικό κόσμο.

Κατά συνέπεια τα σύγχρονα προβλήματα χρονοσειρών χαρακτηρίζονται από πολυπλοκότητα (complexity). Επίσης, δεδομένου ότι τα συστήματα του πραγματικού κόσμου συχνά εξελίσσονται υπό παροδικές συνθήκες, τα σήματα/χρονοσειρές (signals/time series) που λαμβάνονται, τείνουν να εμφανίζουν διάφορες μορφές μη στατικότητας (non-stationarity). Όσον αφορά στα μαθηματικά μοντέλα, μπορούν να κατηγοριοποιηθούν με πολλούς διαφορετικούς τρόπους. Μπορούν να είναι γραμμικά ή μη-γραμμικά, στατικά ή δυναμικά, συνεχή ή διακριτά στον χρόνο, ντετερμινιστικά ή στοχαστικά. Το μοντέλο που επιλέγεται για την περιγραφή ενός συστήματος, εξαρτάται από το ίδιο το σύστημα υπό μελέτην, από το αν η λειτουργία του συστήματος μας είναι γνωστή ή όχι, όπως και από τον σκοπό της εφαρμογής του μοντέλου. Η παρούσα διατριβή προτείνει σε μη γραμμικά και μη

στατικά μοντέλα χρονοσειρών σε ένα πλαίσιο που βασίζεται στη μηχανική μάθηση κάνοντας σύγκριση των επιδόσεών τους σε ορισμένες πραγματικές περιβαλλοντικές εφαρμογές και εφαρμογές που σχετίζονται με τη γεωπληροφορική και τη γεωδαισία.

Σε περιπτώσεις επιβλεπόμενης μηχανικής μάθησης (supervised learning), οι χρονοσειρές μετατρέπονται σε παραδείγματα εκπαίδευσης. Αυτό γίνεται με την έμμεση ενσωμάτωσή της μεταβλητής του χρόνου στα παραδείγματα μέσω επιπλέον χαρακτηριστικών. Για παράδειγμα μπορεί να προστεθεί σαν χαρακτηριστικό η τιμή της μεταβλητής προς πρόβλεψη της προηγούμενης χρονικής στιγμής. Η χρονική στιγμή αυτή μπορεί να είναι λεπτό, ώρα, ημέρα, και εξαρτάται αναλόγως της φύσης των παραδειγμάτων. Ακόμη, μπορούν να προστεθούν πεδία τα οποία να μοντελοποιούν την τάση και την εποχικότητα των δεδομένων. Μετά από αυτή την μετατροπή, εφαρμόζονται αλγόριθμοι Μηχανικής Μάθησης για την εκπαίδευση του μοντέλου. Τα περισσότερα από αυτά τα μοντέλα αξιοποιούν τα παραδείγματα ανεξάρτητα το ένα με το άλλο υπάρχουν όμως και μοντέλα που αξιοποιούν την αλληλοδιαδοχή αυτών, όπως τα Αναδρομικά Νευρωνικά Δίκτυα (Recurrent Neural Networks - RNN) και η επέκταση αυτών, τα Δίκτυα Μακράς Βραχυπρόθεσμης Μνήμης (Long Short-Term Memory Networks - LSTM). Η μεγάλη διαφορά των μοντέλων αυτών είναι πως μπορούν να εκμεταλλευτούν και άλλες πληροφορίες και να τις ενσωματώσουν στον μηχανισμό πρόβλεψής τους. Η προσέγγιση αυτή στην ανάλυση και πρόβλεψη χρονοσειρών συνήθως αποτελεί μια πιο δυνατή και ευέλικτη μέθοδο από τις κλασικές στατιστικές τεχνικές, όπως τα αυτοπαλινδρομούμενα μοντέλα κινητού μέσου όρου (Autoregressive Moving Average – ARMA) και τα αυτοπαλινδρομούμενα μοντέλα ενσωματωμένου κινητού μέσου όρου (Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average -ARIMA). Ωστόσο, είναι σημαντικό να αναφερθεί ότι ένα μοντέλο μηχανικής μάθησης που προσαρμόζεται επιτυχώς για δεδομένα χρονοσειρών πρέπει να διατηρεί τη χρονική δυναμική μεταβολή του φαινομένου, με την έννοια ότι οι νέες τιμές που προκύπτουν από το μοντέλο υπακούουν στη χρονική συσχέτιση (temporal correlation) μεταξύ των μεταβλητών με την πάροδο του χρόνου. Οι τεχνικές αυτές χρησιμοποιούνται στη μοντελοποίηση ακολουθιών (sequence modelling) και εχουν εφαρμοστεί στα πλαίσια της παρούσας έρευνας.

Εκτός των αναδρομικών νευρωνικών δικτύων, έγινε προσπάθεια να αξιοποιηθούν και τα ευρέως γνωστά Συνελικτικά Νευρωνικά Δίκτυα (Convolutional Neural Networks-CNN) στην πρόβλεψη της ιονόσφαιρας. Αυτό πραγματοποιήθηκε προτείνοντας μονοδιάστατα δίκτυα CNN που παρουσιάζουν μεταβολές στη διάσταση του χρόνου. Η ιδιότητες της αιτιότητας (causality) και της διαστολής (dilation) αποτέλεσαν σημαντικές παραμέτρους ώστε το κλασσικό μοντέλο CNN να αποκτήσει ιδιότητες αυτοπαλινδρόμησης (autoregressive). Επιπλέον, στα πλαίσια της διατριβής προτείνονται και υβριδικά μοντέλα μηχανικής μάθησης (hybrid) που συνδυάζουν ιδιότητες των συνελικτικών και των αναδρομικών νευρωνικών δικτύων.

Επιπρόσθετα, έγινε εφαρμογή των Γεννητικών Ανταγωνιστικών Δικτύων (Generative Adversarial Networks – GAN). Πρόκειται για μια μέθοδο μηχανικής μάθησης, κατά την οποία ένα γεννητικό (generative) μοντέλο εκπαιδεύεται να παράγει παραδείγματα που «εξαπατούν» έναν ταξινομητή

(discriminator), ο οποίος εκπαιδεύεται συγχρόνως να διαχωρίζει τα παραδείγματα που παράγει το παραγωγικό μοντέλο και τα πραγματικά παραδείγματα μιας κατανομής. Έτσι, το παραγωγικό μοντέλο μαθαίνει να παράγει ρεαλιστικά παραδείγματα που δεν μπορούν να διαχωριστούν από πραγματικά δεδομένα. Στους αλγορίθμους GAN, η χρονική συνιστώσα των δεδομένων αποτελεί μια μοναδική πρόκληση για την παραγωγική μοντελοποίηση, καθώς το μοντέλο πρέπει να συλλάβει την πολύπλοκη δυναμική των μεταβλητών με την πάροδο του χρόνου.

Σε αυτή τη διατριβή παρέχεται μια συγκριτική ανάλυση που αξιολογεί την απόδοση πολλών αρχιτεκτονικών βαθιάς μηχανικής μάθησης (Deep Learning – DL) σε μεγάλο αριθμό συνόλου δεδομένων χρονοσειρών διαφορετικής φύσης και για διαφορετικές εφαρμογές. Δύο βασικοί ερευνητικοί τομείς εξετάζονται:

- Εφαρμογή στη γεωδαισία: Στη δορυφορική γεωδαισία, στο πρόβλημα εντοπισμού θέσης ένα σημαντικό σφάλματος αποτελεί το ιονοσφαιρικό σφάλμα. Σημειώνεται ότι η αξιόπιστη και γρήγορη γνώση σχετικά με τις ιονοσφαιρικές διαταραχές καθίσταται ολοένα και πιο σημαντική στον ακριβή εντοπισμό θέσης. Ο προσδιορισμός των ιονοσφαιρικών διαταραχών μέσω της μοντελοποίησης των τιμών της πυκνότητας των ηλεκτρονίων TEC (Total Electron Content) της ιονόσφαιρας, αποτελεί σημαντικό ζήτημα σε πολλές εφαρμογές για τη βελτίωση της θέσης με δέκτες GNSS σε εφαρμογές πραγματικού χρόνου (Real Time RT). Οι χρήστες GNSS δεκτών μίας συχνότητας χρειάζονται ακριβείς διορθώσεις για να απομακρύνουν την υποβάθμιση του σήματος που προκαλείται από την ιονόσφαιρα. Η μοντελοποίηση των τιμών TEC της ιονόσφαιρας με τη χρήση τεχνικών επεξεργασίας σήματος και τεχνικών μηχανικής μάθησης αποτελεί αντικείμενο συζήτησης στην παρούσα διατριβή.
- Εφαρμογή στην ενέργεια και το περιβάλλον: Η αξιόπιστη και γρήγορη γνώση σχετικά με την οικιακή κατανάλωση ενέργειας σε επίπεδο οικιακών συσκευών γίνεται ολοένα και πιο σημαντική σήμερα και αποτελεί σημαντικό μέτρο μετριασμού για την πρόληψη της ενεργειακής σπατάλης.
 Ο ενεργειακός επιμερισμός (energy disaggregation) είναι ένα πρόβλημα διαχωρισμού τις συνολικής καταναλισκόμενης ενέργειας, στις επιμέρους συνιστώσες και τον προσδιορισμό της ενέργειας που καταναλώνει η εκάστοτε ηλεκτρική οικιακή συσκευή δεδομένης της συνολικής κατανάλωσης ενέργειας.

Η υπό εξέταση διατριβή αναπτύσσεται σε 8 κεφάλαια:

Στο **Κεφάλαιο 1** γίνεται μία εισαγωγή στις τεχνικές μοντελοποίησης χρονοσειρών. Παρουσιάζονται τα προβλήματα που θα αντιμετωπιστούν, οι γενικότεροι περιορισμοί των υφιστάμενων μεθόδων στη βιβλιογραφία και τα κίνητρα για την ενασχόληση με το συγκεκριμένο αντικείμενο της διατριβής. Στη συνέχεια, σημειώνονται οι γενικοί και ειδικοί στόχοι της διατριβής και παραθέτονται οι πρωτότυπες συνεισφορές. Τέλος, δίνεται η δομή της διατριβής.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 2 παρατίθεται το θεωρητικό υπόβαθρο για την ανάπτυξη τοπικών μοντέλων για τη χαρτογράφηση της ιονόσφαιρας και περιγράφεται η συνεισφορά των παρατηρήσεων GNSS στην εκτίμηση των παραμέτρων TEC της ιονόσφαιρας. Αρχικά, παρουσιάζεται η σχετική βιβλιογραφία. Συγκεκριμένα, ύστερα από εκτεταμένη έρευνα που πραγματοποιήθηκε, περιγράφονται οι πιο σημαντικές βιβλιογραφικές αναφορές που σχετίζονται με τις μεθόδους για τη μοντελοποίηση των τιμών ΤΕC της ιονόσφαιρας. Επίσης, μοντελοποιείται μαθηματικά το υπό μελέτη πρόβλημα, η επίλυση του οποίου αποτελεί έναν από τους κύριους στόχους της παρούσης διατριβής.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 3 παρουσιάζεται η προτεινόμενη μέθοδος για τη μοντελοποίηση των τιμών ΤΕC της ιονόσφαιρας χρησιμοποιώντας μοντέλα βαθιάς μηχανικής μάθησης προσαρμοσμένα σε γρονοσειρές και παρατηρήσεις GNSS. Η μελέτη επικεντρώθηκε στη γρήση τεχνικών μάθησης με επίβλεψη για την πρόβλεψη της ιονοσφαιρικής υστέρησης από μετρήσεις GNSS και την παραγωγή μοντέλων ιονόσφαιρας τοπικού χαρακτήρα. Βασική δομή δικτύων που χρησιμοποιήθηκε για την ανάλυση είναι τα αναδρομικά νευρωνικά δίκτυα (Recurrent Neural Networks -RNN). Τα αναδρομικά νευρωνικά δίκτυα είναι δυναμικά συστήματα που μπορούν να μοντελοποιήσουν και να αναπαραστήσουν χρονικά μεταβαλλόμενα φαινόμενα. Συγκεκριμένα έγινε χρήση της δομής LSTM. Τα δίκτυα LSTM θεωρούνται κατάλληλα για τη μοντελοποίηση δεδομένων χρονοσειρών καθώς είναι δίκτυα με «μνήμη» και οι είσοδοι του παρελθόντος επηρεάζουν τις προβλέψεις του μέλλοντος. Ένα από τα χαρακτηριστικά των δικτύων LSTM, που τα έχει καταστήσει πολύ δημοφιλή στην κοινότητα της μηχανικής μάθησης, είναι ότι έχουν τη δυνατότητα να συνδυάζουν πληροφορίες από προηγούμενα δεδομένα εκμάθησης και να τις χρησιμοποιούν κατά την εκπαίδευση των τωρινών δειγμάτων. Η αναλύση πραγματοποιήθηκε σε ένα σύνολο σταθμών της IGS, και για την αξιολόγηση της προτεινόμενης μεθόδου LSTM για την πρόβλεψη τιμών VTEC της ιονόσφαιρας έγινε σύγκριση με τις παραδοσιακές μεθόδους Autoregressive (AR) και Autoregressive Moving Average (ARMA), ανά δορυφόρο. Το προτεινόμενο μοντέλο επιτυγχάνει μέσο σφάλμα μικρότερο από 1,5 ΤΕCU.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 4 η αρχική αδυναμία κατάλληλης χρήσης των ευρέως γνωστών δικτύων CNN για προβλήματα χρονοσειρών άρθηκε με την εισαγωγή στο πρόβλημα μονοδιάστατων χρονικών δικτύων CNN και με την εισαγωγή των ιδιοτήτων της αιτιότητας (causality) και της διαστολής (dilation). Η προτεινόμενη μέθοδος βασίζεται στα μοντέλα ακολουθιών (sequence-to-sequence ή seq2seq). Σύμφωνα με την προτεινόμενη μέθοδο, το μοντέλο είναι κατάλληλο για την πρόβλεψη της ιονοσφαιρικής υστέρησης σε διαφορετικές θέσεις σταθμών GNSS, χρησιμοποιώντας ένα χρονικό μοντέλο 1D συνελικτικού νευρικού δικτύου (CNN). Το μοντέλο CNN μπορεί να αντιμετωπίσει βέλτιστα τη μη γραμμικότητα και να μοντελοποιήσει πολύπλοκα δεδομένα μέσω της δημιουργίας αναπαραστάσεων σε διάφορα ιεραρχικά επίπεδα. Για την πρόβλεψη των τιμών της παραμέτρου ΤΕC της ιονόσφαιρας για κάθε ορατό δορυφόρο σε έναν δεδομένο σταθμό, εισάγονται μοντέλα ακολουθίας (seq2seq). Αυτά τα μοντέλα χρησιμοποιούνται συνήθως για την επίλυση δυναμικών προβλημάτων. Στα μοντέλα seq2seq, η είσοδος στο μοντέλο αποτελεί μια ακολουθία διαδοχικών τιμών (χρονοσειρά ορισμένου χρονικού παραθύρου) και η έξοδος έχει επίσης τη μορφή ακολουθίας. Η υιοθέτηση αυτής της δομής βοηθά στην πρόβλεψη των τιμών της ιονόσφαιρας για όλους τους δορυφόρους που προβάλλονται σε κάθε εποχή. Ως πειραματικά δεδομένα, έγινε χρήση παρατηρήσεων από το παγκόσμιο δορυφορικό σύστημα πλοήγησης (GNSS) από επιλεγμένους σταθμούς στην κεντρική Ευρώπη, του

παγκόσμιου διεθνούς δικτύου GNSS (IGS). Τα δεδομένα που χρησιμοποιούνται είναι μέρος του έργου πειράματος πολλαπλών GNSS (MGEX), το οποίο παρέχει παρατηρήσεις από πολλαπλά δορυφορικά συστήματα πλοήγησης. Μετά την επεξεργασία με τεχνική ακριβούς εντοπισμού θέσης (PPP) όπως υλοποιήθηκε με λογισμικό GAMP, ελήφθησαν οι τιμές TEC που χρησιμοποιήθηκαν ως σημεία αναφοράς στο μοντέλο (ground truth).

Στο Κεφάλαιο 5 η ανάλυση επικεντρώθηκε και αυτή τη φορά στη χρήση τεχνικών μάθησης με επίβλεψη για την πρόβλεψη της ιονοσφαιρικής υστέρησης από μετρήσεις GNSS και την παραγωγή μοντέλων ιονόσφαιρας τοπικού χαρακτήρα. Στο κεφάλαιο αυτό δόθηκε έμφαση στην αναγκαιότητα πρόβλεψης του χωρο-χρονικού φαινομένου της ιονοσφαιρικής μεταβλητότητας που σχετίζεται με την απαίτηση πολλών γρηστών να εντοπίσουν τη θέση τους με ακρίβεια αλλά με εξοπλισμό χαμηλού κόστους. Ο σκοπός της εργασίας είναι να προτείνει έναν ακριβή υπολογισμό TEC από δεδομένα GNSS, ζεπερνώντας τα προβλήματα που σχετίζονται με την ακανόνιστη συμπεριφορά της ιονόσφαιρας σε τοπικό επίπεδο. Με το προτεινόμενο μοντέλο ΤΕC γίνεται εκτίμηση των ιονοσφαιρικών μεταβολών σε διαφορετικές γεωγραφικές τοποθεσίες (γωρικές), για διαφορετικές γρονικές περιόδους (γρονικές) και υπό διάφορες ηλιακές και γεωμαγνητικές συνθήκες. Στην παρούσα έρευνα, προτείνουμε μια προσέγγιση που βασίζεται στη μηχανική μάθηση για ιονοσφαιρική μοντελοποίηση. Αυτή η μέθοδος εκμεταλλεύεται τα πλεονεκτήματα των αναδρομικών επιπέδων για τη μοντελοποίηση των γρονοσειρών και των συνελικτικών επιπέδων για τη βελτίωση της ακρίβειας του μοντέλου στη χωρική διάσταση. Όσον αφορά στα αναδρομικά επίπεδα, πραγματοποιήθηκε σύγκριση μεταξύ των διαφόρων δομών των RNN μοντέλων, όπως των Long Short-Term Memory Networks (LSTM), των Bidirectional LSTM και των Gated Recurrent Units (GRU). Τα δίκτυα LSTM θεωρούνται κατάλληλα για τη μοντελοποίηση δεδομένων χρονοσειρών καθώς είναι δίκτυα με "μνήμη" και οι είσοδοι του παρελθόντος επηρεάζουν τις προβλέψεις του μέλλοντος. Επιπρόσθετα, η χρήση δικτύων BiLSTM στα οποία η έξοδος του δικτύου εξαρτάται και από μελλοντικές τιμές εξόδου, αυξάνει την ακρίβεια των αποτελεσμάτων. Με βάση την έρευνα και τα πειραματικά αποτελέσματα, η μέθοδος που εφαρμόζεται καλύτερα στα δεδομένα και επιτυγγάνει τα καλύτερα αποτελέσματα είναι η δομή GRU. Το μοντέλο GRU έγει κοινά χαρακτηριστικά με αυτά της δομής LSTM, με τη διαφορά ότι η δομή GRU είναι πιο εξελιγμένη και όχι τόσο πολύπλοκη όσο η LSTM. Αυτό έχει σαν αποτέλεσμα, το μοντέλο GRU να συγκλίνει γρηγορότερα, ενώ έπειτα από πειραματική διαδικασία αποδείχθηκε ότι επιτυγχάνει και τα καλύτερα αποτελέσματα. Η προτεινόμενη υβριδική μέθοδος CNN-GRU λαμβάνει υπόψη ηλιακές και γεωμαγνητικές παραμέτρους, ώστε να βελτιωθούν οι προβλέψεις ΤΕC. Η ανάλυση πραγματοποιήθηκε σε ένα διάστημα τεσσάρων χρόνων (2014-2018), για σταθμούς της IGS σε διάφορα μήκη και πλάτη της Γης, ενώ πραγματοποιήθηκε αξιολόγηση του μοντέλου σε διαφορετικές επογικές συνθήκες και συνθήκες όπου παρουσιάζονται ακραία ηλιακά και γεωμαγνητικά φαινόμενα. Η αξιολόγηση της προτεινόμενης επαναλαμβανόμενης μεθόδου για την πρόβλεψη των κατακόρυφων τιμών TEC (VTEC) συγκρίνεται με τις παραδοσιακές μεθόδους αυτοπαλινδρόμησης.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 6 παρατίθεται το θεωρητικό πλαίσιο στη βάση του οποίου γίνεται μελέτη και ανάλυση του προβλήματος του ενεργειακού επιμερισμού. Ο ενεργειακός επιμερισμός, ή η μη παρεμβατική παρακολούθηση φορτίου (NILM), περιγράφει τη διαδικασία που στοχεύει στον προσδιορισμό του ποσοστού ενέργειας που καταναλώνει μια συσκευή ατομικά, στην συνολική ενέργεια που καταναλώνεται. Η ευαισθητοποίηση των ατόμων σχετικά με την προστασία και την αειφορία του περιβάλλοντος, είναι απαραίτητη προϋπόθεση για τον καθορισμό πολιτικών φιλικών προς το περιβάλλον, ή την εφαρμογή λύσεων για την κλιματική αλλαγή σε παγκόσμια κλίμακα. Υπάρχουν διάφοροι τρόποι με τους οποίους τα νοικοκυριά θα μπορούσαν να συμβάλουν στη βιώσιμη ζωή. Ένα από αυτά είναι η μείωση της κατανάλωσης ενέργειας. Για το σκοπό αυτό, απαιτείται αλλαγή της ενεργειακής συμπεριφοράς στο νοικοκυριό. Πρώτον, οι καταναλωτές πρέπει να γνωρίζουν την κατανάλωση ενέργειας. Ωστόσο, οι τελικοί καταναλωτές συγνά δεν διαθέτουν γνώσεις σχετικά με την πιθανή εξοικονόμηση ενέργειας, τα υφιστάμενα μέτρα πολιτικής και τις σχετικές τεχνολογίες. Οι περισσότεροι οικιακοί καταναλωτές γνωρίζουν συνήθως τις γενικές πληροφορίες που σχετίζονται με την κατανάλωσή τους μέσω μηνιαίων λογαριασμών ηλεκτρικής ενέργειας. Ωστόσο, οι πληροφορίες σχετικά με την κατανάλωση ενέργειας δεν μεταφράζονται σε καλές πρακτικές και προσαρμοσμένες συμβουλές για εξοικονόμηση ενέργειας. Στα επόμενα κεφάλαια προτείνονται μοντέλα και αλγόριθμοι για την επίλυση του προβλήματος του ενεργειακού επιμερισμού, με καθέναν από αυτούς να εντοπίζει και μια διαφορετική πλευρά του προβλήματος.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 7 παρουσιάζεται η προτεινόμενη μέθοδος για την επίλυση του προβλήματος του ενεργειακού εντοπισμού, θεωρώντας το πρόβλημα ως ένα πρόβλημα χρονοσειρών στο οποίο ο αλγόριθμος καλείται να συσχετίσει και να αντιστοιχίσει μια-προς-μια τις τιμές μεταξύ μιας χρονοσειράς «καθαρού» σήματος της κατανάλωσης μιας συσκευής με το θορυβώδες σήμα της συνολικής κατανάλωσης. Το προτεινόμενο μοντέλο έχει ως βάση του τα δίκτυα LSTM διπλής κατεύθυνσης (bidirectional LSTM), εισάγοντας την ιδιότητα της μη-αιτιότητας (non-causality) και επιτυγχάνοντας έτσι μεγαλύτερη ακρίβεια στο μοντέλο. Στο μοντέλο εισάγονται δύο καινοτομίες που το καθιστούν καλύτερο σε σχέση με τα ήδη υπάρχοντα μοντέλα στη διεθνή βιβλιογραφία. Πρώτον, το γεγονός ότι οι υπερπαράμετροι του προτεινόμενου μοντέλου μηχανικής μάθησης έχουν επιλεχθεί ώστε η αρχιτεκτονική που δημιουργείται να παρουσιάζει το μικρότερο δυνατόν σφάλμα (βελτιστοποίηση του δικτύου). Οι περισσότεροι αλγόριθμοι μηχανικής μάθησης, έχουν πολλές ρυθμίσεις που πρέπει να συντονίσουν με στόχο τον έλεγχο της συμπεριφοράς του αλγορίθμου μάθησης. Αυτές οι ρυθμίσεις ονομάζονται υπερπαραμέτροι. Οι τιμές των υπερπαραμέτρων δεν προσαρμόζονται από τον ίδιο τον αλγόριθμο μάθησης (αν και μπορεί να σχεδιαστεί ένα μετα-μοντέλο όπου θα μαθαίνει τις καλύτερες υπερπαραμέτρους για έναν άλλο μοντέλο). Στο πλαίσιο της διατριβής εφαρμόστηκε ο αλγόριθμος Μπεϋζιανής βελτιστοποίησης (Bayesian optimization) για να ενθυλακωθεί ένας αλγόριθμος που περιλαμβάνει υπερπαραμέτρους και να αποδώσει έναν αλγόριθμο μάθησης με τις βέλτιστες υπερπαραμέτρους. Η Μπεϋζιανή Βελτιστοποίηση (Bayesian Optimization) είναι μια καθιερωμένη στρατηγική για την ολική βελτιστοποίηση των θορυβωδών, δαπανηρών black-box συναρτήσεων,

δηλαδή συναρτήσεων των οποίων οι εσωτερικές εκφράσεις και μηχανισμοί δεν είναι γνωστοί. <u>Δεύτερον</u>, προτείνεται ένα αρθρωτό και αυτο-εκπαιδευόμενο μοντέλο με τη δυνατότητα να προσαρμόζει τη συμπεριφορά του κάθε φορά που εντοπίζεται μια σημαντική αλλαγή των συνθηκών (*adaptability*). Σύμφωνα με τον αλγόριθμο που προτείνεται, υπολογίζεται η απόδοση του μοντέλου σε διάφορες περιβαλλοντικές και καιρικές συνθήκες και καταστάσεις που επηρεάζουν τη λειτουργία συγκεκριμένων συσκευών, ελέγχοντας την ακρίβεια που επιτυγχάνει το μοντέλο στις διαφορετικές αυτές συνθήκες. Όταν ο αλγόριθμος εντοπίζει στατιστικά σημαντική διαφορά στην εκτίμηση του μοντέλου σε σχέση με την πραγματική τιμή, ενεργοποιείται η διαδικασία επανεκπαίδευσης του μοντέλου, μέσω κατάλληλης τροποποίησης των βαρών του δικτύου. Κατά συνέπεια, το προτεινόμενο μοντέλο διαθέτει προσαρμοστική ικανότητα.

Στο Κεφάλαιο 8 παρουσιάζεται ένα μοντέλο ενεργειακού επιμερισμού βασισμένο στη βαθιά μάθηση. Το προτεινόμενο αποτελεί ένα μη-γραμμικό μοντέλο παλινδρόμησης πολλαπλών εισόδων/εξόδων βαθιάς μάθησης που βασίζεται στα συνελικτικά δίκτυα CNN και αξιοποιεί τητις ιδιότητες της μη-γραμμικής παλινδρόμησης για να μοντελοποιήσει αποτελεσματικά τις χρονικές αλληλεξαρτήσεις των σημάτων ισχύος μιας συσκευής σε σχέση με το συνολικό σήμα. Επιπλέον, η ενσωμάτωση πολλαπλών καναλιών, το καθένα για διαφορετικό σήμα (ενεργή, άεργη, φαινόμενη ισχύς και ρεύμα), ενισχύει την πληροφορία οδηγώντας σε ένα πιο ακριβές μοντέλο. Συγκεκριμένα, το μοντέλο διαρθρώνεται σε τρία βασικά επίπεδα: Επίπεδο 1: το μονοδιάστατο δίκτυο CNN μοντελοποιείται στη μορφή πολλά προς πολλά κατά την οποία ως είσοδος στο μοντέλο λαμβάνεται η τρέχουσα τιμή κατανάλωσης στη χρονοσειρά καθώς και οι προηγούμενες τιμές κατανάλωσης που εκτείνονται εντός ενός χρονικού παραθύρου (tapped delay line), δημιουργώντας έτσι ένα Tapped delay line CNN δίκτυο. Επίπεδο 2: το δίκτυο αυτό εμπλουτίζεται με επαναληπτικό χαρακτήρα καθώς λαμβάνει ως είσοδο εκτός του παραθύρου του συνολικού σήματος, μια πρώτη εκτίμηση της κατανάλωσης του σήματος της συσκευής (βάση της πρώτης επανάληψης). Επίπεδο 3: τελευταία φάση αποτελεί η ενσωμάτωση πολλαπλών καναλιών, το καθένα για διαφορετικό σήμα (ενεργή, άεργη, φαινόμενη ισχύς και ρεύμα), ενισχύοντας επιπρόσθετα το μοντέλο. Τα πειραματικά αποτελέσματα υποδηλώνουν υψηλότερη απόδοση και ταχύτερους χρόνους σύγκλισης σε σύγκριση με τις πιο σύγχρονες προσεγγίσεις.

Στο **Κεφάλαιο 9** προτείνεται ένα μοντέλο για ενεργειακό επιμερισμό που βασίζεται στα ανάστροφα παραγωγικά ανταγωνιστικά δικτυα. Το προτεινόμενο μοντέλο έχει ως βασικό πλεονέκτημα το ότι είναι ανθεκτικό στο θόρυβο και προσφέρει υψηλή ακρίβεια ακόμη και σε περιπτώσεις όπου τα επίπεδα θορύβου στο συνολικό σήμα είναι υψηλά. Το μοντέλο προτείνεται σε δύο εκδόσεις, την αρχική και τη βελτιωμένη έκδοση. Η <u>αρχική έκδοση</u> του μοντέλου, που ονομάζεται μοντέλο ΕnerGAN, προτείνει ένα παραγωγικό (generative) μοντέλο που έχει εκπαιδευτεί σύμφωνα με τη λογική της ανταγωνιστικής μάθησης (adversarial learning). Ένα γενετικό μοντέλο παρουσιάζει τα ακόλουθα κύρια πλεονεκτήματα σε σύγκριση με μεθόδους αντιμετώπισης του ΝΙLM ως πρόβλημα ταξινόμησης ή παλινδρόμησης: δεδομένου ότι δημιουργεί ολόκληρη τη κυματομορφή σήματος, είναι ικανό να κάνει πιο

μακροπρόθεσμες εκτιμήσεις, αντί να προβλέπει μόνο την ενιαία τρέχουσα τιμή του ατόμου σήμα ισχύος. Επιπλέον, δεδομένου ότι το σήμα εισόδου των δικτύων GAN είναι εξ ορισμού θόρυβος, τα μοντέλα αυτά είναι εγγενώς πιο ισχυρά σε θορυβώδη σήματα εισόδου και λιγότερο ευαίσθητα σε ασυνέπειες ή κενά στο συνολικό σήμα εισόδου. Η βελτιωμένη έκδοση του μοντέλου που αναφέρεται ως EnerGAN++, αποτελεί μια προέκταση του αρχικού δικτύου EnerGAN, που περιέχει ένα προηγμένο μοντέλο διαχωριστή (discriminator). Ο διαχωριστής αποτελείται από ενα συνδυασμό μεταξύ συνελικτικών δικτύων και δικτύων με την τεχνική GRU. Στην προτεινόμενη αρχιτεκτονική, γίνεται χρήση των πλεονεκτημάτων της γρήγορης εκπαίδευσης των συνελικτικών νευρωνικών δικτύων CNN με την ανάγκη να εφαρμοστούν τα μοντέλα αυτά σε προβλήματα χρονοσειρών, σε αντιπαλική εκπαίδευση. Εδώ, τονίζεται ότι αν και έχουν προταθεί εναλλακτικοί τρόποι εφαρμογής των δικτύων CNN για δεδομένα γρονοσειρών, σε εφαρμογές όπως ο ενεργειακός επιμερισμός, ωστόσο, καμία από τις παραπάνω αναφερόμενες μεθόδους που συνδυάζουν ιδιότητες των συνελικτικών επιπέδων με δυναμικά δίκτυα χρονικού χαρακτήρα δεν έχει χρησιμοποιηθεί στην αντιπαλική μάθηση για ενεργειακό επιμερισμό. Καταλήγοντας, το μοντέλο EnerGAN++ έχει καλή απόδοση, ειδικά σε περίπτωση που (α) θορυβώδη σήματα της αθροιστικής κατανάλωσης χρησιμοποιούνται ως ενεργοποιητές εισόδου και (β) παρουσιάζονται απότομες αλλαγές στα σήματα ενέργειας της συσκευής.

Στο **Κεφάλαιο 10** παρουσιάζονται η σύνοψη και η συμβολή της διδακτορικής διατριβής καθώς και τα συμπεράσματα που προέκυψαν, πλαισιωμένα από ιδέες για μελλοντική έρευνα στο πεδίο.

Table of contents

Li	List of figures x		xiii	
\mathbf{Li}	List of tables			xix
1	Intr	oduct	ion	1
	1.1	Backg	round	1
		1.1.1	Fundamentals on time series modelling and prediction	2
		1.1.2	The blind source separation problem formulation	5
	1.2	Resea	rch Objectives	5
		1.2.1	The challenge of TEC modeling using GNSS data	6
		1.2.2	The energy disaggregation challenge	7
	1.3	Contr	ibution and Originality	8
		1.3.1	Contribution in Signal Processing and Time series analysis	8
		1.3.2	Contributing to GNSS positioning and TEC modeling $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	9
		1.3.3	Contributing to the domain of Environmental Awareness and Energy disag-	
			gregation	9
	1.4	Struct	cure of the Dissertation	10
2	Ione	ospher	ic TEC Modeling Based on GNSS Observations	13
	2.1	Revie	w and analysis of the literature \ldots	14
	2.2	Non-li	inear Ionosphere TEC modeling problem formulation	16
	2.3	The re	ole of GNSS observations in TEC modeling using Deep Learning	17
3	App	olying	an LSTM architecture for TEC modeling	19
	3.1	LSTM	I Regression Model for Ionospheric Correction	20
		3.1.1	Unidirectional Recurrent Neural Network for VTEC estimation	20
		3.1.2	Unidirectional Long-Term Recurrent Neural Network for VTEC estimation	22
		3.1.3	The Proposed LSTM Regression Model for TEC Prediction	23
	3.2	PPP 1	Processing Strategy	24
	3.3	Result	ts and Discussion	24
		3.3.1	Performance Comparison among Different Methods	24
		3.3.2	Comparison among Different Stations and Time Periods	27
		3.3.3	Comparison between Different Satellites	27

	3 /	3.3.4 Comparison among Different Ionosphere Models	29 30
	5.4		30
4	The	e adoption of a CNN architecture for TEC modeling and the adaptations	
	nee	ded for CNNs to solve a time series problem	33
	4.1	GNSS AND IONOSPHERIC VARIABILITY	34
	4.2	THE PROPOSED CNN FOR TEC MODELLING	34
		4.2.1 Seq2seq temporal 1D CNN regression model for TEC prediction	34
		4.2.2 The CNN network configuration for TEC modelling	36
	4.3	EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	36
		4.3.1 Dataset \ldots	36
		4.3.2 Performance Evaluation	37
	4.4	CONCLUSION	40
5	$Th\epsilon$	e implementation of a hybrid Deep learning scheme (CNN+GRU) for TEC	
	moo	leling	41
	5.1	Sequence-to-Sequence Spatio-temporal AI for TEC modeling	42
		5.1.1 Spatial Variability Modeling: The Convolutional Neural Network Layer	42
		5.1.2 Temporal Variability Modeling: The Gated Recurrent Unit Layer	44
	5.2	The Proposed CNN-GRU Architecture for VTEC Modeling	47
		5.2.1 Implementation Details	47
		5.2.2 Evaluation Metrics	48
	5.3	Experimental Evaluation	50
		5.3.1 Data Pre-processing and Experiment Setup	50
		5.3.2 Performance Evaluation and Comparison	51
		5.3.3 Performance Evaluation for Stations at Different Latitudes and Days of	
		Different Ionosphere Activity	53
		5.3.4 Performance Evaluation for Different Months	56
		5.3.5 Performance Evaluation between Different Ionosphere Models	56
	5.4	Conclusion	58
6	The	e NILM Problem	59
Ū	61	Introduction	59
	6.2	A Brief NILM Literature Review	60
	0.2	6.2.1 The early NILM erg [1995–2014]	60
		$6.2.2$ Deep learning based NILM [2015_2010]	61
		6.2.2 Advancements in NII M [2019]	60
	63	Conducion	62
	0.5		05
7	The	e proposed CoBiLSTM model for NILM	65 67
	7.1		65
	7.2	Bidirectional LSTM Regression for Non-causal Energy Disaggregation	67
		7.2.1 Bidirectional Short-Term Recurrent Regression	67

		7.2.2	Bidirectional Long-Term Recurrent Regression	68
		7.2.3	A Detailed Description of the Proposed LSTM Network Configuration	70
	7.3	Conte	xt-Aware Adaptive Energy Disaggregation	71
		7.3.1	Context-Aware Energy Disaggregation Framework	72
		7.3.2	The Algorithm for Model Updating	73
		7.3.3	Context-Aware Adaptive Bayesian Optimization	74
	7.4	Exper	imental Evaluation	76
		7.4.1	Dataset description and experimental setup	76
		7.4.2	Case Study 1: The effect of bidirectionality	77
		7.4.3	Case Study 2: The effect of Bayesian optimization	81
		7.4.4	Case Study 3: The effect of seasonality	81
		7.4.5	Case Study 4: The effect of geographical location	83
		7.4.6	Case Study 5: The effect of appliance's operation mode $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	84
	7.5	Conclu	usions	84
8	The	Prop	osed MR-TDLCNN model for NILM	87
	8.1	The P	roposed MR-TDLCNN model for NILM	87
		8.1.1	TDLCNN Model: Designing a baseline CNN for NILM	88
		8.1.2	R-TDLCNN Model: Introducing a Recurrent character to CNN for NILM .	90
		8.1.3	M-TDLCNN Model: Introducing a multi-channel CNN architecture for NILM	91
		8.1.4	MR-TDLCNN Model: Leveraging M-TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN models into	
			a novel NILM model	91
	8.2	EXPE	RIMENTAL EVALUATION	92
		8.2.1	Dataset description and experimental setup	93
		8.2.2	Performance Evaluation and Comparisons	93
9	The	prop	osed EnerGAN++ model for NILM	97
	9.1	Motiv	ation and Contribution	97
	9.2	The N	IILM Problem Formulation	98
		9.2.1	Adversarial learning in Energy Disaggregation - The EnerGAN++ approach	100
	9.3	The E	CherGAN++ Generator	102
	9.4	The E	nerGAN++ Disciminator	103
		9.4.1	CNN Enriched - Gated Recurrent Networks for EnerGAN++ Discriminator	105
		9.4.2	Operation of the EnerGAN+ discriminator	106
	9.5	The P	Proposed EnerGAN++ Model Configuration	107
		9.5.1	The adversarial learning between the generator and the discriminator \ldots	107
		9.5.2	The proposed EnerGAN++ network configuration	108
	9.6	Exper	iments	112
		9.6.1	Description of the Dataset	112
		9.6.2	Quantitative Evaluation Metrics	112
		9.6.3	Experimental Results	113
		9.6.4	Robustness to noise	114

	9.7	Conclusion	116
10	Con	clusions	117
	10.1	Summary and Contribution of the Dissertation	117
		10.1.1 Contribution in the field of ionospheric TEC modeling	117
		10.1.2 Contribution in the field of energy disaggregation	118
	10.2	Future Prospects	119
		10.2.1 Ionospheric TEC modeling	119
		10.2.2 Energy disaggregation	120
Re	eferei	nces	121

List of figures

2.1	VTEC variations per individual PRN, at a specific time epoch. IPP points are the intersections of GNSS signal in the ionosphere assuming the theory of single layer model (SLM). Based on the assumption that adjacent points share the same ionosphere conditions, our model investigates GNSS method's efficiency in providing TEC estimations	15
3.1	The memory cell of an LSTM network. It contains three different components; (i) the forget gate $f(t)$, (ii) the input gate $i(t)$ and the input node $g(t)$ and (iii) the output node $o(t)$ (right). Unidirectional LSTM regression model used for TEC estimation (left)	91
3.2	This proposed LSTM architecture for TEC sequence $(vtec^s(1)vtec^s(t))$ prediction. The deep learning structure consists of two stacked LSTM layers. The proposed LSTM is a sequence to sequence regression model. The output is TEC sequences from GNSS observations at a given station which are of varying length (e.g., t, t') and the input has as features the satellite position vector $[x_{SatX} x_{SatY} x_{SatY}]$, the azimuth (x_{Az}) and the elevation angles x_{El} of the satellite direction from the receiver site. For example satellite G32 with a trajectory as illustrated in the figure with red line, is visible from station bor1 for about 5 h, thus the input sequence for G32 satellite has length 600 values, for the measurements sampling rate at 30 s	21
3.3	MAE error per station for 10 different days.	26
3.4	VTEC (TECU) predictions on 14 December 2019 for six stations (bor1, ganp, graz, leij, pots, wtzz) per satellite ID (G1,, G32 for GPS satellite), and mean VTEC	_ 0
3.5	value (with red line)	28
	(G1,, G32 for GPS constellation).	28
3.6	Vertical TEC of each GPS satellite between the GPS ground truth values and our	20
3.7	LSTM method's results on December 14, 2018, for 'borl' station	29
	and IRI01-cor).	30

3.8	Mean difference between the estimated GPS VTEC values and the VTEC (TECU) LSTM predictions (LSTM), GIM VTEC model values, NeQuick VTEC model values,	
	IRI2001 VTEC model values and IRI01-cor VTEC model values	31
4.1	Temporal CNN network architecture	35
4.2	Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN for bor1 station	38
4.3	Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN	39
4.4	Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN	39
5.1	Stacked RNN-based structures for TEC prediction	42
5.2	The proposed model CNN-GRU architecture, consisting of two parts; the Con- volutional Neural Network (CNN) for spatial variability modeling and the Gated	
	Recurrent Unit (GRU) for temporal variability modeling.	43
5.3	Q-Q plots for the 'iqal' station, between the ground truth and the other deep learning	
5.4	techniques used for comparison.	45
0.4	and validation set for ramo station	48
5.5	Vertical TEC for individual PRNs (unique pseudo-random noise that each GPS	
	satellite transmits) between the GPS ground truth values and GRU, BILSTM, LSTM	
	and RNN methods in various hours two different days: a day of low ionospheric	
	activity $(3/9)$ and a day of high ionospheric activity $(11/9)$. The figure illustrates	
	VTEC values estimated per satellite from a low-latitude station('mal2') and a	
	mid-latitude station ('graz') and a high-latitude station ('tixi').	51
5.6	[Up-left]: the diagram shows the daily variations of the solar F10.7 index and the	
	Dst-index. [Up-right]: the map shows the location of each station. [Bottom]: the	
	diagrams illustrate the Vertical TEC values per station on September 2018	54
5.7	Vertical TEC sequences per satellite (colorful lines) of each ground station for GRU	
	method for four days on September of 2018, and the mean VTEC timeseries per	
	station (red line). On top of each diagram mean red line per station is compared to	
	mean ground truth data per station, as illustrated with black line. \ldots \ldots \ldots	54
5.8	Monthly box plots for the testing period during the second half of 2018, per station.	55
5.9	Comparison between VTEC (TECU) RNN-based methods and the estimated GPS	
	ionospheric VTEC values (ground truth) as well as the VTEC models (GIM, NeQuick,	
	IRI2001 and IRI01-cor), for days between 9 and 12 of September	55
5.10	Correlation matrices per station between VTEC (TECU) RNN-based predictions	
	(GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN) and the estimated GPS ionospheric VTEC values	
	(Ground Truth) as well as the VTEC models (GIM and IRI2016), for the time $% \left(\left({{\left({{\rm{G}}{\rm{F}}{\rm{M}}}} \right)_{\rm{T}}} \right)_{\rm{T}} \right)_{\rm{T}} \right)_{\rm{T}}$	
	interval between 9 and 12 September. In most of the stations, except for 'tixi' station	
	in aurora region, the correlation coefficient r ranges between the interval $[0.75, 1)$.	57

7.1	The short-range recurrent regression model. (a) The bidirectional short-range	
	recurrent regression model. (b) Unfolded representation in time where the forward	
	and backward passes are depicted.	66
7.2	The memory cell of an LSTM network. It contains three different components; (i)	
	the forget gate $F(n)$, (ii) the input gate $I(n)$ and input node $H(n)$ and (iii) the	
	output node $O(n)$.	67
7.3	Bidirectional LSTM regression model used for NILM estimation	68
7.4	The proposed CoBiLSTM deep learning structure.	69
7.5	A graphical illustration of Bayesian optimization.	70
7.6	Performance metrics (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) per dataset (AMPds, REFIT, REDD).	
	The vertical axis in the table shows the three selected appliances per dataset. The	
	horizontal axis indicates MAE, RMSE and NRMS metrics per method. The three	
	diagrams illustrate the performance (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) per method for three	
	selected appliances: WOE/AMPds (orange), WM/REFIT (purple) and M/REDD $$	
	(light purple), that proved to have the best performance	71
7.7	Metrics (min, max, average and standard deviation) of the difference between the	
	real and the estimated values of appliance active power. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	72
7.8	Comparison between CoBiLSTM, CNN and LSTM methods	72
7.9	Comparison of the proposed method (blue solid line) with ground truth (in gray) for	
	selected appliances in AMPds, REFIT and REDD dataset. The actual total energy $% \left({{{\rm{A}}} \right)_{\rm{A}}} \right)$	
	consumption and total error (between estimation and ground truth) for given time	
	periods in every appliance are also depicted	74
7.10	Performance comparison of CoBiLSTM method with benchmarks LSTM, CNN, CO,	
	FHMM for AMPds and REFIT (House 9) dataset.	74
7.11	Performance comparison of CoBiLSTM method with UGSP, SGSP and DT for	
	REDD House 2	75
7.12	Bayesian optimization results for CDE, HPE and WOE appliances of AMPds dataset.	
	The y-axis shows the RMSE performance error for every different configuration set	
	ID $(1, 2, 3)$, as indicated in x-axis. \ldots	75
7.13	Top: Performance error distribution for May with Bayes-BiLSTM [3] model (left)	
	and CoBiLSTM model (right) for washer dryer. Bottom: the divergence K-L between	
	distributions of May and the given distribution for the validation set	78
7.14	Comparison between the Bayes-BiLSTM approach [1] and CoBiLSTM models for	
	washer dryer appliance.	78
7.15	Performance error per appliance and per method (Bayes-BiLSTM, Co-BiLSTM,	
	CNN, CoCNN).	79
7.16	Performance error for dishwasher appliance per method (Bayes-BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM,	<i>.</i> .
	CNN, CoCNN)	80
7.17	Performance error for dishwasher and washer dryer appliances per method (Bayes-	
	BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM, CNN, CoCNN).	81

7.18	Top: Differences in signature patterns for three different models of the dishwasher appliance, in three different houses. Bottom: Heat map showing the performance error for three different Bayes-BiLSTM models trained separately for each house and the integrated proposed CoBiLSTM model (last line of the colored table)	82
7.19	Performance error for dishwasher appliance for the four deep learning methods (Bayes-BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM, CNN and CoCNN)	82
8.1 8.2	The proposed non-linear pipelined recurrent CNN structure	87
8.3	output values. Schematic illustration of the proposed hybrid model in conjunction to a simple	88
.	feedforward and a recurrent neuron.	89
$8.4 \\ 8.5$	The power triangle	91
	for selected appliances in AMPds dataset.	92
8.6	Comparison of loss curves between the basic TDLCNN (orange line) and R-TDLCNN	0.9
8.7	(green line) models	93
8.8	(green line) models	93
	TDLCNN (green line) models	94
8.9	The proposed model architecture. The model leverages the strength of rapid progress in CNNs, among with the need to apply the convolutional models for temporal	
	sequences of data. Thus, a sequential input is entered into the model, a CNN layer	
	is used for the optimal feature extraction and then, the stacked recurrent layers follow.	94
9.1	Comparison between a typical GAN approach and the EnerGAN+ structure approach. Three main specifications are introduced there: (i) the use of the aggregated signal as input noise, (ii) the encoding layer used to map the aggregated signal into a desired latent feature, and (iii) the advanced CNN-GRU discriminator dedicated to achieve the optimal sequence classification, that ensure the EnerGAN++ ability to achieve	
9.2	energy disaggregation, even if the data input samples are noisy	99
0.2	power signal.	100 104
9.0	The computation of a modell state in a GRU Cell.	104

9.4	The discriminator is a long-term convolutional recurrent network for sequence	
	classification. The proposed architecture of the discriminator leverages the strength	
	of rapid progress in CNNs, among with the need to apply the convolutional models for	
	temporal sequences of data. Thus, a sequential input is entered into the discriminator,	
	a CNN layer is used for the optimal feature extraction and then, the stacked recurrent	
	layers follow. The scope of the discriminator is to decide whether the given sequence	
	is the generated or the real one	104
9.5	Comparison of the proposed method (purple line) with ground truth (in orange) for	
	selected appliances in AMPds and REFIT dataset. Furthermore, the aggregated	
	data are also illustrated.	109
9.6	Generated power appliance samples for dishwasher appliance (REFIT). The diagrams	
	show the GAN's model robustness to noise, for all the cases (adding Gaussian noise	
	in 5%, 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%). $\dots \dots \dots$	109
9.7	Generated power values for toaster appliance, The diagrams indicate that the	
	proposed model is robust to noise, whereas the baselines are weak for the cases with	
	noise.	110
9.8	Quantitative results on AMPds and REFIT datasets. The small MAE error values	
	provide better performance.	110
9.9	Comparison between EnerGAN++ model results provided after applying Gaussian	
	noise to the aggregate signal and the respective results of the disaggregation using	
	the sequence to sub-sequence conditional GAN model of [2]. The small MAE error	
	values provide better performance.	111
9.10	Comparison between EnerGAN++ model results provided after applying Gaussian	
	noise to the aggregate signal and the respective results of the disaggregation using	
	the WaveNILM model of [3]. The small MAE error values provide better performance	.111

List of tables

3.1	Approximate location of six selected stations of IGS network and the country of their origin	94
3.2	Static PPP experimental setup.	25
3.3	Performance metrics (mean, minimum (Min), maximum (Max) and root mean squared error (rmse)) for VTEC (TECU) prediction for six selected stations (bor1, ganp, graz, leij, pots and wtzz) among the proposed solution (LSTM) and two other commonly used methods (ARMA, AR).	26
3.4	Computational time (in s) per method (LSTM, ARMA and AR) for three selected stations (bor1, graz and wtzz).	26
4.1	The stations' information (names, location (longitude and latitude) and country) for six selected sites of the IGS network.	35
4.2	A comparative table that summarizes the performance achieved by the CONV1D network in predicting the VTEC (TECU) values over the site stations (bor1, ganp,	
	graz, leij, pots and wtzz).	35
$5.1 \\ 5.2$	Static PPP experimental setup	43 43
5.3	Performance metrics (mae, mse, min and max) for VTEC modeling for six selected stations (graz, iqal, mal2, qaq1, ramo, tixi) among the RNN -based methods as well as two other commonly used methods (ARMA, AR) for 9 October 2018. mae and mse metrics are the average values of the individual PRNs metrics in every station, whereas min and max are the minimum and maximum mae values observed for the	
5.4	individual PRNs. The best values are presented in bold	45
	networks with the proposed one.	49
5.5	Performance metric mae values for the training and validation sets and for the six stations among the RNN -based methods (GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN)	49
5.6	Comparison among different RNN -based methods architecture (GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN) characteristics and parameters (trainable parameters and processing	
	time)	52
8.1	List of the notations	88

8.2	Performance metrics (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) for AMPds dataset	90
9.1	Performance metrics(MAE, SAE, RMSE) for nine appliance of the AMPds and	
	REFIT datasets. In bolds, we have highlighted the method that succeeds the best	
	performance per appliance.	107
9.2	Rate of change in MAE error with an increase on Gaussian noise. The comparison is	
	between the proposed EnerGAN++ method and the BabiLSTM as well as sequence	
	to sequence CNN methods.	113

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

A time series (TS) is a sequence taken at successive equally spaced points in time. Time series modeling (TSM) plays a key role in a wide range of real-life problems that have a temporal component [4–6]. Time series analysis (TSA) investigates the mechanism that produces the time series and evaluates its characteristics. The prediction of future time series values is an important research topic in modern time series modelling and analysis and is essential in many emerging research fields such as the weather [7], energy consumption [8], financial indices [9], medical monitoring [10], anomaly detection [11], traffic prediction [12], climate change [13], etc. In these problems, time series modelling often pose significant challenges for the existing techniques both in terms of their structure (i.e. irregular sampling or spatiotemporal structure in climate data) and size [14]. Given that, traditional methods have focused on parametric models informed by domain expertise – such as linear predictive modeling techniques, i.e., autoregressive (AR) models [15], exponential smoothing, or structural time series models [16] – modern machine learning (ML) methods [17] provide a means to learn temporal dynamics in a purely data-driven manner [18]. In recent times, with the increasing data availability and computing power, machine learning has become a vital part of the next generation of time series models [19]. Thus, there is both a great need and an exciting opportunity for the machine learning community to develop theory, models and algorithms specifically for the purpose of processing and analyzing time series data.

Time series data from complex systems capture dynamic behavior and causalities [4]. There are various techniques from time series prediction and monitoring [20]. The nonlinear and non-stationary dynamics of the various applications pose a major challenge for accurate prediction and modeling [4]. Time series emerging from such complex systems exhibit aperiodic patterns even under steady state circumstances. Also, since real-world systems often evolve under transient conditions, the signals obtained therefore tend to exhibit various forms of non-stationarity. This thesis presents the advancements in nonlinear and non-stationary time series models under a machine learning based framework and a comparison of their performances in certain real-world environmental applications and applications in geoinformatics and energy.

Time series have many characteristics that distinguish them from other types of data. Firstly, the time-series data contain high dimensionality and much noise. Dimensionality reduction, wavelet analysis or filtering are Signal processing techniques [21] that can be applied to eliminate some of the noise and reduce the dimensionality [22]. The next characteristic of time-series data, it is not certain that the available information is enough to understand the process. Finally, Time series data is high-dimensional, complex, and has unique characteristics that make time-series challenging to model and analyze. Recent advancements in sensor technologies and the consequent availability of abundant data sources in the form of time series can transform the way that real-world complex systems are monitored and controlled. These advancements lead to complex time series problems.

As already described, handling time series problems is a demanding process, as:

- time series is often noisy with high non-stationarity;
- time series is explicit dependent on the time variable and in addition, are related to multiple external measurable parameters;
- in case of a limited amount of data, it is challenging to provide enough and multi-perspective information to understand the mechanism behind it;
- extrapolation of time series (prediction) is also a challenging procedure;
- blind source separation for time series is a demanding process. Decomposing time series totals to estimate its disaggregates;

Bellow, we summarize the theoretical background for time series modelling and prediction, as well as the fundamentals to identify and extract the factors from which observed time series data was generated in various application domains.

1.1.1 Fundamentals on time series modelling and prediction

Given a time series $\{y_1, y_2, ..., y_t\}$, time series prediction is the task of predicting one $\{y_t\}$ or several $\{y_t, y_{t+1}, ..., y_{t+n}\}$ future observations in a time series, given a certain number of past observations $\{y_1, ..., y_{t-1}\}$. An autoregressive model is a common linear regression approach [23], [24] for time series modeling and prediction. In an autoregression model, the prediction of the variable of interest is by using a linear combination of past values of the variable. The term autoregression indicates that it is a regression of the variable against itself. Thus, an autoregressive model of order p is written as:

$$y_t = \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{p}} f(y_{t-p}) + e_t \tag{1.1}$$

where f is a linear function and e_t is white noise. We refer to this model as an $AR(\mathbf{p})$ model, an autoregressive model of order $\mathbf{p}, \forall \mathbf{p} \in 1, ..., p$.

The limitation of an AR filter is that no external measurable parameters are allowed to be utilized by the model. Thus, Autoregressive Moving Average (ARMA) filters have been also investigated for time series modelling and prediction [25], [26, 27]. The main difference between an AR and ARMA process is that the first (i.e., AR) models a timeseries in terms of its own lags (previous observable measurements), while an ARMA filter includes two parts; an autoregressive (AR) where previous observations affect the output and the moving average (MA) part involves modeling the error term e_t as a linear combination of error terms occurring contemporaneously and at various times in the past. In ARMA models, the notation $ARMA(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ refers to the model with p autoregressive terms and q moving-average terms. This model contains the $AR(\mathbf{p})$ and $MA(\mathbf{q})$ models,

$$y_t = \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{p}} f(y_{t-p}) + \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{q}} g(z_{t-q}) + e_t$$
(1.2)

where $\{e_1, ..., e_t\}$ is the white noise error terms.

In cases where external observations trigger the output, the ARMAX model is introduced. The notation $ARMAX(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q},\mathbf{r})$ refers to the model with \mathbf{p} autoregressive terms, \mathbf{q} moving average terms and r exogenous inputs terms. This model contains the AR(p) and MA(q) models and a linear combination of the last \mathbf{r} terms of a known and external time series $x_1, ..., x_t$. It is given by:

$$y_t = \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{p}} f(y_{t-p}) + \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{q}} g(z_{t-q}) + \sum_{1}^{\mathbf{b}} h(x_{i,t-b}) + e_t$$
(1.3)

where x_t is the exogenous variables that affect the model.

In general, time series forecasting models predict future values of a target y_t at time t. Each entity represents a logical grouping of temporal information – such as measurements from individual weather stations in climatology, or vital signs from different patients in medicine – and can be observed at the same time. In the simplest case, one-step-ahead forecasting models take the form:

$$y_t = f(y_{t-p:t-1}, x_{t-p:t-1}, s)$$
 (1.4)

where y_t is the model prediction, $y_{t-p:t-1} = \{y_{t-p}, ..., y_{t-1}\}, x_{t-p:t-1} = \{x_{t-p}, ..., x_{t-1}\}$ are observations of the target and exogenous inputs respectively over a look-back window p, and s is static metadata associated with the entity (e.g., sensor location), and $f(\cdot)$ is the prediction function learnt by the model. While we focus on univariate forecasting in this survey (i.e., 1D targets), we note that the same components can be extended to multivariate models without loss of generality. The AR models described above and their variants, model the prediction function f as a linear function. However, more complex, non-stationary, and noisy real time series cannot be expressed by analytical equations with parameters to solve because the dynamics are either too intricate or undiscoverable. Besides, the traditional models, provided with a small number of nonlinear mechanisms, are not able to capture the complicated data. In order to better model complex real time series depended on various external parameters, the highly recommended approach is to exploit robust features that grasp the relevant information from time series. Nevertheless, exploiting domain-specific features for each task is both time-consuming and costly, and requires expertise of the time series. Recently, and mainly due to the advances in Artificial Intelligence (AI) research, many efforts are utilized to develop time series models using non-linear regression architectures based on machine learning algorithms. In this context, a widely used model is the feedforward

neural network, consisting of interconnected artificial neurons capable of modelling non-linear input-output relationships [28]. Feedforward neural network examples have been utilized in time series signals modeling for geodetic applications, examples are the works of [29], [30], [31]. Actually, feedforward neural networks are capable of approximating non-linear ARMA relationships and therefore, improving performance in timeseries modeling. Non-linear ARMA filters with recursive capabilities have been also proposed in [32], [33]. Other works in this field apply Radial Basic Function (RBF) models [34], with advance non-linear interpolation capabilities, or Support Vector Machines (SVMs) [35]. The latter are supervised learning paradigms for data classification and regression.

The main limitations of the aforementioned non-linear regression models is that they present convergence instabilities especially when a large number of neurons are employed in the network. In addition, there is no recurrent feedback mechanisms among the artificial neurons. Therefore, such filters fail to approximate temporal dependencies and high abrupt changes in timeseries values with a high precision accuracy.

For this reason, recently deep machine learning have been proposed as an alternative paradigm for regression and classification [36]. Deep learning incorporates multiple hidden neurons and applies advanced learning algorithms, such as input compression and dimensionality data reduction, to handle the computational issues arising when a large number of neurons are considered. Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) are a class of networks allowing connections (feedback) between the nodes (neurons) in order to model the temporal behaviours of a timeseries signal [37, 38]. Thus, RNNs are capable of handling the time-dependencies. However, RNNs fail to approximate more complex temporal dependencies, presenting also computational issues in computing the gradient during the learning process especially when a large number of neurons are employed (the so called vanishing gradient problem [39]).

To address these limitations and simultaneously to retain the advantages of deep learning in approximating temporal dependencies, Long-Short Term Memory (LSTM) architectures have been recently proposed [40, 41]. LSTM networks memorize temporal correlations of the signals, providing, therefore better modeling capabilities [42–44]. LSTMs have more trainable parameters (e.g., weights) compared to the traditional RNNs models. Consequently, they give us, on the one hand, more controlability and thus better results, but with the cost, on the other hand, of more complexity and the need of large amount of training (annotated) data.

Although the aforementioned architectures are good modelling approximators of uni-dimensional signals, they mainly focus on the temporal modelling dimension. However, various timeseries signals have also a longitudinal dimension and therefore, different weights should be assigned to the model for different regions. This so-called *spatial variability* can not be adequately modelled through the traditional LSTM deep learning architectures. Recently, more and more approaches leveraging convolutional architectures have been proposed for sequence modeling tasks. Long- and short-term time series network (LSTNet) uses a combination of a convolutional neural network (CNN) and an RNN to perform multivariate time series prediction. The intention of this approach is to leverage the strengths of both the convolutional layer (to extract short-term local dependency patterns among the multidimensional variables) and the recurrent layer (to discover long-term patterns for time

series trends). In the evaluation of real-world data with complex mixtures of repetitive patterns, LSTNet achieved significant performance improvements over that of several state-of-the-art baseline methods, as, e.g., autoregression models and gated recurrent unit (GRU) networks.

The problem described in (1.4) is the direct problem of computing the future y_t values given the previous observations of the target y and exogenous inputs x_i ; the inverse problem is to compute the inputs x_i given the y_t values.

1.1.2 The blind source separation problem formulation

A critical point in the analysis of time series data, is the development of data-driven methods that allow the different sources of the signals to be discerned and characterized in various domains. Blind source separation (BSS) is a class of inverse problems, in which one wishes to separate a set of linearly mixed signals, having only the mixtures in hand and information neither about the sources, nor about the mixing coefficient. BSS is a popular multivariate approach for decomposing multivariate data into uncorrelated components which are useful for dimension reduction, and intended for an easier interpretation or easier modeling of the data. BSS is about decomposing the time series signal $\{y_1, y_2, ..., y_t\}$ into its x_m additive sub-components, where x_m is a timeseries $\{x_{m,1}, x_{m,2}, ..., x_{m,t}\}$ and m = 1, ..., M. Thus,

$$\begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ \vdots \\ y_t \end{bmatrix} = W \begin{bmatrix} x_{1,1} & x_{2,1} & \dots & x_{m,1} & \dots & x_{M,1} \\ x_{1,2} & x_{2,2} & \dots & x_{m,2} & \dots & x_{M,1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots & & \vdots \\ x_{1,t} & x_{2,t} & \dots & x_{m,t} & \dots & x_{M,t} \end{bmatrix}, \forall m \in 1, \dots, M$$
(1.5)

Many inverse problems are considered to be ill-posed, because the application of W^{-1} to the noisy data y produces a result that is deemed inadequate or because it is not possible to define an operator W^{-1} . Being ill-posed does not mean that a problem cannot be solved. However, it means that additional information needs to be incorporated into the inversion.

1.2 Research Objectives

Deep learning neural networks learn complex mappings between inputs and outputs and support multiple inputs and outputs. Deep neural networks have successfully been applied to address time series problems. They have proved to be an effective solution given their capacity to automatically learn the temporal dependencies present in time series [45]. However, selecting the most convenient type of deep neural network and its parametrization is a complex task that requires considerable expertise. Therefore, there is a need for deeper studies on the suitability of all existing architectures for different tasks for time series modeling. Hence, practical aspects, such as the setting of values for hyper-parameters and the choice of the most suitable frameworks, for the successful application of deep learning to time series are also provided and discussed.

Given its complexity, time series modeling is an area of paramount importance in various research fields. Time series models needs to take into account several issues such as trends and seasonal variations of the series, the correlation between observed values that are close to time as well as their dependence from various external parameters. In this dissertation, proposed methods for dealing with the above mentioned aspects are discussed.

Another problem that is discussed here is the problem called blind source separation (BSS) [46]. In a large number of cases, the signal received by a sensor (antenna, microphone, etc.) is the sum (mixture) of elementary contributions that we can call sources. For instance, the signal received by an antenna is a superimposition of signals emitted by all the sources which are in its receptive field. Generally, sources as well as mixtures are unknown. In this case, without any knowledge on the sources (except independence assumption), this problem is called blind separation of sources. The separation of independent sources from an array of sensors is a classical but difficult problem in signal processing and it is a problem discussed also here.

In this dissertation is provided a comparative analysis that evaluates the performance of several deep learning (DL) architectures on a large number of time series datasets of different nature and for different applications. Two main fruitful research fields are discussed here:

- Ionospheric Total Electron Content (TEC) modeling which is an important issue in many realtime GNSS applications. Reliable and fast knowledge about ionospheric variations becomes increasingly important. GNSS users of single-frequency receivers and satellite navigation systems need accurate corrections to remove signal degradation caused by the ionosphere. Ionospheric modeling using signal-processing techniques is the subject of discussion in the present contribution.
- Energy disaggregation which is an important issue for energy efficiency and energy consumption awareness. Reliable and fast knowledge about residential energy consumption at appliance level becomes increasingly important nowadays and it is an important mitigation measure to prevent energy wastage. Energy disaggregation or Non-intrusive load monitoring (NILM) is a single channel blind source separation problem where the task is to estimate the consumption of each electrical appliance given the total energy consumption.

1.2.1 The challenge of TEC modeling using GNSS data

The variability of the ionospheric parameters limits the efficiency of communications, radars and navigation systems. Total Electron Content (TEC), defined as the integral of the electron density over a signal path, is often used to describe ionosphere variability [47], [48]. TEC values are necessary in order to correct ionospheric refraction [49] and are crucial for satellite based navigation systems, in order to guarantee the high performance of satellite systems in positioning.

The transmitted signals from Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) are directly affected by the ionospheric variations, causing delays [50]. These delays depend on the signal frequency and the electron density along the transmission path. Hence, ionospheric variability introduces an additional error source in GNSS positioning [51]. The use of multiple navigation signals of distinct center frequency transmitted from the same GNSS satellite allows direct estimation of these ionospheric delays. Exploiting the fact that different signal frequencies are affected differently by the ionosphere, an appropriate processing strategy of multiple-frequency GNSS signals, eliminates the ionospheric error [51]. Contrary to multi-frequency GNSS receivers, real-time (RT) single-frequency
(SF) positioning with a low-cost receiver has received increasing attention in recent years due to its large amount of possible applications. However, in this case, one major challenge is the effective mitigation of these ionospheric delays [52]. RT-SF-SPP (Standard Point Positioning)/PPP (Precise Point Positioning) techniques use ionospheric vertical TEC (VTEC) products released by the International GNSS Service (IGS) real-time service [53], to eliminate the ionospheric error and apply corrections to the model as external parameters. The Center for Orbit Determination in Europe (CODE) provides Global Ionospheric Maps (GIM) in a grid of $(2.5^{\circ} \times 5.0^{\circ})$, in 2-h temporal resolution, leading to a spatio-temporal sparse model. This means that the corrections applied improve the accuracy of the provided solution for positioning. However, these ionospheric VTEC products fail to remove the total amount of noise caused by the ionosphere, due to their global coverage and their inability to be accurately adapted at regional (and more so at local) levels.

The objective of this dissertation is to create regional TEC models using deep learning methods and surpass problems arising using the traditional methods for TEC modeling. Thus, stations or roving users near the reference area of these regional deep learning models, could benefit from these model instead of a global one.

In particular, the following research objectives that stem from the aim of this dissertation have been defined:

- to improve the existing regional TEC models accuracy, and to investigate the model's response in cases of high ionosphere activity and during irregular conditions;
- to investigate the importance of the various external parameters (e.g. related solar and geomagnetic activity) for improving the accuracy in TEC modeling;
- to propose meaningful adaptations for CNNs models to be applied for time series TEC analysis and compare their performance with the traditional ML methods for time series modeling;
- to introduce reliable regional observation data to characterize regional anomalies that affect the ionosphere at local level (*spatial*), and additionally to estimate TEC changes between epochs (*temporal*), targeting to spatio-temporal VTEC prediction models
- to present a comprehensive analysis for different years under different solar and geomagnetic activity and to test the models for different days and at various latitudes.

1.2.2 The energy disaggregation challenge

The residential total power consumption is measured using smart meter devices, thus the consumers be aware of their total (aggregate) power consumption. However, as far as energy efficiency is concerned, energy consumption awareness at appliance level is essential. One way to measure consumption per appliance is through the usage of smart plugs, a solution which is economically unaffordable. For this reason, usually Non-Intrusive Load Monitoring (NILM) or energy (power) disaggregation methods are applied. Separating the household aggregated energy consumption signal into its additive sub-components (the power signal from individual appliances), is called energy (power) disaggregation. Energy disaggregation can be considered as an efficient and cost effective framework to reduce energy consumption [54]. NILM is a research field receiving increasing attention among the signal processing technical community [55], due to its great significance as a means towards attainment of global energy conservation goals, as well as its interest as a challenging scientific and engineering problem. NILM resembles the signal source separation problem and poses several challenges given that it is an ill-posed problem. The following specific issues were addressed in detail:

- to exploit in what extend the entrance of the various external parameters (e.g. voltage, current) help in improving the prediction accuracy in NILM
- to implement optimization techniques for hyper-parameters tuning to improve models performance and increase the reliability of machine learning algorithms;
- explore NILM techniques at a larger scale and across different households. Examine the proposed models applicability in different households and transferability across different datasets;
- to examine the importance of the dynamic context of an appliance, as well as changing contextual conditions in NILM performance;
- to investigate the ability of generative adversarial networks to create robust appliance power patterns for energy disaggregation in the presence of noise;

1.3 Contribution and Originality

1.3.1 Contribution in Signal Processing and Time series analysis

The overall contribution of this dissertation lies in the following aims that were defined:

- to propose automated approaches for time series modeling including automatic parametric model selection;
- to propose models that enable complex and larger data to be processed and analysed;
- to propose a sequence-to-sequence deep learning framework for multi-step-ahead time series modeling, addressing the dynamic, spatial-temporal and nonlinear characteristics of multivariate time series data ;
- to propose meaningful adaptations for deep learning algorithms initially proposed for twodimensional data to one-dimensional time series data;
- to propose robust structures for time series modeling in cases where we have a limited amount of data and/or corrupted data with noise;
- to propose deep learning methods for solving inverse ill-posed time series problems.

1.3.2 Contributing to GNSS positioning and TEC modeling

In addition, the following research objectives related to GNSS positioning and TEC modeling have been defined:

- to propose an LSTM-based model for accurate timeseries TEC estimates from GNSS data, surpassing problems related to ionosphere irregular behavior at regional level;
- to propose robust deep learning models that exploit various external parameters (e.g. related solar and geomagnetic activity) to improve the prediction and the accuracy in TEC modeling;
- to propose temporal sequence-to-sequence CNNs models to be applied for time series TEC analysis and compare their performance with the traditional ML methods for time series modeling;
- to scrutinize the effectiveness and efficiency of a convolutional enriched recurrent neural network for spatio-temporal VTEC prediction
- to present a comprehensive analysis for different years under different solar and geomagnetic activity. The models are tested for different days and at various latitudes to see model's response in cases of high ionosphere activity.

1.3.3 Contributing to the domain of Environmental Awareness and Energy disaggregation

Energy disaggregation poses several challenges not only as it is an ill-posed problem, but also, due to unsteady appliance signatures, abnormal behaviour that is usually detected in appliances operation and the existence of noise in the aggregated signal. To this day, various approaches have been proposed to solve the NILM problem, as presented in Chapter 6. Some of the most successful ones exploit deep learning neural network structures for modelling an energy disaggregation problem (e.g. recurrent neural network structures [56]). Nevertheless, there are barriers and limitations that until recently, have not been properly addressed. In this connection, a modular and a self-trained energy disaggregation model is proposed, with the capability of updating its behavior whenever a significant change of contextual conditions is detected. Since it is difficult to define the general polyparametric notion of context, and consequently, decide when a model update is required, the proposed techniques have not been applied successfully across different households and datasets [57]. Thus, it is difficult to create algorithms with a good *generalization ability*. In addition, noisy aggregate energy consumption measurements significantly deteriorate the performance of NILM methods. Usually, the detected appliances have unsteady signatures or present abnormal behavior and additionally, the existence of noisy as well as inadequate datasets deteriorates overall models' performance [58]. In that respect, the originality and novelty of this dissertation is summarized in the following objectives which were addressed:

• to exploit deep learning neural network structures for energy disaggregation that include various external parameters (e.g. voltage, current) to improve the prediction and the accuracy in NILM

- to propose a Bayesian-optimized LSTM-based structure with hyper-parameters tuning to improve the performance of the NILM alogrithm;
- to propose a modular and a self-trained energy disaggregation model with the capability of updating its behavior whenever a significant change of contextual conditions is detected;
- to propose a context aware NILM technique that could be applied at a large scale and transferred across different households;
- to propose an inverse GAN-based architecture for robust to noise energy disaggregation;

1.4 Structure of the Dissertation

Chapter 2 introduces the theoretical background of the TEC modeling. A review in the existing literature is provided and the problem formulation follows. In addition, a discussion on the role of GNSS observables in TEC modeling is provided.

Chapter 3 proposes a deep learning-based approach for ionospheric modeling. The method exploits the advantages of Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) Recurrent Neural Networks (RNN) for timeseries modeling and predicts the total electron content per satellite from a specific station. The evaluation of the proposed recurrent method for the prediction of vertical total electron content (VTEC) values is compared against the traditional Autoregressive (AR) and the Autoregressive Moving Average (ARMA) methods.

Chapter 4 proposes a model suitable for predicting the ionosphere delay at different locations of receiver stations using a temporal 1D convolutional neural network (CNN) model. In this chapter, a variant of CNN, called temporal convolutional networks (TCNs), is discussed for modeling non-linear and complex time series data, competing directly with RNNs in terms of accuracy.

In Chapter 5 a deep learning model is proposed, to efficiently predict TEC values and to replace the GIM derived data which inherently have a global character, with equal or better in accuracy regional ones. The proposed model is suitable for predicting the ionosphere delay at different locations of receiver stations. The model is tested during different periods of time, under different solar and geomagnetic conditions and for stations in various latitudes, providing robust estimations of the ionospheric activity at regional level. The model is a hybrid structure comprising of a convolutional layers and recurrent layers.

Chapter 6 introduces the problem of energy disaggregation and provides a brief literature review.

Chapter 7 proposes a CNN-based (Convolutional Neural Network) architecture with inputs and outputs formed as data sequences taking into consideration an appliance's previous states for better estimation of its current state. Furthermore, the proposed model endows CNN models with a recurrent property in order to better capture energy signal interdependencies. Using a multi-channel CNN architecture fed with additional variables related to power consumption (current, reactive and apparent power), additionally to active power, overall performance, robustness to noise and convergence times are improved. Chapter 8 introduces a non-causal adaptive context-aware bidirectional deep learning model for energy disaggregation. The proposed model, CoBiLSTM, harnesses the representational power of deep recurrent Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) neural net-works, while fitting two basic properties of NILM problem which state of the art methods do not appropriately account for: noncausality and adaptivity to contextual factors (e.g. seasonality). A Bayesian-optimized framework is introduced to select the best configuration of the proposed regression model, driven by a self-training adaptive mechanism. Furthermore, the proposed model is structured in a modular way to address multi-dimensionality issues that arise when the number of appliances increases. Experimental results indicate the proposed method's superiority compared to the current state of the art.

Chapter 9 proposes a EnerGAN++, a model based on Generative Adversarial Networks (GAN) for robust energy disaggregation. EnerGAN++ unifies the autoencoder (AE) and GAN architectures into a single framework, in which the autoencoder achieves a non-linear power signal source separation. EnerGAN++ is trained adversarially using a novel discriminator, to enhance robustness to noise. The proposed architecture of the discriminator leverages the ability of Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) in rapid processing and optimal feature extraction, among with the need to infer the data temporal character and time dependence. Experimental results indicate the proposed method's superiority compared to the current state of the art.

Finally, in Chapter 10, a summary and the contribution of this dissertation are presented, the conclusions and accomplishments derived by the research conducted during the course of this dissertation are discussed and ideas for future research are outlined.

Chapter 2

Ionospheric TEC Modeling Based on GNSS Observations

The ionosphere is typically defined as that part of the earth's upper atmosphere with sufficient concentration of free electrons affecting the propagation of electromagnetic waves. The electrons density depends on the time of the day and the Sun's activity, the atmospheric density profile, the geographic location, as well as the magnitude and orientation of the Earth's magnetic field [59]. Total Electron Content (TEC), defined as the integral of the electron density over a signal path, is often used to describe ionosphere variability [47], [48]. TEC values are often reported in multiples of the so called TEC unit, defined as $TECU = 10^{16} el/m^2 \simeq 1.66 \times 10^{-8} molm^{-2}$, which corresponds to 0.162 m on the GPS L1 frequency. Since radio wave signals pass through the electrons of the ionosphere, the signal velocity and the ray path change [60].

Consequently, the transmitted signals from Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) are directly affected by the ionospheric variations, causing delays [50]. These delays depend on the signal frequency and the electron density along the transmission path. Hence, ionospheric variability introduces an additional error source in GNSS positioning [51]. The use of multiple navigation signals of distinct center frequency transmitted from the same GNSS satellite allows direct estimation of these ionospheric delays. Exploiting the fact that different signal frequencies are affected differently by the ionosphere, an appropriate processing strategy of multiple-frequency GNSS signals, eliminates the ionospheric error [51]. Contrary to multi-frequency GNSS receivers, real-time (RT) single-frequency (SF) positioning with a low-cost receiver has received increasing attention in recent years due to its large amount of possible applications. However, in this case, one major challenge is the effective mitigation of these ionospheric delays [52]. RT-SF-SPP (Standard Point Positioning)/PPP (Precise Point Positioning) techniques use ionospheric vertical TEC (VTEC) products released by the International GNSS Service (IGS) real-time service [53], to eliminate the ionospheric error and apply corrections to the model as external parameters. However, these ionospheric VTEC products have global coverage.

2.1 Review and analysis of the literature

Many researchers investigate the ionospheric variation, applying regional models. Traditional methods for TEC modeling include parameter estimations, e.g. autoregressive (AR), autoregressive moving average (ARMA), autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) [52]. An Autoregressive model is a common linear regression approach [23], [24]. The limitation of an AR filter is that no external measurable parameters are allowed to be utilized by the model. Thus, Autoregressive Moving Average (ARMA) filters have been also investigated for time series modelling [25], [26]. The main difference between an AR and ARMA process is that the first (i.e., AR) models a timeseries in terms of its own lags (previous observable measurements), while an ARMA filter includes two parts; an autoregressive (AR) where previous observations affect the output and the moving average (MA) part where external observations trigger the output. Wang et al. [52] compare the performance of various models including ARMA model and ARIMA models to predict total electron content (TEC) in various latitudes. Ratnam et al. [26] propose a new multivariate ionospheric TEC forecasting model based on linear time series model in combination with ARMA model. Mandrikova et al. [23] suggest a technique of ionospheric parameter modelling and analysis based on combining the wavelet transform with ARIMA models. Widely used linear approaches for time series forecasting are autoregressive models and its different variations. Even though these models are often proposed in the literature for modeling ionospheric TEC values, these models fail to capture nonlinear patterns and abrupt changes in electron density values due to the linear assumptions made. To this end, various nonlinear approaches for time series TEC modeling have been proposed.

Machine learning techniques can successfully deal with short-term forecasting [61]. Due to the recent widespread advancements in machine learning, many significant research efforts are utilized to develop the suitable TEC prediction methods including shallow methods, such as Support Vector Machine (SVM) [35], the nonlinear radial basic function (RBF) neural network [49, 34].

Recently, and mainly due to the advances in Artificial Intelligence (AI) research, many efforts are utilized to develop time series models using non-linear regression architectures based on machine learning algorithms. In this context, a widely used model is the feedforward neural network, consisting of interconnected artificial neurons capable of modelling non-linear input-output relationships [28]. Feedforward neural network examples have been utilized in time series signals modeling for geodetic applications, examples are the works of [29–31]. Actually, feedforward neural networks are capable of approximating non-linear ARMA relationships and therefore, improving performance in TEC modeling. Tulunay et al. [62] propose a data-driven neural network model. Mallika et al. [63] introduce a novel ionospheric forecasting algorithm based on the fusion of principal component analysis and artificial neural networks (PCA-NN) methods to forecast the ionospheric TEC values. The work of [64] present a new ionospheric prediction model, named the singular spectrum analysis-artificial neural network (SSA-ANN) as a preprocessing tool for the ionosphere total electron content (TEC) prediction based on the ANN approach. Wang et al. [65] propose an artificial neural network (ANN)-based Australian TEC model is developed to predict the TEC values.

The main limitations of the aforementioned non-linear regression models is that they present convergence instabilities especially when a large number of neurons are employed in the network.



Fig. 2.1 VTEC variations per individual PRN, at a specific time epoch. IPP points are the intersections of GNSS signal in the ionosphere assuming the theory of single layer model (SLM). Based on the assumption that adjacent points share the same ionosphere conditions, our model investigates GNSS method's efficiency in providing TEC estimations.

In addition, there is no recurrent feedback mechanisms among the artificial neurons. Therefore, such filters fail to approximate temporal dependencies and high abrupt changes in timeseries values with a high precision accuracy.

For this reason, recently deep machine learning have been proposed as an alternative paradigm for regression and classification [36]. Deep learning incorporates multiple hidden neurons and applies advanced learning algorithms, such as input compression and dimensionality data reduction, to handle the computational issues arising when a large number of neurons are considered. Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) are a class of networks allowing connections (feedback) between the nodes (neurons) in order to model the temporal behaviours of a timeseries signal [37]. Thus, RNNs are capable of handling the time-dependencies. RNNs can sufficient handle TEC observations and are able to be adapted in order to learn the temporal dependencies from context [31] and monitor the irregular ionospheric structure. However, RNNs fail to approximate more complex temporal dependencies, presenting also computational issues in computing the gradient during the learning process especially when a large number of neurons are employed (the so called vanishing gradient problem [39]). To address these limitations and simultaneously to retain the advantages of deep learning in approximating temporal dependencies, Long-Short Term Memory (LSTM) architectures have been recently proposed [41]. LSTM networks memorize temporal correlations of the signals, providing, therefore better modeling capabilities [42], [43], [44]. LSTMs can model complex sequences with various features, as in [66], [67], [42], where solar radio flux at 10.7 cm and magnetic activity indices are taken into consideration to provide more accurate results. However, the above mentioned studies focus on TEC prediction based on estimates at station level using data derived from TEC models, such as GIM maps or GPS TEC analysis software [68] and they do not predict ionosphere delays separately from every visible GNSS satellite, as in our approach. Tang et al. [69] analyzed and compared the performances of TEC prediction models of ARIMA, LSTM and seq2seq under the condition of a magnetic storm, and the result shows that overall prediction performance of the LSTM is the best during a magnetic storm. Sun et al. [42] analyzed and compared the accuracy of TEC prediction for MLP and LSTM models, and the result shows that the prediction precision of LSTM is better than for MLP under quiet and stormy geomagnetic conditions. Srivani et al. [68] investigated the performance of ionospheric delay prediction for NN, LSTM, and IRI models. Their research found that LSTM has best accuracy in the ionospheric delay prediction. These studies all prove that the performance of LSTM in TEC prediction is better than for existing empirical models [70]. Ruwali et al. [71] provides the application of deep learning models, long short-term memory (LSTM), gated recurrent unit (GRU), and a hybrid model that consists of LSTM combined with convolution neural network (CNN) to forecast the ionospheric delays for GPS signals.

2.2 Non-linear Ionosphere TEC modeling problem formulation

Our goal is to construct robust regional models of the ionosphere variability, applied in singlefrequency PPP methods as external ionosphere correction information. A typical model assumes that the ionosphere is a thin shell above the Earth, located near the mean altitude of maximum TEC (approximately 350 km). The intersection between a signal's line of sight and this shell is called the Ionospheric Pierce Point (IPP). At different epochs, at every IPP point, each individual satellite provides a different VTEC measurement (Figure 2.1). In our model, we use as input the IPP points coordinates, noted by x_{ϕ} and x_{λ} . In addition, the information of daily time hour x_{dt} has been incorporated into the model to boost its performance. Let us denote as $vtec^s(t)$ the value of the VTEC at a time instance t for a visible satellite s. Then, we have that

$$vtec^{s}(t) = f(\mathbf{x}(t)) + e(t)$$
(2.1)

$$vtec^{s}(t) = f(x_{\phi}(t), x_{\lambda}(t), x_{SSN}(t), x_{DST}(t), x_{F10.7}(t), x_{Ap}(t), x_{Kp}(t), x_{dt}(t)) + e(t)$$
(2.2)

In Eq. (2.2) $f(\cdot)$ refers to the nonlinear relationship between the VTEC values and the inputs of solar and geomagnetic indices. It is clear that this non-linear relationship is actually unknown. In Chapters 3, 4, 5 we estimate the model parameters (weights) used to approximate $f(\cdot)$. These weights are estimated through the application of a supervised learning methodology [36]. In Eq. (2.2), variables x_{SSN} , and $x_{F10.7}$ refer to the input solar indices and x_{DST} , x_{K_p} , x_{A_p} are the geomagnetic indices used as input variables of the proposed non-linear model.

In the data-driven supervised approach, we feed our proposed networks with pairs of data inputs-outputs, during training. Thus:

$$\mathbf{x}_{tr} = \begin{bmatrix} x_{\phi}(t) \ x_{\lambda}(t) \ x_{dt}(t) \ x_{SSN}(t) \ x_{F10.7}(t) \ x_{DST}(t) \ x_{K_p}(t) \ x_{A_p}(t) \end{bmatrix}^T \text{ and } \mathbf{vtec}_{tr} = vtec(t)$$
(2.3)

after training has been completed, we test the model providing the $(\mathbf{x})_{test}$ values and expecting the outcome $(vtec)_{test}$.

2.3 The role of GNSS observations in TEC modeling using Deep Learning

GNSS observables are used here in order to estimate the ground truth values of vertical TEC (VTEC) $vtec_{tr}$ that are used during the training. The workflow in order to compute the $vtec_{tr}$ values that are necessary for training of the deep learning algorithms is as follows: we first apply dual-frequency undifferenced and unconstrained PPP model to estimate Slant TEC (STEC) values. These values are then separated from satellite and receiver DCBs (Differential Code Biases). Then, having pure STEC values we convert them to Vertical TEC (VTEC) ones. These VTEC ground truth (labelled) values are combined with solar and geomagnetic indicators to construct the TEC model using a supervised learning framework [36], as explained in Section 2.2. For this reason, in the following, we describe the methodology adopted for VTEC values estimation.

The code P and phase ϕ observations in a given frequency band f_i between a receiver r and a GNSS satellite s, are written as [72]:

$$P_{(fi)_r}^s = \rho_r^s + c \cdot (dt_r + dt^s) + d_{(fi)_r} - d_{fi}^s + T^s + I_{(fi)}^s + \epsilon_{P_{(fi)}}^s$$
(2.4)

$$\phi_{(fi)_r}^s = \rho_r^s + c \cdot (dt_r + dt^s) + \delta_{(fi)_r} - \delta_{fi}^s + T^s - I_{(fi)}^s + \lambda N_{(fi)}^s + \epsilon_{\phi_{(fi)}}^s$$
(2.5)

where $P_{(fi)_r}^s$ and $\phi_{(fi)_r}^s$ denote pseudorange and carrier phase observables, respectively; ρ_r^s is the geometric distance between the receiver to the satellite; dt_r and dt^s are the receiver and satellite clock offsets, respectively; $d_{(fi)_r}$ is the frequency-dependent receiver uncalibrated code delay (UCD) while d_{fi}^s is the frequency dependent satellite UCD; T^s is troposphere delay; $I_{(fi)}^s$ is the line of sight (LOS) ionospheric delay on the frequency fi; $\delta_{(fi)_r}$ and δ_{fi}^s are the frequency-dependent receiver and satellite uncalibrated phase delay, respectively; $N_{(fi)}^s$ is the phase ambiguity; $\epsilon_{P_{(fi)}}^s$ and $\epsilon_{\phi_{(fi)}}^s$ are the sum of measurement noise and multi-path error for pseudorange and carrier phase observations.

In the case of dual-frequency GPS observations and assuming the frequencies f_1 and f_2 noted as "1" and "2", respectively, the equation (1) is written as:

$$P_{1_r}^G = \rho_r^G + c \cdot (dt_r + dt^G) + d_{1_r} - d_1^G + T^G + I_1^G + \epsilon_{P_1}^G$$
(2.6)

$$P_{2_r}^G = \rho_r^G + c \cdot (dt_r + dt^G) + d_{2_r} - d_2^G + T^G + I_2^G + \epsilon_{P_2}^G$$
(2.7)

The code biases are commonly referred as differential code biases (DCBs): $DCB = DCB_{P1/P2} = d_{f_1} - d_{f_2}$ and also, given that $\gamma_2 = f_1^2/f_2^2$, we have:

$$d_{f_1} = d_{IF} + 1/(1 - \gamma_2) \cdot DCB \ and d_{f_2} = d_{IF} + \gamma_2/(1 - \gamma_2) \cdot DCB$$
(2.8)

and then,

$$d_{f_{1_r}} - d_{f_1}^G = d_{(IF)_r} - d_{IF}^G + \frac{1}{(1 - \gamma_2)} \cdot (DCB_r - DCB^s)$$
(2.9)

$$d_{2r} - d_2^G = d_{(IF)r} - d_{IF}^G + \frac{\gamma_2}{(1 - \gamma_2)} \cdot (DCB_r - DCB^s)$$
(2.10)

The term \tilde{I}_1 is computed as:

$$\tilde{I}_1 = I_1 - \frac{1}{(1 - \gamma_2)} DCB^s + \frac{1}{(1 - \gamma_2)} DCB_r$$
(2.11)

The Uncombined PPP (UPPP) model computes the ionosphere delay as unknown parameter, in contrast to the traditional ionosphere-free (IF) model which combines multiple frequency observations to eliminate the ionospheric error. Our model is ionosphere-constrained dual-frequency PPP model that estimates the STEC values. These values are then separated from satellite and receiver DCBs (Differential Code Biases), using the products of IGS service [73]. Finally, the VTEC values, called with the variable *vtec*, are estimated as

$$vtec = \frac{1}{MF_I} \cdot (\tilde{I}_1 + \frac{1}{(1 - \gamma_2)} DCB^s - \frac{1}{(1 - \gamma_2)} DCB_r)$$
(2.12)

The above equation evaluates the ground truth VTEC values. Then, the Slant TEC, denoted with the variable *stec*, is converted into *vtec* through the mapping function MF_I [74]:

$$MF_{I} = \frac{stec}{vtec} = \frac{1}{(1 - (\frac{R_{e}}{R_{e} + h_{s}}\cos\theta)^{2})^{1/2}}$$
(2.13)

where R_e is the mean Earth's radius; θ is the satellite's elevation angle; h is the height of the ionospheric layer and usually has been taken about 350 km.

The GNSS pre-processing is implemented using the GAMP [72] GNSS processing software. Further details about the experimental setup are provided in the Table 5.1.

Chapter 3

Applying an LSTM architecture for TEC modeling

In this chapter we propose a deep learning scheme in order to accurately estimate TEC values. Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) are employed as the formalism for solving the ionosphere variations modeling problem at hand. RNN is a class of neural network that allows previous outputs to be used as inputs, has hidden states and also, uses weights that are shared across time. Extending RNN's ability to accurately model temporal dependencies in timeseries, Long Short-Term Memory networks (LSTMs) are proposed here. LSTM is a special variant of the typical RNN structure that deals with the vanishing gradient problem encountered by traditional RNNs. Adopting LSTM method for ionosphere variations prediction is a suitable approach, as this is a time-sequence prediction problem. Recently, encouraging results have been obtained by employing LSTM-based configurations in domains such as language modelling, speech recognition and action recognition [75–77]. As already mentioned, ionosphere modeling is a problem of high *complexity*, as TEC values are *space- and time-* varying. Our model exploits LSTM [76] model's non-linearity, which is learned from the data. On the contrary, traditional time series prediction models, such as AR and ARMA [53], are particularly simple structures which are essentially linear update models plus some noise thrown in.

Our model handles TEC values at a micro-scale level and examines how consistent the extracted TEC values per observed satellite are, and whether the remaining biases affect them. Therefore, our analysis examines the ability of a GNSS data-based method to provide accurate estimates of ionosphere variations in the likely presence of unaccounted noisy conditions. Then, an ensemble solution at station-level is extracted with proper combination of the information about TEC variations that provided from the analysis of each satellite results.

In this work, we create regional TEC models with autoregressive character, using deep learning methods. Our intention, as a next step, is to extend the applicability of this approach towards the implementation of this model in near-real time PPP-RTK processing in order to use it as part of the integer ambiguity resolution (IAR)–enabled PPP owing to the use of predicted ionospheric delays in addition to other corrections. Until now, CODE provides GIM maps in a grid of $(2.5^{\circ} \times 5.0^{\circ})$, in 2-h temporal resolution, leading to a spatio-temporal sparse model. This means that the corrections

applied improve the accuracy of the provided solution for positioning, but fail to remove the total amount of noise caused by the ionosphere. Stations or roving users near the reference area in which regional LSTM models have been created, could use corrections from the regional model and not a global one.

The contribution of this study is to explore the potential of LSTM in time series analysis for TEC modeling and prediction. Compared with traditional time series prediction models, LSTM can obtain better prediction results, by taking advantage of the following features of the method:

- Sequential modeling: An important contribution is that our non-linear model is based on the so called *sequence-to-sequence* (Seq2seq) modeling framework; a family of machine learning algorithms to transform one sequence into another sequence. Seq2seq methods have been originated by Google engine for text/speech language translation [78], but they have recently been adopted in solving complex timeseries problems in power energy domain [54]. The Seq2seq structure permits the prediction of the ionosphere values for all satellites in view at every epoch [79]. Given that there are multiple input and output time steps, this problem is referred to as 'many-to-many' sequence prediction problem. The Seq2seq modeling approach means that we are able to model not only the electron density values at the next epoch, but a sequence of successive epochs.
- Non-linear modeling of temporal dependencies: LSTMs with their internal memory, remember previous information that reflects the past behavior of the ionosphere and find patterns across time for accurate prediction of the next guess–estimates, making them ideal for time series prediction.

The outline of the chapter is as follows. Section 3.2 describes the proposed LSTM model. In Section 3.3, experimental results and analyses are provided, together with various comparisons, as for instance: (i) between traditional AR and ARMA methods, as well as, (ii) with well known TEC models. Conclusions are given in the Section 3.4.

3.1 LSTM Regression Model for Ionospheric Correction

3.1.1 Unidirectional Recurrent Neural Network for VTEC estimation

Our proposed deep learning model is based on timeseries modelling. The inputs during training are not independent but they follow a time dependent order. In contrast to other deep learning schemes, mostly applied in classification problems, in which the common procedure is to randomize the entire input data, here we form our data in a time-dependent sequence to train our network. Thus, the proposed network is specially designed for time-series modelling and infers successfully the time-related information.

Assuming L hidden neurons and one linear output layer, the estimate $vtec^s$ every epoch, is given by [33]

$$vtec^{s}(t) = \mathbf{h}^{T}(t) \cdot \mathbf{v} \tag{3.1}$$



Fig. 3.1 The memory cell of an LSTM network. It contains three different components; (i) the forget gate f(t), (ii) the input gate i(t) and the input node g(t) and (iii) the output node o(t) (**right**). Unidirectional LSTM regression model used for TEC estimation (**left**).



Fig. 3.2 This proposed LSTM architecture for TEC sequence $(vtec^s(1)... vtec^s(t))$ prediction. The deep learning structure consists of two stacked LSTM layers. The proposed LSTM is a sequence to sequence regression model. The output is TEC sequences from GNSS observations at a given station which are of varying length (e.g., t, t') and the input has as features the satellite position vector $[x_{SatX} x_{SatY} x_{SatY}]$, the azimuth (x_{Az}) and the elevation angles x_{El} of the satellite direction from the receiver site. For example satellite G32 with a trajectory as illustrated in the figure with red line, is visible from station bor1 for about 5 h, thus the input sequence for G32 satellite has length 600 values, for the measurements sampling rate at 30 s.

$$\mathbf{h}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} h_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ h_L(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma(\mathbf{w}_1^T \cdot \mathbf{x}(t)) \\ \vdots \\ \sigma(\mathbf{w}_L^T \cdot \mathbf{x}(t)) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.2)

 $\sigma(\cdot)$ that refers to the sigmoid function. The weights $w_i, i = 1, ..., L$, connect the input $\mathbf{x}(t)$ with the i-th hidden neuron. Similarly, \mathbf{v} are the weights that connect the hidden neurons with the output neuron. The term h(t) gathers the outputs of all L hidden neurons h_i with values ranging between 0 and 1.

Since the ionosphere delay follows a causal relationship, the value of a state depends on its previous values, forming a short-term recurrent neural network structure. Therefore,

$$u_i(t) = \sigma(\mathbf{w}_i^T \cdot \mathbf{x}(t) + h_i^T \mathbf{u}(t-1))$$
(3.3)

3.1.2 Unidirectional Long-Term Recurrent Neural Network for VTEC estimation

Long Short-term Memory (LSTM) [76] is an RNN architecture designed to be better at storing and accessing information than standard RNNs.

In most RNNs (see Section 3.1.1), the hidden layer function h is an elementwise application of a sigmoid function. However, it has been proved that the LSTM architecture [], which uses purpose-built memory cells to store information, is better at finding and exploiting long range dependencies in the data. LSTM has recently given state-of-the-art results in a variety of sequence processing tasks, including speech and handwriting recognition [80].

An LSTM network is a variation of the classic RNN model, enriched with slowly changing weights to address the vanishing gradient problem that RNN suffer from. LSTM networks have internal mechanisms called gates that can regulate the flow of information, maintain the worth-remembering pieces of information and forget the unnecessary ones. LSTMs are of similar structure with the recurrent regression model, but each node in the hidden layer is replaced by a memory cell, instead of a single neuron [39]. It processes the available data passing on information as it propagates forward.

The memory cell contains three different components: (i) the forget gate f(t), (ii) the input gate i(t), (iii) the cell candidate g(t) and (iii) the output gate o(t). For each component, a non-linear relation to the inner product between the input vectors and respective weights is applied during the training process. In some of the components the sigmoid function $\sigma(\cdot)$ is applied, while in others the hyperbolic tangent function $tanh(\cdot)$ is used. Forget gate f(t) keeps unnecessary information out of memory cell, thus separating the worth-remembering information from the useless one [81]. Input gate i(t) regulates whether the information is relevant enough to be applied in future steps for the accurate estimation of TEC values. Cell candidate g(t) activates appropriately the respective state (true or false output from the tanh activation). Output gate o(t) decides if the response of the current memory cell is "significant enough" to contribute to the next cell.

$$\begin{bmatrix} i(t) \\ f(t) \\ o(t) \\ g(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \\ \sigma \\ \sigma \\ tanh \end{bmatrix} W \begin{bmatrix} x(t) \\ h(t-1) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} b_i \\ b_f \\ b_o \\ b_g \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.4)

The cell state at time step t is given by

$$c(t) = f(t) \odot c(t-1) + i(t) \odot g(t)$$

$$(3.5)$$

where \odot denotes the Hadamard product (element-wise multiplication of vectors).

The hidden state at time step t is given by

$$h(t) = o(t) \odot \sigma(c(t)) \tag{3.6}$$

where σ denotes the state activation function.

It should be clarified that the nomenclature "Long term" used for LSTM networks, is a deep learning related terminology and is associated with the model's ability to learn from previous historic past values, and should not be confused with ionosphere's long term temporal variations that implies an analysis of many years. In our approach we are trying to model daily variations of the ionosphere and not long term ones.

3.1.3 The Proposed LSTM Regression Model for TEC Prediction

Figure 3.2 shows the adopted strategy and the basic structure of the proposed LSTM model. The network configuration setup consists of: (i) the input layer, (ii) two stacked unidirectional LSTM layers and (iii) the regression layer. In our case, we have a sequence-to-sequence model, in which data are organized as sequences of input and output pairs. This implies that LSTM model infers the relative time information during training, as it is not trained for every pair (input features, output) at every epoch t individually, but is trained to recognize a whole sequence/set of these pairs during the day, for a specific satellite. Thus, the input layer receives the current data in a sequence-like form, of a time window with varying duration. The network includes two bidirectional LSTM layers: the first layer consists of 60 filters with a kernel size 1×5 , while the second layer consists of 72 filters of the same kernel size. The regression layer consists of one fully connected hidden layer and the final output regression layer. The output is a sequence of VTEC predicted values for each satellite, with size that covers the whole duration where the satellite is visible from the receiver.

In order to evaluate the ionospheric delay effects on GPS positioning, days between 10 and 13 December 2018 (day of year (DOY), from 344 to 347), where 80% of them has selected for training and the remaining 20% as validation set. Furthermore, 10 days have been selected as test set (14 December and 19 to 27 December 2018).

Stations	${f Latitude^\circ}$	${f Longitude}^\circ$	Country
bor1	52.276958352	17.073459989	Poland
ganp	49.034715044	20.322939096	Slovakia
graz	47.067131595	15.493484133	Austria
leij	51.353981980	12.374101226	Germany
pots	52.379299109	13.066095112	Germany
wtzz	49.144213977	12.878907414	Germany

Table 3.1 Approximate location of six selected stations of IGS network and the country of their origin.

3.2 PPP Processing Strategy

This section describes the pre-processing strategy to extract the necessary inputs and outputs for our LSTM model (see Chapter 2), using observational data from a small group of permanent GNSS stations of International GNSS Service (IGS) network. The time resolution is selected to be 30s. Table 4.1 shows the geographical distribution of the six selected IGS stations [82], which are spread across central Europe and are located in close proximity to each other.

We used the GAMP software [72], a secondary development software based on RTKLIB [83] for multi-constellation and multi-frequency Precise positioning. GAMP allows the use of undifferenced and uncombined observations in dual-frequency PPP processing to extract STEC values. Using the uncombined PPP (UPPP) model allows estimating the ionospheric effects as unknown parameters, without the need to impose ionospheric-free constraints imposed by the traditional PPP model which amplifies the measurement noise when dual frequency observations are combined to cancel the ionospheric effects. The necessary RINEX observation and navigation files, along with precise orbit and clock information, IGS ANTEX (igs14.atx) and SINEX files, as well as ocean tide loading coefficients and DCBs are entered into the GAMP software for static PPP processing. Wuhan University's satellite orbits and clock offsets were provided as input for GAMP software. Differential code biases (DCBs), are essential in many navigation and non-navigation applications (such as ionospheric analysis). As new signals are currently provided by the modernized GNSS systems, the need for a comprehensive multi-GNSS DCB product arises. DCB products, as part of the IGS Multi-GNSS Experiment (MGEX), are provided by the Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS) in Wuhan (Table 8.2).

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Performance Comparison among Different Methods

We compare the proposed LSTM method against traditional stochastic models for timeseries modeling and forecasting, such as the autoregressive AR model and the autoregressive moving average ARMA model. Our LSTM model has been trained and deployed using Python with Tensorflow and Keras libraries. We trained the model using the adaptive moment estimation optimization algorithm (adam) with a learning rate of 10^{-4} . Model weights and coefficients are

Options	Settings
Constellation	GPS
Positioning mode	static PPP
Frequencies	L1, L2
Sampling rate	$30 \mathrm{\ s}$
Elevation mask	7°
Differential code bias (DCB)	Correct using MGEX DCB products for PPP
Tropospheric zenith wet delay	initial model + estimated (random walk process)
Receiver and Satellite antenna	corrected with igs14.atx
Phase wind-up	Corrected
Sagnac effect, relativistic effect	Corrected with IGS absolute
Station reference coordinates	IGS SINEX solutions

Table 3.2 Static PPP experimental setup.

updated using a mini-batch size of 28 samples at each training iteration. The maximum number of epochs for training is selected to be 600. Deep learning performance is improved through data balance and normalization of the data used as input to the LSTM network to the range [0,1]. We have individual networks, one per station. AR and ARMA models were also implemented in Python using the stats models library.

$$\overline{mae}_{r} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} MAE_{r}^{s_{i}} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} \left(\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} \left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_{i}} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_{i}} \right|}{T} \right)$$
(3.7)

$$\overline{min}_r = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} (\min_{\forall t \in T} \left(\left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_i} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i} \right| \right))$$
(3.8)

$$\overline{max}_r = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} (\max_{\forall t \in T} (\left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_i} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i} \right|))$$
(3.9)

$$\overline{rmse}_{r} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} RMSE_{r}^{s_{i}} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} \left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{T-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} (vtec_{r,t}^{s_{i}} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_{i}})^{2}} \right)$$
(3.10)

Table 4.2 shows performance metrics between LSTM model, as well as ARMA and AR models. For each satellite s_i in every station r, a sequence of VTEC values is produced using the TEC model, for a given time period T. For each individual satellite, we compute the absolute difference between the ground truth $\widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i}$ value, as obtained from the processing with the GAMP software, and the estimated from our model $vtec_{r,t}^{s_i}$ value, thus we have the difference $\left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_i} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i} \right|$, every time/epoch.

For every station r, we have also computed two additional metrics for every individual PRN (s_i -satellite): the mean absolute error $MAE_r^{s_i}$ (i.e., the average sum of all absolute errors) and the root mean squared error $RMSE_r^{s_i}$. However, Table 4.2 summarizes an overall accuracy for each station, using the following performance metrics: (i) $\overline{mae_r}$ is the average value of the combined $MAE_r^{s_i}$ for all s_i satellite estimations per station, (ii) $\overline{min_r}$ is the average of all s_i minimum difference

Receiver r Metric	\overline{mae}_r	$\frac{\mathbf{bor1}}{\overline{min}_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	$\frac{\mathbf{ganp}}{\min_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	$rac{\mathbf{graz}}{min_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r
LSTM	0.98	0.04	3.05	1.18	1.24	0.02	2.88	1.45	1.09	0.03	2.76	1.26
ARMA	1.41	0.01	3.76	1.76	1.63	0.02	3.94	2.03	1.70	0.04	3.85	2.03
AR	1.91	0.04	4.40	2.29	1.85	0.02	4.28	2.25	1.77	0.02	3.98	2.13
Receiver r Metric	\overline{mae}_r	$\frac{\mathbf{leij}}{\overline{min}_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	$rac{\mathbf{pots}}{\overline{min}_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	$rac{\mathbf{wtzz}}{\overline{min}_r}$	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r
LSTM	0.93	0.02	2.66	1.14	1.19	0.01	3.52	1.42	1.03	0.04	2.68	1.23
ARMA	1.63	0.01	3.96	1.98	1.71	0.01	4.12	2.07	1.54	0.01	3.78	1.91
AR	1.87	0.01	4.22	2.22	1.94	0.01	4.33	2.30	1.79	0.01	4.10	2.15

Table 3.3 Performance metrics (mean, minimum (Min), maximum (Max) and root mean squared error (rmse)) for VTEC (TECU) prediction for six selected stations (bor1, ganp, graz, leij, pots and wtzz) among the proposed solution (LSTM) and two other commonly used methods (ARMA, AR).

Table 3.4 Computational time (in s) per method (LSTM, ARMA and AR) for three selected stations (bor1, graz and wtzz).

		Elapsed Time (s)	
Stations	LSTM	ARMA	\mathbf{AR}
bor1	719	55	1
graz	559	58	3
wtzz	600	53	1



Fig. 3.3 MAE error per station for 10 different days.

values per station, (iii) in accordance to \overline{min}_r metric, \overline{max}_r is the average of all s_i maximum differences values per station, and (iv) \overline{rmse}_r is the average of s_i root mean squared error of all PRNs (satellites) per station. LSTM, ARMA ans AR are causal models, thus they are appropriate for ionospheric time series modeling. However, our proposed unidirectional LSTM model performs best (Table 4.2) mainly due to its capability to effectively identify structure and pattern of TEC data, such as non-linearity and complexity in time series prediction and infer TEC behavior based on previous states.

LSTM model is undoubtedly, more complicated and difficult to train and in most cases does not exceed the performance of a simple ARMA model. Table 3.4 shows the computational time required for model training by each method. Evidently, in terms of computational load, the AR model requires the minimum time (1 s) for training, while LSTM is the most time-consuming model (>600 s), but this is to be anticipated mainly due to its complexity and its large number of trainable parameters. However, by inspecting the various statistical metrics, it can also be seen that the LSTM model achieves the best performance in terms of its agreement with the conventional GNSS-derived VTEC data.

3.3.2 Comparison among Different Stations and Time Periods

Figure 3.3 illustrates the \overline{mae}_r metric for a testing period of 10 days, for the 6 different stations. MAE values ranging from 0.9 to 1.5 TECU. The 'ganp' station shows the worse values with low accuracy, while 'bor1' station achieves the highest accuracy among the other stations. Regarding the test period, the results are quite similar, however we observe a slightly increasing trend in MAE error, which is to be expected, as the predictions are carried out further away from the training period of the LSTM model.

3.3.3 Comparison between Different Satellites

In order to gain a further insight into the LSTM's model performance, we evaluated the VTEC prediction performance for each satellite. Figure 3.4 shows the estimated VTEC values for each station, per satellite on December 14, 2018. As noted, VTEC values show significant variation during the day, depending on the electron density in the ionosphere. The ionospheric delay changes slowly through a daily cycle, exhibiting its minimum values (2–4 TECU) between midnight and early morning, and reaching its peak (6–8 TECU) during the daylight hours, in the mid-latitudes.

As a next step, we evaluated the LSTM model's performance using the root mean squared error (RMSE) metric of VTEC values for each visible satellite, in a bar graph format. In general, RMSE TEC values are ranging between 0.5 and 2 TECU for each reference station (Figure 3.5). For station 'bor1', the highest RMSE values are observed for G07, G26 and G11 satellites in view. For station 'ganp', G18 and G11 show the highest error values. Station 'graz' exhibits significant variation between the satellites' RMSE values, with the satellites G15, G13 and G09 showing the maximum RMSE TEC values. Station 'leij' RMSE VTEC values reach the maximum for satellites G18 and G05. Satellite G18 has also the maximum RMSE for the other two remaining stations 'pots' and 'wtzz'.



Fig. 3.4 VTEC (TECU) predictions on 14 December 2019 for six stations (bor1, ganp, graz, leij, pots, wtzz) per satellite ID (G1,..., G32 for GPS satellite), and mean VTEC value (with red line).



Fig. 3.5 Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE) metric of the VTEC(TECU) predictions using LSTM method per station (bor1, grap, graz, leij, pots, wtzz) and per satellite ID (G1,.., G32 for GPS constellation).



Fig. 3.6 Vertical TEC of each GPS satellite between the GPS ground truth values and our LSTM method's results on December 14, 2018, for 'bor1' station.

In particular, Figure 3.6 shows the predicted LSTM-aided vertical TEC values for each one of the GPS satellites (when they are visible from 'bor1' station), along with the vertical TEC values being derived from GAMP software (ground truth data). As noted, LSTM model can adequately predict VTEC's model performance for every satellite separately. The satellites G07, G11 and G26 have the worst performance, as expected, based on results from Figure 3.5. On the contrary, the satellites G05, G16 and G22 have the best performance in VTEC prediction.

3.3.4 Comparison among Different Ionosphere Models

To further analyze the LSTM model's performance, Figure 3.7 shows the mean VTEC values at every station, as obtained from NeQuick, IRI2001, IRI01-cor and GIM TEC estimates compared to the GPS-based TEC and LSTM TEC predictions, during the day. The VTEC maxima is appeared for all stations between 8:00 and 12:00 A.M. In most cases, LSTM predicted values are similar to GPS TEC derived values, however, it is noted that our model underestimates VTEC values, showing lower values than those of GPS TEC. GIM-aided TEC values are also close to LSTM derived TEC values. NeQuick, IRI2001 and IRI01-cor values show greater variability during the day with higher maximum and lower minimum than those of GPS TEC and GIM values.



Fig. 3.7 Comparison between VTEC (TECU) LSTM predictions (PRD), estimated GPS ionospheric VTEC values (GRD) and the VTEC models (GIM, NeQuick, IRI2001 and IRI01-cor).

Figure 3.8 shows the mean difference values having as base GPS TEC estimates. As noted, in most cases LSTM predictions are closer to GPS TEC estimates, as they have small difference, except for station 'graz', where GIM model's estimates seem to have a slightly better performance.

3.4 Conclusions

We propose a supervised, unidirectional regression LSTM model for efficient prediction of vertical TEC values. Typical and widely used AR and ARMA models are linear models, suitable for TEC prediction, as ionosphere exhibits periodic changes. Thus, the AR and ARMA models' autoregressive character offers an advantage in VTEC prediction. However, the additional inclusion of selected features (such as the satellite vector, and the satellite elevation and azimuth) in the supervised LSTM algorithm, as well as, the fact that LSTM networks are equipped with memory cell and consequently they are able to preserve the worth-remembering information content in the input STEC data, gives superiority and an extra boost to our proposed method. Non-linearity and long-term prediction are additional advantages of our proposed LSTM method. As next steps, we intend to direct our studies into investigating the performance of this LSTM model under typical non-quiet conditions, including data from periods with intense ionospheric activity (e.g., periods with ionosphere anomalies and disturbances), and explore the possibility of using, with appropriate expansions, our LSTM model as a tool capable of adapting its performance to detect/catch extreme ionosphere conditions. To this end, alternative recurrent neural network



Fig. 3.8 Mean difference between the estimated GPS VTEC values and the VTEC (TECU) LSTM predictions (LSTM), GIM VTEC model values, NeQuick VTEC model values, IRI2001 VTEC model values and IRI01-cor VTEC model values.

methods, such as bidirectional LSTMs, that introduce non-causality, should be explored or/and check the performance of advanced Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) -based methods and how they can be optimally adapted in timeseries prediction problems for further benefit of the variant PPP techniques. In addition, we intend to explore models' behavior in datasets consisting of multiple GNSS constellations (such as GLONAS, Galileo, etc.).

Chapter 4

The adoption of a CNN architecture for TEC modeling and the adaptations needed for CNNs to solve a time series problem

Since AlexNet [84] won the ImageNet competition in 2012, deep CNNs have seen a lot of successful applications in many different domains [85] such as reaching human level performance in image recognition problems [86] as well as different natural language processing tasks [78, 87]. Motivated by the success of these CNN architectures in these various domains, researchers have started adopting them for time series analysis [88]. A convolution can be seen as applying and sliding a filter over the time series. Unlike images, the filters exhibit only one dimension (time) instead of two dimensions (width and height). The filter can also be seen as a generic non-linear transformation of a time series.

Furthermore, sequence-to-sequence (seq2seq) models [78] are implemented also here, to successfully catch the sequential character of TEC values and thus predict them for each visible satellite at a given station. In seq2seq models, the input is a time sequence of data, and the output is also a time sequence (see Chapter 3). Adopting this structure help us to estimate ionosphere TEC values at regional level.

The work in this chapter is further attempts:

- to propose a model with the ability of easily expanding the inputs variables,
- to derive potentially suitable models which can eventually be used to apply ionosphere corrections for single station and single frequency techniques,
- to propose an efficient model for constructing dynamic changing, regional TEC models.

4.1 GNSS AND IONOSPHERIC VARIABILITY

The ionosphere is that part of the earth's upper atmosphere (extending roughly between 70 and 600 km) with sufficient concentration of free electrons to affect the propagation of electromagnetic waves. Its existence is primarily the result of the absorption of solar ultraviolet radiation in that part of the atmosphere which in turn reacts to produce free electrons and ions. Total Electron Content (TEC) is often used to describe ionospheric variability and is space and time varying. it is widely known that ionosphere exhibits significant variations with:

- latitude and longitude: the most disturbed region is the aurora zone (between 60° to 70° N geomagnetic latitude) followed by the polar zone($>70^{\circ}$ N), while irregularities at equatorial ionosphere follow,
- local time: during the sunny hours of the day, the ionospheric condition variations are higher than those in night-time period,
- solar cycle and geomagnetic activity.

The GNSS signal travels through the ionosphere and due to the severe spatio-temporal changes of the electron density, significant disruptions on the traveling GNSS radio wave are caused. As a consequence of ionosphere's dispersive nature, is that for different carrier wave frequencies, different delays are caused. This fact provides one of the greatest advantages of a dual-frequency receiver over the single-frequency receivers: appropriate mathematical combinations among the different frequencies can eliminate ionosphere delay error. Hence, the use of multiple navigation signals of distinct center frequency transmitted from the same GNSS satellite allows direct observation and removal of the great majority of the ionospheric delay. It is worth mentioned that, the severity of the ionosphere's effect on a GNSS signal depends on the amount of time that signal spends traveling through it. A signal originating from a satellite near the observer's horizon (low satellite elevation) must pass through a larger amount of the ionosphere to reach the receiver than does a signal from a satellite near the observer's zenith (high satellite elevation). Thus, the longer the signal is in the ionosphere, the greater the ionosphere's effect on it.

4.2 THE PROPOSED CNN FOR TEC MODELLING

4.2.1 Seq2seq temporal 1D CNN regression model for TEC prediction

At first, we model the unknown function $f(\cdot)$ through a feed-forward neural network. Assuming L hidden neurons and a linear output layer, the estimate $vtec^s$ every time, is given by [33]:

$$vtec^{s}(t) = \mathbf{u}^{T}(t) \cdot \mathbf{v} \tag{4.1}$$

$$\mathbf{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} u_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ u_L(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tanh(\mathbf{w}_1^T \cdot \mathbf{x}(t)) \\ \vdots \\ \tanh(\mathbf{w}_L^T \cdot \mathbf{x}(t)) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.2)

Site	${f Latitude^\circ}$	${f Longitude}^\circ$	Country
bor1	52.27695	17.07345	Poland
ganp	49.03471	20.32293	Slovakia
graz	47.06713	15.49348	Austria
leij	51.35398	12.37410	Germany
pots	52.37929	13.06609	Germany
wtzz	49.14421	12.87890	Germany

Table 4.1 The stations' information	(names, location	(longitude and	latitude) and	l country)	for six
selected sites of the IGS network.					



Fig. 4.1 Temporal CNN network architecture.

Table 4.2 A comparative table that summarizes the performance achieved by the CONV1D network in predicting the VTEC (TECU) values over the site stations (bor1, ganp, graz, leij, pots and wtzz).

Site		bor1				ganp				graz		
Metric	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r
CONV1D	0.91	0.02	2.41	1.09	0.93	0.06	2.21	1.08	0.88	0.01	2.25	1.03
LSTM	0.98	0.04	3.05	1.18	1.24	0.02	2.88	1.45	1.09	0.03	2.76	1.26
ARMA	1.41	0.01	3.76	1.76	1.63	0.02	3.94	2.03	1.70	0.04	3.85	2.03
\mathbf{AR}	1.91	0.04	4.40	2.29	1.85	0.02	4.28	2.25	1.77	0.02	3.98	2.13
Site		leij				\mathbf{pots}				wtzz		
Metric	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r	\overline{mae}_r	\overline{min}_r	\overline{max}_r	\overline{rmse}_r
CONV1D	0.71	0.02	2.07	0.88	0.84	0.02	2.39	1.03	0.83	0.03	2.25	0.99
LSTM	0.93	0.02	2.66	1.14	1.19	0.01	3.52	1.42	1.03	0.04	2.68	1.23
ARMA	1.63	0.01	3.96	1.98	1.71	0.01	4.12	2.07	1.54	0.01	3.78	1.91
ΔR	1.87	0.01	1 22	2 22	1.04	0.01	1 22	2 30	1 70	0.01	4 10	9.15

 $tanh(\cdot)$ is the hyperbolic tangent, x(t) is the input vector (see Equation 11), $w_i, i = 1, \ldots, L$, are the weights connect the input vector $\mathbf{x}(t)$, with the i-th hidden neuron. The term u(t) gathers the outputs of all L hidden neurons u_i with values ranging between -1 and 1. Similarly, \mathbf{v} -vector (see Equation 12) encloses weights that connect the hidden neurons with the output neuron.

Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) is a more complex variant than a simple feed forward neural network, has its origins in the field of computer vision, but nowadays, due to its popularity, is spread in a wide range of applications. Its name is derived from the type of hidden layers that it consists of. Typically, the hidden layers of a CNN consist of convolutional layers, pooling layers, fully connected layers, and normalization layers. In case of one-dimensional convolutional neural networks, the major advantage is the model's low computational complexity since the only operation with a significant cost is a sequence of 1D convolutions which are weighted sums of two 1D arrays. For a given layer l, each (hidden or output) unit z_k^l in such a network, computes a function given by:

$$z_k^l = f(b_k^l + \sum_{j=1}^{l-1} (w_{kj}^{l-1}, s_j^{l-1}))$$
(4.3)

where x_k^l is defined as the output/hidden unit, b_k^l is defined as the bias of the k^{th} neuron at layer l-1, s_j^{l-1} is the output of the j^{th} neuron at layer l-1, w_{kj}^{l-1} is the kernel from the j^{th} neuron at layer l-1 to the k^{th} neuron at layer l.

4.2.2 The CNN network configuration for TEC modelling

As illustrated in Figure 4.1, our proposed network configuration consists of two convolutional layers. The first convolutional layer has 60 filters of height 5 and the second one 120 filters of the same size. Then, a layer that flattens the output of convolutional neural network layer follows. Dense layer assigns a linear operation in which the input of the previous layer is connected to the output by a weight and is followed by a non-linear activation function. In our case, the activation function is the hyperbolic tangent function. For the training, the number of epochs is selected 600. The optimizer is the Adam and the loss function is the mean squared error.

4.3 EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

4.3.1 Dataset

The experimental setup consists of a selected small group of permanent GNSS stations of the global network of International GNSS Service (IGS). The time granularity of the data is 30s. Table 4.1 shows the position of the selected ground receiver IGS stations [82], across central Europe in close proximity to each other.

The GAMP software [72], a secondary development software based on RTKLIB [83] has been used for precise point positioning. We have used the uncombined PPP (UPPP) ionosphere constraint model to estimate the slant TEC values as unknown parameters. The observation and navigation files, the precise orbit and clock information, the antenna phase centre corrections for both receivers

network and satellites, as well as ocean tide loading coefficients and the differential code biases are processed using the GAMP software in static PPP mode.

4.3.2 Performance Evaluation

Table 4.2 provides comparative results for the proposed CONV1D method and (i) the recurrent LSTM (Long Short-term Memory) network [54], (ii) the AR model (Autoregressive) and (iii) the ARMA model (Autoregressive moving Average) model. AR and ARMA models are traditional stocha-stic models used for timeseries modeling, while recurrent neural networks allow previous outputs to be used as inputs for the next step, enhancing their recurrent character and their ability to successfully deal with sequential data. For each individual PRN, we compute the absolute difference between the ground truth $\widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i}$ value, as computed using the GAMP software with PPP processing, and the respective VTEC values as being estimated from our Conv1d model $vtec_{r,t}^{s_i}$. Thus, every epoch t, the absolute difference is $|vtec_{r,t}^{s_i} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i}|$. The metrics for comparison where selected to be:

(i) the mean absolute error \overline{mae}_r , which is the average value of the mean absolute errors $MAE_r^{s_i}$ per individual PRN s_i ,

$$\overline{mae}_{r} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} MAE_{r}^{s_{i}} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} \left(\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} \left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_{i}} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_{i}} \right|}{T} \right)$$
(4.4)

(ii) \overline{min}_r is the average of all s_i minimum difference values per station,

$$\overline{min}_{r} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} (\min_{\forall t \in T} \left(\left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_{i}} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_{i}} \right| \right) \right)$$

$$(4.5)$$

(iii) in accordance to \overline{min}_r metric, \overline{max}_r is the average of all s_i maximum differences values per station, and

$$\overline{max}_r = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} (\max_{\forall t \in T} (\left| vtec_{r,t}^{s_i} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_i} \right|))$$
(4.6)

(iv) \overline{rmse}_r is the average of s_i root mean squared error $RMSE_r^{s_i}$ of all PRNs (satellites) per station.

$$\overline{rmse}_{r} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} RMSE_{r}^{s_{i}} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_{i}=1}^{S} \left(\sqrt{\frac{1}{T-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} (vtec_{r,t}^{s_{i}} - \widehat{vtec}_{r,t}^{s_{i}})^{2}} \right)$$
(4.7)

The \overline{mae}_r error ranges between 0.71 and 0.91 for our proposed CONV1D method, which is better than 1 TECU. As regards the recurrent LSTM method, the \overline{mae}_r error is 0.93 to 1.24 TECU, while for the autoregressive methods, the respective mean absolute error is greater than 1.5 TECU. The \overline{rmse}_r values for CONV1D are between 0.88 and 1.09, while in the other methods used for comparison, the results shown values greater than 1TECU. As derived from the results, CONV1D extracts the temporal information and models successfully the TEC sequential problem.

Figure 4.2 shows the estimated TEC timeseries for each individual PRN for bor1 station for a single day of observations. Satellites with PRNs G01, G08, G11, G17 and G27 have the best





Fig. 4.2 Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN for bor1 station.

performance, while G16 and G23 show the worst one. Overall, as noticed, the predicted values are close to the estimated ones and the CONV1D network can successfully model TEC values per PRN.

Figure 4.3 shows the MAE results for two different test sets. Here, we notice that the proposed results with the CONV1D method achieve slightly better performance than the traditional recurrent networks used for timeseries modelling.

Figure 4.4 illustrates the mean VTEC values at every site, as obtained from NeQuick, IRI2001 and GIM TEC estimates compared to the ground truth values (GRD) and CONV1D TEC predictions, during the day. The maximum VTEC values appeared the time duration between 8:00 and 12:00 A.M. In most cases, the CONV1D values are similar to those of GPS TEC derived values. This is as expected, because the CONV1D model has been trained using as training set these values. However, it is noted that our model underestimates VTEC values, showing lower values than those of GPS TEC. GIM-aided TEC values are also close to CONV1D derived TEC values, which is also expected as the processing PPP strategy uses GIM TEC values for input (ionosphere constrained model). Finally, NeQuick and IRI2001 values show wider variability during the day with higher maximum and lower minimum values, compared those of GIM and GPS TEC methods.



Fig. 4.3 Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN.



Fig. 4.4 Conv1d versus ground truth per satellite PRN.

4.4 CONCLUSION

With regard to the adoption of a suitable CNN architecture, a non-linear autoregressive network based on convolutions for TEC modelling is proposed. Temporal convolutional neural networks can successfully model sequential data. In contrast to the recurrent neural networks that traditionally have been used for timeseries modelling, our CONV1D method except for higher accuracy, present lower complexity since the only operation with a significant cost is a sequence of 1D convolutions which are weighted sums of two 1D arrays. The aim of the proposed model, is to define the characteristics of the GNSS ionospheric delays, especially at mid-latitudes, using multiple frequency observations and data from multiple PRNs. Here, we aim at models that apply accurate ionosphere TEC corrections, to increase the accuracy and convergence time for single station and single frequency techniques. propose an efficient model for constructing dynamic changing, regional TEC models. The experimental results indicate that mean absolute error ranges between 0.71 and 0.91 for the CONV1D method, which means that the error is better than 1 TECU.

Chapter 5

The implementation of a hybrid Deep learning scheme (CNN+GRU) for TEC modeling

Here we introduce a new *a spatio-temporal* hybrid deep learning paradigm for TEC modelling. The proposed method combines two deep learning structures; *a Convolutional Neural Network* and a *Gated Recurrent Unit* [89]. These two structures are combined together, forming a common trainable model.

TEC is characterized by high complexity and it is *space- and time-* varying. In order to capture the spatio-temporal behaviour of TEC, in our proposed model, measurements of every satellite visible from the observing location (ground station) are taken into account. This means that the model's input data form a spatial-temporal 3D tensor. The tensor consists of several timeseries data corresponding to different single satellite visible from the station over a time window period. Earth's ionosphere shows marked variations with latitude, longitude, universal time, season, solar and geomagnetic activity. Thus, our proposed model feeds all these variables as inputs to the model and relates them under a non-linear relationship.

The CNN captures the spatial variability of the TEC values assigning different learnable weights to the following GRU structure, taking into account all the visible timeseries data from a ground station. The main operational unit of a CNN architecture is the convolutional kernels, units able to model with high efficiency spatial signal properties under complex non-linear relationships [36]. In other words, the purpose of the CNN is to appropriately adjust the model weights to better capture the particularities of each station.

On the other hand, the GRU units model the temporal variability of the ionosphere variability. GRUs are similar deep learning structures with LSTM, requiring, however, fewer parameters. Therefore, they retain the temporal dependent capabilities of the LSTM, but, they advance in terms of complexity (and therefore convergence) as well as the need of smaller training (annotated) data sets. For this reason, GRUs units have been selected for modeling the temporal ionospheric variability. In other words, our model leverages the capability of the CNNs to optimally approximate



Fig. 5.1 Stacked RNN-based structures for TEC prediction.

the spatial particularities of each station, based on a set of weights, along with GRUs structures able to learn the temporal dependencies of the TEC values.

The chapter is structured as follows: Section 5.1 describes the proposed spatio-temporal deep learning TEC model. Section 5.2 describes the proposed model architecture that combines convolutional and recurrent layers together in an optimal structure. In Section 5.3, an extensive experimental evaluation of the discussed methods is provided, while Section 5.4 closes the chapter with a summary of findings.

5.1 Sequence-to-Sequence Spatio-temporal AI for TEC modeling

As we have previously stated, a spatio-temporal deep learning model is used, here, to model the ionospheric variability. The proposed deep learning model consists of a convolutional layer (see Section 5.1.1) and stacked GRU recurrent layers (see Section 5.1.2).

5.1.1 Spatial Variability Modeling: The Convolutional Neural Network Layer

The purpose of the convolutional layer is to encode the spatial variability of the input signals by assigning different weights to the model depending on the station latitude. In other words, the output of the convolutional layer is to transform the input signals into a vector representation more suitable for TEC modeling. The weights of the convolutional layer are learnable during the training phase and each input contributes in a different way to the model, for different ground stations. Let us denote as \mathcal{I}_{input} the input sequence of data which are feeding to the convolutional layer. Then, the CNN transforms these inputs \mathcal{I}_{input} to an encoded vector $f_{\mathcal{M}}$ more suitable for TEC modeling.


Fig. 5.2 The proposed model CNN-GRU architecture, consisting of two parts; the Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) for spatial variability modeling and the Gated Recurrent Unit (GRU) for temporal variability modeling.

Options	Settings
Constellation	GPS
Positioning mode	static PPP
Frequencies	L1, L2
Sampling rate	$1 \min$
Elevation mask	7°
Differential code bias (DCB)	MGEX DCB products for PPP
Receiver and Satellite antenna	corrected with igs14.atx
Satellite orbits and clock offsets	Wuhan University products
Phase wind-up	corrected
Sagnac effect, relativistic effect	corrected with IGS absolute
Station reference coordinates	IGS SINEX solutions

Table 5.1 Static PPP	experimental	setup.
----------------------	--------------	--------

Table 5.2 The selected sites from the IGS network.

Site	Latitude ($^{\circ}$)	Longitude ($^{\circ}$)	Height (m)	Country
graz	47.067	15.493	538.3	Austria
iqal	63.755	-68.510	91.7	Canada
mal2	-2.996	40.194	0.0	Uganda
qaq1	60.715	-46.047	110.4	Greenland
ramo	30.597	34.763	893.1	Israel
tixi	71.634	128.866	46.9	Russia

$$f_M \sim Conv_{\mathcal{M}} \left(\mathcal{I}_{input} \right)$$
with
$$\mathcal{I}_{input}(t) = \left[x_{\phi} \, x_{\lambda} \, x_{ssn} \, x_{Dst} \, x_{Ap} \, x_{F10_7} \, x_{Kp} \, x_{dt} \right]^T$$
(5.1)

Then, the encoded vector f_M feeds the GRU structure. The convolutional layer architecture and its position with respect to the whole deep learning model is shown in Fig. 5.2.

5.1.2 Temporal Variability Modeling: The Gated Recurrent Unit Layer

As we have previously stated, GRU are simpler forms of LSTM models having less gates than the LSTM memory cell [90]. In addition, the LSTM networks are deep learning extensions of RNNs model, better modeling the non-linear attributes of a time series signal [43]. Therefore, before describing the GRU unit used for modeling the temporal variability of TEC, we discuss the structure of the Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) and their stacked version and Long-Short Term Memory (LSTM) networks

A stacked recurrent model is an extension to the traditional one consisting of several recurrent layers one stacked over the other [91]. This is presented in Fig. 5.1. A stacked model has two main types of operation; *the in-depth* and *the temporal operation*. The in-depth operation implies that the response of one layer is propagated as input to the next layer. Instead, the temporal operation assumes that inputs at previous time instances trigger the current unit. The stacked approach adopted here, is applied for all recurrent structures, that is, the RNN, the LSTM and its bi-directional mode, and the GRU.

Stacked Recurrent Neural Networks

Recurrent models are powerful tools for timeseries modeling. The main operational unit of an RNN is an artificial neuron, approximating a non-linear operation of an inner product of the network weights (parameters) and output responses of other neurons or model input vectors. The difference of an RNN with a traditional neural network model is that, in an RNN, each neuron is also triggered from the response of other neurons at previous time instances, allowing modeling of temporal dependencies. These neurons are also called hidden states since they are located between the input vector and the output of the model. In particular, the response of an artificial neuron is given by

$$h^{l}(t) = tanh(\mathbf{W}_{l}^{T}h^{l}(t-1) + \mathbf{U}_{l}^{T}h^{l-1}(t)), \ l > 1$$
(5.2)

where $tanh(\cdot)$ is the hyperbolic tangent function, referring to the non-linear operational unit of a single neuron of the RNN. Variables **W** and **U** are the learnable weight parameters of the model. The $h^{l}(t)$ is the response of a neuron at *l*-th level of the network at a time instance *t*. It should be mentioned the $h^{0}(t) \equiv f_{M}$ coincides with the output response of the convolutional layer, that is the vector f_{M} of Eq. (9.9), instead of the previous hidden state $h^{l-1}(t)$.

Once the top-level hidden state is computed, the estimate of the output \widehat{vtec}^s is obtained using (see Fig. 5.1)

Table 5.3 Performance metrics (mae, mse, min and max) for VTEC modeling for six selected stations (graz, iqal, mal2, qaq1, ramo, tixi) among the RNN -based methods as well as two other commonly used methods (ARMA, AR) for 9 October 2018. mae and mse metrics are the average values of the individual PRNs metrics in every station, whereas min and max are the minimum and maximum mae values observed for the individual PRNs. The best values are presented in bold.

	graz					iqal				mal2			
	mae	\mathbf{mse}	min	max	mae	mse	min	max	mae	\mathbf{mse}	min	max	
proposed	0.714	0.903	0.290	1.961	0.971	1.591	0.390	1.722	1.814	5.878	0.472	3.301	
BILSTM [42]	0.824	1.083	0.276	1.968	1.096	2.118	0.457	2.998	2.175	7.814	0.487	3.986	
LSTM [68], [43]	0.836	1.304	0.421	1.745	0.940	1.594	0.523	2.411	2.166	8.874	0.598	4.633	
RNN [69]	0.965	1.531	0.295	1.772	1.023	1.687	0.446	1.913	1.758	5.867	0.702	3.587	
ARMA [92]	2.660	13.278	1.482	3.917	2.419	9.773	1.269	3.279	6.767	70.930	3.513	14.071	
AR [92]	2.772	14.358	1.484	4.391	2.501	10.733	1.626	3.254	4.713	26.280	3.241	12.592	
		qa	q1			rai	mo			tixi			
	mae	mse	min	max	mae	mse	min	max	mae	\mathbf{mse}	min	max	
proposed	0.779	1.072	0.221	1.979	1.093	2.066	0.339	2.506	0.891	1.335	0.442	1.605	
BILSTM [42]	1.123	1.839	0.317	2.200	1.393	3.317	0.358	3.889	0.912	1.431	0.494	2.049	
LSTM [68], [43]	1.022	1.775	0.225	3.441	1.247	2.807	0.392	3.256	0.913	1.423	0.480	1.904	
RNN [69]	0.889	1.213	0.235	1.496	1.461	3.414	0.541	4.266	1.141	2.043	0.423	2.673	
ARMA [92]	2.942	13.571	2.078	4.070	5.914	56.487	4.032	7.588	1.919	7.242	1.392	2.877	
AR /92/	2.995	14.612	1.883	4.100	5.671	56.737	3.195	8.384	2.150	8.641	1.021	2.637	



Fig. 5.3 Q-Q plots for the 'iqal' station, between the ground truth and the other deep learning techniques used for comparison.

$$\widehat{vtec}^s(t) = tanh(\mathbf{V}^T h^l(t)) \tag{5.3}$$

where \mathbf{V} is a matrix corresponding to the the output learnable parameters (weights) of the model.

The LSTM Structure

LSTM is a special kind of the traditional RNN structure, where each node in the hidden layer is replaced by a more complex structure, called memory cell, instead of RNN's single neuron [40]. The core structure of a single memory cell is presented in Fig. 1. The memory cell contains three different components: (i) the forget gate f(t), (ii) the input gate i(t), (iii) the cell candidate g(t)and (iii) the output gate o(t). For each component, a non-linear relation to the inner product between the input vectors and respective weights is applied during the training process. In some of the components the sigmoid function $\sigma(\cdot)$ is applied, while in others the hyperbolic tangent function $tanh(\cdot)$ is used. Forget gate f(t) keeps unnecessary information out of memory cell, thus separating the worth-remembering information from the useless one [81]. Input gate i(t) regulates whether the information is relevant enough to be applied in future steps for the accurate estimation of TEC values. Cell candidate g(t) activates appropriately the respective state (true or false output from the tanh activation). Output gate o(t) decides if the response of the current memory cell is "significant enough" to contribute to the next cell.

Regarding stacked LSTMs, the additional LSTM layers can recombine the learned representation from prior layers and create new representations at high levels of abstraction. Stacked LSTMs or Deep LSTMs were introduced by [76] in their application of LSTMs to speech recognition, beating a benchmark on a challenging standard problem.

$$\begin{bmatrix} i^{l}(t) \\ f^{l}(t) \\ o^{l}(t) \\ g^{l}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \\ \sigma \\ \sigma \\ \tanh \end{bmatrix} W_{l} \begin{bmatrix} h^{l}(t-1) \\ h^{l-1}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} b_{i}^{l} \\ b_{f}^{l} \\ b_{o}^{l} \\ b_{g}^{l} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.4)

when l = 1, the state is computed using the encoded vector f_M (see Section 5.1.1) instead of $h^{l-1}(t)$. The cell state at time step t is given by

$$c^{l}(t) = f^{l}(t) \odot c^{l}(t-1) + i^{l}(t) \odot g^{l}(t)$$
(5.5)

where \odot denotes the Hadamard product (element-wise multiplication of vectors).

The hidden state at time step t is given by

$$h^{l}(t) = o^{l}(t) \odot \sigma(c^{l}(t)) \tag{5.6}$$

where σ denotes the state activation function.

The Bidirectional LSTM

The stacked bidirectional LSTM has a similar structure with the LSTM model with the difference that it allows bi-directional data processing. Therefore, the operational units of a bi-directional LSTM model is defined by two parts; the *forward* and the *backward* part. As far as the forward part is concerned we have the following equations

$$\underline{c}^{l}(t) = \underline{f}^{l}(t) \odot \underline{c}^{l}(t+1) + \underline{i}^{l}(t) \odot \underline{g}^{l}(t)$$
(5.7)

$$\underline{h}^{l}(t) = \underline{o}^{l}(t) \odot \sigma(\underline{c}^{l}(t))$$
(5.8)

and backward:

$$\underline{c}^{l}(t) = \underbrace{f^{l}(t)}_{\leftarrow} \odot \underbrace{c^{l}(t-1)}_{\leftarrow} + \underbrace{i^{l}(t)}_{\leftarrow} \odot \underbrace{g^{l}(t)}_{\leftarrow}$$
(5.9)

$$\underline{h}^{l}(t) = \underline{o}^{l}(t) \odot \sigma(\underline{c}^{l}(t))$$
(5.10)

The stacked GRU architecture

The GRU is simpler form of the LSTM unit, having two control gates; the *reset* gate $r^{l}(t)$ and the *update* gate $u^{l}(t)$ (see Fig. 1). The reset gate $r^{l}(t)$ is responsible for determining how much of information to forget. The update gate $u^{l}(t)$ is responsible for determining the worth-remembering information of the previous states that should be forwarded to the next state. Therefore, the gates $r^{l}(t)$ and $u^{l}(t)$ are related with the hidden states $h^{l}(t)$ and $h^{l}(t-1)$ as follows

$$\begin{bmatrix} u^{l}(t) \\ r^{l}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \\ \sigma \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{W}_{l} \begin{bmatrix} h^{l}(t-1) \\ h^{l-1}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} b_{u}^{l} \\ b_{r}^{l} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.11)

In Eq. (9.6) σ is the sigmoid function and b_u^1 , b_r^1 are the respective biases of each component for the GRU cell. Variables **W** and **U** are the transition matrices of the *l*-th GRU.

In stacked GRUs configuration a recursive approach is considered as regards the operation of each GRU cell. A new memory state, denoted as $\tilde{h}^{l}(t)$, acts as the consolidation of the hidden state of the previous layer $h^{l-1}(t)$ and the previous hidden state $h^{l}(t-1)$ of the current layer. The consolidated hidden state $\tilde{h}^{l}(t)$ is given by

$$\tilde{h}^{l}(t) = \tanh\left(r^{l}(t)\mathbf{U}h^{l}(t-1) + \mathbf{W}h^{l-1}(t)\right)$$
(5.12)

In Eq. (9.7) function $tanh(\cdot)$ refers to the hyperbolic tangent relationship. Eq. (9.7) means that the consolidated state is related with the output of the hidden state $h^l(t-1)$ at the time instance t-1 and the output of the previous hidden layer $h^{l-1}(t)$ at the time instance t. Using the values of the consolidated state $\tilde{h}^l(t)$ and the values of the update gate $u^l(t)$, the value of the hidden state of the *l*-th GRU element is estimated

$$h^{l}(t) = \left(1 - u^{l}(t)\right)\tilde{h}^{l}(t) + u^{l}(t)h^{l}(t-1)$$
(5.13)

In more detail, the GRU related above mentioned operations are illustrated in Fig. 1.

5.2 The Proposed CNN-GRU Architecture for VTEC Modeling

5.2.1 Implementation Details

Fig.2 illustrates the CNN-GRU model structure. The network configuration setup consists of: (i) the input layer, (ii) a one-dimensional convolutional layer, (iii) two stacked recurrent GRU layers and (iii) two dense layers (Fig. 2). The GRU structure accepts a 3D tensor input. The number of kernels of the convolutional layer is 60 with size 5. The first GRU layer consists of 90 filters with size 1x5, while the second layer consists of 180 filters with the same size. The output is the sequence of VTEC values.



Fig. 5.4 Loss curve per RNN-based method (GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN) for training and validation set for ramo station.

5.2.2 Evaluation Metrics

Here, we present the metrics used for model evaluation and comparisons with other liner and non-linear approximators.

For each satellite s_i , visible in ground station, a sequence of VTEC values is produced using the proposed CNN-GRU deep learning model. Then, we compute the absolute difference between the ground truth $vtec^{s_i}(t)$ value, as obtained from the GAMP software, and the estimated from our model $\hat{vtec}_r^{s_i}(t)$, that is $dvtec^{s_i}(t) = |vtec^{s_i}(t) - \hat{vtec}^{s_i}(t)|$, for a time instance t. Based on the values of $dvtec^{s_i}(t)$ the following metrics are considered:

$$mae = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} mae^{s_i} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} \left(\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} dvtec^{s_i}(t)}{T} \right)$$
(5.14)

$$mse = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} mse^{s_i} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} \left(\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} [dvtec^{s_i}(t)]^2}{T-1} \right)$$
(5.15)

$$min = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} \min_{\forall t \in T} dvtec^{s_i}(t)$$
(5.16)

$$max = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{s_i=1}^{S} \max_{\forall t \in T} dvtec^{s_i}(t)$$
(5.17)

In the aforementioned equations, i) mae refers to mean absolute error for all satellite s_i per ground station, ii) mse to the respective mean square error and iii) min (max) to the average minimum (maximum) of $dvtec^{s_i}(t)$ for all visible satellites. Variable T denotes the time period over which the evaluation takes place.

Another evaluation metric used here, is the percentiles values of (50th, 68th, 95th) of the dvtec(t) error distribution per ground station. The error dvtec(t) = |vtec(t) - vtec(t)| is defined as the absolute different between the estimated VTEC value and the ground truth for a station. An 95th percentile quantity means the value that 95% of the VTEC errors are contained, after having

	percentile error (TECU)									
		graz			iqal					
	50%	65%	98%	50%	65%	98%				
proposed	0.90	1.34	2.70	0.45	5 0.73	1.81				
BILSTM	1.03	1.55	2.69	0.48	8 0.74	1.65				
LSTM	1.12	1.45	2.91	0.44	4 0.73	1.82				
RNN	1.00	1.55	2.86	0.59	0.95	2.61				
		mal2			qaq1					
	50%	65%	98%	50%	65%	98%				
proposed	1.62	2.48	3.88	0.87	7 1.50	2.42				
BILSTM	1.54	2.25	4.66	1.17	7 1.56	2.35				
LSTM	1.93	2.52	4.69	1.00) 1.43	2.50				
RNN	1.21	1.66	4.38	0.85	5 1.28	3.09				
		ramo			tixi					
	50%	65%	98%	50%	65%	98%				
proposed	0.87	1.26	3.04	0.67	7 0.97	1.88				
BILSTM	1.09	1.67	3.56	0.77	7 1.13	2.47				
LSTM	0.91	1.50	3.57	0.68	8 1.18	2.53				
RNN	0.88	1.45	3.34	0.86	5 1.28	2.62				

Table 5.4 The 50,65 $\,$ and 98% percentile scores, for the evaluation of the different RNN-based networks with the proposed one.

Table 5.5 Perform	nance metric mae	values for the tr	aining and [•]	validation sets	and for the	six stations
among the RNN	-based methods	(GRU, BILSTM	I, LSTM an	d RNN).		

	graz mae		graz iqal			mal2		qaq1		rai	no	${f tixi}$	
			mae		mae		mae		mae		mae		
	train	val	train	val.	train	val.	train	val	train	val.	train	val.	
proposed	0.0167	0.0177	0.0206	0.0213	0.0164	0.0166	0.0239	0.0250	0.0115	0.0135	0.0298	0.0240	
BILSTM	0.0168	0.0190	0.0213	0.0240	0.0185	0.0206	0.0252	0.0270	0.0115	0.0129	0.0299	0.0317	
LSTM	0.0175	0.0189	0.0217	0.0243	0.0191	0.0201	0.0254	0.0268	0.0118	0.0135	0.0301	0.0303	
RNN	0.0184	0.0214	0.0235	0.0295	0.0204	0.0241	0.0258	0.0281	0.0137	0.0157	0.0319	0.0364	

sorted all errors in ascending order. Reflecting the error by percentiles is better than by simple mean absolute error.

5.3 Experimental Evaluation

The experimental set up covers various aspects of the ionosphere phenomenon, in order to accurately evaluate the performance of our proposed model. Thus, in our experimental evaluation, we have included stations installed in various latitudes and longitudes at worldwide level (see Table 5.2). Also, we have included data from different years ranging from 2014 to 2018 to create robust training, validation and test sets. We have chosen different years under different solar and geomagnetic activity and also, we have tested different months, in order to evaluate our algorithm under different weather and seasonal conditions.

We highlight that our proposed model is not a "pure" GRU model but a hybrid model comprising of convolutional and stacked recurrent GRU layers; *the proposed spatio-temporal deep learning paradigm.* We experimentally validate the superiority of the proposed CNN-GRU model for TEC modeling in comparison to other deep learning networks (LSTM [68], [43], BILSTM [42] and RNN [69] models), as well as state of the art techniques for TEC modeling (AR [92] and ARMA [92] models). Also the proposed method is compared with the conventional GIM and IRI2016 global ionosphere models.

5.3.1 Data Pre-processing and Experiment Setup

This section describes the pre-processing approach used to extract the recurrent model inputs and outputs, based on observables from the global IGS (International GNSS Service) network of permanent GNSS stations. The necessary observation, navigation, precise orbit and clock, IGS ANTEX (igs14.atx), IGS SINEX, ocean tide loading coefficients, DCBs are fed into the GAMP software for static PPP processing (see Table 5.1). As described in Section 2.3, the GNSS observations are pre-processed to estimate the VTEC values. GNSS observables for the years 2014 to 2018 were processed with 1 min data granularity, for the selected ground stations (see Table 5.2).

As far as the deep learning models are concerned, they have been trained and deployed using the Python Tensorflow and Keras libraries. The proposed CNN-GRU as well as the compared deep learning models have been trained using the adaptive moment estimation optimization algorithm (ADAM) [93] with a learning rate of 10^{-4} . The model weights are updated using a mini-batch size of 28 samples at each training iteration. We set to 200 the maximum number of epochs for training, that is, the maximum number of training cycles of the network. In our experiments, we use a dataset of the years 2014 to 2018 (a five year dataset). This dataset is divided into three subsets; the Training, the Validation and the Test Set. The training set is used for the estimation of the model parameters (weights) during the learning process. The validation set assesses the performance of the model during the learning process on a set different than the one used for training to avoid overfitting. Finally, the test set evaluates the model on data that have not used during training. In our experiments, the training set consists of 70% of the total available data, while both the validation and the test sets each consists of the remaining 15% of the total data.



Fig. 5.5 Vertical TEC for individual PRNs (unique pseudo-random noise that each GPS satellite transmits) between the GPS ground truth values and GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN methods in various hours two different days: a day of low ionospheric activity (3/9) and a day of high ionospheric activity (11/9). The figure illustrates VTEC values estimated per satellite from a low-latitude station('mal2') and a mid-latitude station ('graz') and a high-latitude station ('tixi').

Both, training and validation sets cover the period between the years 2014 to mid-2018. Data from the second half of 2018 are used as test data.

The AR and ARMA models [92] are implemented in Python using the statsmodels library. The order of the autoregressive part (AR) for both AR and ARMA is selected to be 60, while the order of the moving average (MA) part equals 5 in case of the ARMA model.

5.3.2 Performance Evaluation and Comparison

In this section, we compare the various learning architectures to model the temporal dynamics of the ionospheric total electron content (TEC). In particular, we implement and evaluate the traditional RNN, the unidirectional LSTM, the bidirectional LSTM (BILSTM) and the proposed CNN-GRU deep learning model (see Section 5.1). We also compare our model performance against Table 5.6 Comparison among different RNN -based methods architecture (GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN) characteristics and parameters (trainable parameters and processing time).

	Methods							
	proposed	BILSTM	\mathbf{LSTM}	RNN				
Trainable Parameters (num.)	112493	379485	149453	38573				
Epochs	200	200	200	200				
Training Time (min)	67	280	104	23				

linear regressors of AR and ARMA. The comparison is carried out in terms of performance accuracy and computational efficiency.

Table 5.3 shows the performance evaluation metrics, as described in Section 5.2.2, of (i) mean absolute error (mae) in TEC units (TECU), (ii) mean squared error (mse) in $TECU^2$ and (iii) minimum (min) and maximum (max) TEC values again in TECU. The results in Table 5.3 have been calculated for the six stations (see Table 5.2) and a randomly selected testing period of a whole day (the 9th of October 2018). In this table, we have also depicted the performance of the four compared non-linear architectures (i.e., the proposed CNN-GRU, the BILSTM, the LSTM and the RNN) along with the traditional AR and ARMA models. As is observed, the proposed CNN-GRU model has the best performance, in most cases, with a mae value between the interval [0.7-1.8]. On the other hand, the worst performance is for the AR and ARMA linear models with a mae value between [2.2-5.7]. Regarding the compared deep learning models, the mae values are as follows: RNN lies in [0.9-1.8], LSTM in [0.8-2.2], BILSTM in [0.8-2.2]. The same conclusions are drawn for the other evaluation metrics.

Table 5.5 illustrates the average mae error in TECU over the six stations for the training and validation sets. The results have been obtained for all the non-linear models. In most cases, the proposed CNN-GRU model has better performance than the other methods. In particular, from Table 5.5, CNN-GRU achieves an average mae of 1.98% for training set and 1.97% for the validation set. The other non-linear models have an average mae of: BILSTM 2.05% (training set) and 2.25% (validation set), LSTM 2.09% (training set) and 2.23% (validation set), RNN 2.23% (training set) and 2.59% (validation set). This means that the proposed CNN-GRU model has an improvement of 11.07% and 23.9% with respect to the conventional RNN architecture in the training and validation set respectively. In addition, the proposed CNN-GRU model achieves an improvement of 3,69% and 12.65% with respect to the BILSTM model for the training and validation set. It should be mentioned that the improvement in the validation set is more significant than the one of the training set, since the latter refers to data that they have not be used during training.

Fig. 5.3 illustrates the Quantile-Quantile (Q-Q) plots for the 'iqal' station, between the ground truth and the evaluated deep learning architectures. In case of a perfect performance, the points of the Q-Q plot will lie on the line y = x (the red line in Fig. 5.3). The closer the data points are to the red line, the better is the model accuracy. Thus, the proposed CNN-GRU method has better performance compared the other ones, since the blue points are closer to the red line. We also observe that higher *vtec* values are more challenging to be accurately modelled. However, again, the proposed CNN-GRU model achieves better performance for these high *vtec* values compared to the other models.

Table 5.4 illustrates the 50%, 65% and 98% percentile scores for the proposed and the compared non-linear models. The proposed model of the 'graz', 'iqal' and 'tixi' ground stations have the best performance, whereas the model of the 'mal2' ground station present the worst one. Again, the proposed CNN-GRU model has better performance against the compared architectures. Based on the values of Table 5.4, we have concluded that the proposed CNN-GRU model, in case of 98% percentile, achieves an improvement of 16,77% with respect to the RNN architecture and of 12.71% and 9.49% with respect to the LSTM and BILSTM model respectively. This means that the proposed CNN-GRU modeling error are not as large as in case of the compared models.

Processing time in minutes and the number of the required trainable parameters per method are listed in Table 5.6. As is observed, the most efficient is the RNN architecture which requires 23min (for 200 training epochs), while the heaviest is the BILSTM model needing 280 min (for the same 200 epochs). The proposed CNN-GRU architecture requires 67 min for its training (again for 200 epochs).

The above mentioned processing time refer to the training phase of the models. It should be mentioned that training is carried out once. After model training is completed and the model parameters (weights) have been estimated, the time needed for modelling the TEC values is negligible. In particular, our trained CNN-GRU model requires 0.96 sec to model the TEC values of over a period of a half year (test dataset-the second half of 2018).

Fig. 5.4 illustrates the training and validation learning curves, as computed for four evaluated models, for the 'ramo' station. As is observed, all models convergences to an acceptable mae error after 200 training epochs.

5.3.3 Performance Evaluation for Stations at Different Latitudes and Days of Different Ionosphere Activity

Fig. 5.5 illustrates the VTEC values versus time for the four evaluated non-linear models (CNN-GRU, LSTM, BILSTM, and RNN) at three different ground stations. In this figure, we also depict the ground truth data as a dashed line. The satellites selected in this figure are GNSS visible from the sites: 'graz' (mid-latitude), 'mal2' (near the equator), 'tixi' (aurora region). Also, the satellites depicted in this figure have been selected in various time intervals during the day from each site, focusing more where the highest values of the ionospheric variability are observed. For each station/site, two days are presented in this figure: (i) September the 3rd, which is a day with low ionospheric activity and (ii) September the 11th, in which high ionosphere activity is observed. For these two days, the values of Dst and F10.7 parameters are illustrated in the up-left diagram of Fig. 5.6. As observed from this figure, the 11th of September is a day of increased solar activity. On the contrary, the 3rd of September is a day with normal solar and geomagnetic conditions. As expected the model performance on 3/9 is slightly better in contrast to predictions during the of 11/9 in which abnormal ionosphere variability is observed [see Fig. 5.5]. However, the model catches the trend of the line in both cases. Also, the model for the 'graz' mid-latitude station, shows better performance than the respective model of 'tixi' station. Overall, what is immediately noticeable in this figure is the CNN-GRU model ability to adequately estimate VTEC values for every satellite separately.



Fig. 5.6 [Up-left]: the diagram shows the daily variations of the solar F10.7 index and the Dst-index. [Up-right]: the map shows the location of each station. [Bottom]: the diagrams illustrate the Vertical TEC values per station on September 2018.



Fig. 5.7 Vertical TEC sequences per satellite (colorful lines) of each ground station for GRU method for four days on September of 2018, and the mean VTEC timeseries per station (red line). On top of each diagram mean red line per station is compared to mean ground truth data per station, as illustrated with black line.



Fig. 5.8 Monthly box plots for the testing period during the second half of 2018, per station.



Fig. 5.9 Comparison between VTEC (TECU) RNN-based methods and the estimated GPS ionospheric VTEC values (ground truth) as well as the VTEC models (GIM, NeQuick, IRI2001 and IRI01-cor), for days between 9 and 12 of September.

Fig. 5.6 shows the predicted VTEC values per station for a time period of a month (September 2018). The predicted values of the proposed CNN-GRU model are illustrated with green color whereas, the red line is the ground truth data. The up-left figure shows the F10.7 and DST values for the days of September. As observed, CNN-GRU predicted values achieve good performance. Also, the proposed CNN-GRU model catches the local maximum VTEC values during the days of increased ionospheric activity as mentioned above (i.e., the 11th of September).

Fig. 5.7 shows the estimated mean VTEC values, as illustrated with red line, for each station, for four different days between 9 and 13 September of 2018, compared to ground truth values with black line. Here, we can observe the diurnal changes, as the VTEC values are varying during each day, depending on the electron density in the ionosphere. As observed, the ionospheric delay changes slowly through a daily cycle. It has its minimum values (2-4 TECU) between midnight and early morning, and reaches its peak during the daylight hours. The 'mal2' stations reaches the bigger mean VTEC values (~ 30 TECU), whereas the 'tixi' station (located in the aurora region) has the minimum observed values. However the 'tixi' station appears various fluctuations. The mean standard deviation values are 1.20 for 'graz', 0.80 for 'iqal', 2.81 for 'mal2', 0.70 for 'qaq1', 1.78 for 'ramo' and 1.04 for 'tixi' ground station. This is illustrated in Fig. 5.7 where we have depicted with gray the standard deviation values.

5.3.4 Performance Evaluation for Different Months

At every time instance (point), the difference between the ground truth VTEC values and the estimated ones from the various non-linear learning models is computed. Thus, for the test time period of a half a year (second half of 2018), we have an error timeseries for every station, deriving from the time-wise differences of VTEC values (see Section 5.2.2). Fig. 5.8 depicts the distribution of these errors per month for the testing period (second half of the year 2018). Each box plot graphically depicts groups of *vtec* error values through their quartiles. Outliers are plotted as individual points, with the red cross symbol. The horizontal red line is the median value of the *vtec* error (50%), whereas the first and third quartile, that is the 25th and the 75th percentiles, respectively, are illustrated in black dashed line. As observed, the performance evaluation per month is slightly different, however, these difference are not significant. In most of the cases, the proposed CNN-GRU method has better performance as concerns the outlier values, that are slightly fewer compared to other methods outliers(difference errors > 75%). In August, there are 18% fewer outliers in the proposed CNN-GRU compared to the RNN method. In the other months this percentage is: 5% for September, 13% for October, 17% for November and 9% for December.

5.3.5 Performance Evaluation between Different Ionosphere Models

Fig. 5.9 shows the mean VTEC values at every station, for IRI2016 and GIM TEC estimates compared to the ground truth values and CNN-GRU TEC estimations, during four days between 9 and 12 September. The VTEC maxima is shown for all stations between 8:00 and 12:00 AM. In most cases, the CNN-GRU predicted values are similar to ground truth. GIM-aided TEC values are also close to CNN-GRU TEC values. IRI2016 values seems to underestimate the ionospheric variability compared to the ground truth TEC and and TEC values from the GIM model.



Fig. 5.10 Correlation matrices per station between VTEC (TECU) RNN-based predictions (GRU, BILSTM, LSTM and RNN) and the estimated GPS ionospheric VTEC values (Ground Truth) as well as the VTEC models (GIM and IRI2016), for the time interval between 9 and 12 September. In most of the stations, except for 'tixi' station in aurora region, the correlation coefficient r ranges between the interval [0.75, 1).

Fig. 5.10 shows the correlation coefficient between the proposed CNN-GRU method, the compared non-linear learning methods, the ground truth GPS TEC data and the values derived from IRI2016 and GIM models. Yellow blocks indicate high correlation, whereas, blue blocks show smaller values for the correlation index r. Overall, the stations 'iqal', 'mal2' and 'ramo', attain higher correlation values (r > 0.75), whereas 'tixi' (located near the equator) performs the worst values of correlation.

5.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, regarding the choice a spatio-temporal hybrid deep learning model for TEC modelling, we have proposed a combined CNN-GRU deep learning architecture for TEC modeling. The proposed model has been compared with other linear (e.g., AR and ARMA) and non-linear (RNN, LSTM, BILSTM) regression methods. Our main conclusions are the following:

- The proposed CNN-GRU model achieves an improvement of 16.77% with respect to the RNN architecture and of 12.71% and 9.49% with respect to the LSTM and BILSTM model respectively in case of 98% percentile. This implies the capability of the proposed CNN-GRU network to capture TEC values both in normal and high solar activity periods.
- The average mae improvement of the proposed model compared to the traditional RNN architecture is 23.9% with respect to the validation set, a set that it has not be used during training. In case of the BILSTM model the mae improvement is of 12.65%.
- The computational complexity of the proposed model is retained slow although its higher performance accuracy. In particular, as far as model testing is concerned, our CNN-GRU architecture requires less that 1s (0.96s) to model the TEC values over a period of a half year. Instead, regarding training, our model requires about 67 min to be trained for 200 epochs, in contrast to the BILSTM architecture where training is executed within 280 min for the same number of epochs. It should be mentioned that the training of the model is carried out once.
- The mean standard deviation value of mae of our model is 1.38 over all the 6 examined ground stations. The worst performance is for the 'mal2' station which is located near equator while the best for 'graz' station (mid-latitude).

As future work, we intend to further investigate model reliability, given as inputs GNSS observational data from a regional network of stations close to each other, to examine the extent to which such models capture the regional anomalies. In addition, more complicated deep learning architectures such as semi-supervised learning [94], [95] and/or Generative Adversarial Networks (GAN) [90] can be examined to see if they can improve the results while retaining small computational cost.

Chapter 6

The NILM Problem

6.1 Introduction

Raising awareness of individuals on environmental protection and sustainability, is prerequisite to set climate policies, responses or solutions to climate change at global scale [96]. There are various ways that householders could contribute to sustainable living. One of them is by reducing their energy consumption. To this end, a change of energy related behavior in the household is required. First, consumers need to become aware of their energy consumption. However, end-consumers often lack knowledge about potential energy savings, existing policy measures and relevant technologies. Most household consumers are usually aware of general information related to their consumption through monthly electricity bills. Nonetheless, the information about their consumption is not translated into good practices and tailored advice for energy saving. Non-Intrusive Load Monitoring (NILM) uses the aggregate power signal of a household as input to estimate the extent to which each appliance contributes to the aggregate energy consumption signal [97]. Thus, NILM is an efficient and cost effective framework for energy consumption awareness, providing itemized energy bills and personalized energy savings recommendations. Power disaggregation is applied to enhance awareness on the energy consumption behavior of consumers in the household and therefore guide them towards a prudent and rational utilization of energy resources [98].

Another usage of the disaggregated electrical consumption is to identify malfunctioning appliances. As an instance, NILM approach is applied to detect the frosting cycle of a fridge with a damaged seal, which is more frequent than the normal one [98]. Applying automated analysis is essential to detect appliance's performance problem; this can effectively be accomplished through online energy disaggregation [99].

Demand side response provides the possibility of shifting demand away from the peak and thus decreasing the corresponding cost of energy, although the average daily consumption is not altered [99]. Furthermore, it helps modifying the demand based on the intermittent power generation of renewable energy sources; hence decreases the need for expensive energy storage systems. Energy disaggregation permits the utility companies to identify a device with a high consumption rate at a peak hour in a household and sends a message to the corresponding users asking them to postpone their usage to smooth out the current peak in the demand.

Disaggregation of households' power consumption allows grid operators to improve their predictions in energy demand and is an important part of providing a stable supply of power to all customers on a power grid [100]. In [101] and [100] the consumption profile of appliances is identified through disaggregation and then, the obtained appliance-level load profiles along with meteorological information are employed to predict the future usage.

For the above mentioned reasons energy disaggregation is of great importance for energy conservation and planning. Given the power consumption per appliance the forward problem is to predict the total power consumption in a household. We assume the aggregate signal p(t) at a discrete time index t, to be equal to the summary of the individual appliances' power consumption $p_m(t)$ plus an additional noise $\epsilon(t)$. Thus, the total power consumption p(t) is:

$$\tilde{p}(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{M} p_m(t) + \epsilon(t)$$
(6.1)

In Eq. (9.1) variable *m* refers to the *m*-th out of *M* available appliances. Under a NILM framework, the individual appliance power consumption $p_m(t)$ is not a priori available, assuming the absence of installed smart plugs. Instead, only $\tilde{p}(t)$ is given. The inverse ill-posed problem, called NILM, is to calculate the best estimates $\hat{p}_m(t)$ of the appliance power consumption, given the aggregate power value p(t).

Various approaches have been proposed to solve the NILM problem, as presented in Section 6.2. Some of the most successful ones exploit deep learning neural network structures for modelling an energy disaggregation problem (e.g., [56]). Nevertheless, non-intrusive load monitoring is a difficult task, especially when considering nonlinear and continuous appliances, and until recently, there are barriers and limitations that have not been properly addressed. In particular, the proposed techniques have not been applied successfully across different households and datasets [57]. Thus, it is difficult to create algorithms with a good *generalization ability*. In addition, noisy aggregate energy consumption measurements significantly deteriorate the performance of NILM methods. Usually, the detected appliances have unsteady signatures or present abnormal behavior and additionally, the existence of noisy as well as inadequate datasets deteriorates overall models' performance [58]. The latter issue is more evident in case that deep learning structures are used for energy disaggregation, since a large number of labeled samples is required during training.

Here, we collect the good practices for solving the NILM problem, providing suggestions and recommendations in three main pillars: (i) data pre-processing, (ii) NILLM algorithms and (iii) outcomes validation. A short literature review, divided into three different periods follows.

6.2 A Brief NILM Literature Review

6.2.1 The early NILM era [1995–2014]

Hart was the first to propose a method for disaggregating electrical loads based on Combinatorial Optimization (CO) through clustering of similar events based on appliances' characteristics [97]. The first approach to NILM employed Combinatorial Optimization, which at the time was the

standard technique for disaggregation problems. For historical review of the evolution of NILM techniques, see for instance [102, 1, 55]. This first approach had a major shortcoming: Combinatorial Optimization performed the power disaggregation on each instant independently of the others, without considering the load evolution through time. Most common approaches to solve the NILM problem are based on unsupervised event detection in the aggregate signal, whereas supervised classifiers are used to assign known appliances to detected events in order to estimate the power trace of individual appliances [103]. Different classification tools have been widely used, including Sup-port Vector Machines (SVM) [104], neural networks, Decision Trees (DT) [105], and hybrid classification methods [106], [107]. Contrary to the aforementioned classic methods, other methods such as Dynamic Time Warping (DTW) are used for comparing and grouping windows from daily profiles and identifying unique load signatures [108]. The main object of controversy in these approaches refers to the difficulty of classifying multi-state appliances [106]. Multi-state appliances require a long range pattern to be trained for their detection [109]. Graph Signal Processing (GSP) [107] is a concept that effectively captures spatio-temporal correlation among data samples by embedding the structure of signals onto a graph. Zhao et al. [110] propose a low-resolution, event-based, unsupervised GSP approach. Recently, a Modified Cross-Entropy method for event classification has been suggested [111], which is based on CO and formulates NILM as a Cross-Entropy problem.

Hidden Markov Models (HMM) and various extensions of this model are advocated in order to explore the possible combinations among the different appliances' state sequences [112, 113, 25, 114]. In this light, HMMs are state-based, so the studied appliances should have discrete states in their signatures [103]. As the number of appliances increases, the number of combinations of states sequences is increased exponentially, increasing respectively problem's complexity [103]. In addition to this, time complexity is also increased, leading to the reduction of model's classification performance [115]. Makonin et al. [116] have proposed a super-state HMM and a sparse Viterbi algorithm in order to reduce the complexity. Another limitation of HMM-based approaches is that they tend to fail in the presence of unknown appliances [103]. Rahimpour et al. [117] proposed a matrix factorization technique for linear decomposition of the aggregated signal using as bases of this learned model the appliances' signatures resulting in an efficient estimation of the energy consumption per appliance.

6.2.2 Deep learning based NILM [2015–2019]

Soon after various open datasets became available ([118], [119]), and thanks to the increased number of datasets coming from smart electric meters installed in domestic residences, the proposed solutions to NILM shifted to a supervised learning process. With the rise of deep learning, a new family of methods have been introduced that exploit deep neural network structures to solve the ill-posed NILM problem. Deep learning techniques have been applied mostly to low frequency NILM approaches since 2015 [99].

It's a common way to treat aggregated signal as a corrupted by noise signal of an appliance. Under this view, denoising autoencoders (DAE) are excellent techniques used to to reconstruct a signal from its noisy version. This architecture has been initially proposed by Kelly and Knottenbelt [99], while others expand the idea proposing alternative DAE architectures, such as [113].

Exploiting the temporal character and dependencies of the power signal, another deep learning scheme called Recurrent Neural Networks (RNN), have proved efficient under the NILM framework. Here, NILM is treated as a supervised learning problem with times series. RNNs and their variants, such as Long Short-Term Memory Networks (LSTM) and Gated Recurrent Units (GRU) have been primarily used, as they are very popular and effective with 1D time series data. Relevant studies have been carried out in the past ([57], [99], [109]). In a previous work of ours, we have also proposed a Bayesian optimized bidirectional LSTM model for NILM [56], whereas in [54] a context-aware LSTM model adaptable to external environmental conditions is presented.

Although Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) are traditionally developed for two-dimensional imagery data ([36]), one-dimensional CNN can be used to model the temporal character of sequential timeseries data. Few researches [1] have tried to enrich CNN structures providing a recurrent character, such as CNN-LSTM and Recurrent Convolutional Networks. In [3] a causal 1-D convolutional neural network for NILM is proposed. Others introduce the concept of data sequences [99] to feed the classic structure with historical past values of power load. Others [120] propose a sequence to point CNN architecture, underscoring the importance of sliding windows to handle long-term timeseries. Alternatively, sequence to sequence architectures have also been proposed [121].

6.2.3 Advancements in NILM [2020–]

Recently, there are various advanced machine learning methods applied for NILM. These methods provide competitive accuracy against the traditional NILM methods. Some of the worth mentioned works are presented here.

Generative adversarial networks recently have been applied for NILM. [122] adopt a GAN-based framework for solving NILM in an early attempt. Then, Kaselimi et al. [79] propose a generative adversarial network for sequence to sequence learning, whereas Pan et al. [2] achieve sequence to sub-sequence learning with conditional GANs. Chen et al. [123] propose a context aware convolutional network for NILM that has been trained adversarially. Most of these studies exploit the robustness to noise that the adversarial training process achieves.

Transformer models were explored as alternative architecture for neural machine translation tasks within the past two years [124]. Recently, a transformer based architecture that utilizes self-attention for energy disaggregation has been adopted by [125], to handle power signal sequential data.

Given that, most of the existing DNNs models for NILM use a single-task learning approach in which a neural network is trained exclusively for each appliance, propose UNet-NILM for multi-task appliances' state detection and power estimation, applying a multi-label learning strategy and multi-target quantile regression. The UNet-NILM is a one-dimensional CNN based on the U-Net architecture initially proposed for image segmentation.

Explainable AI (XAI) attempts to promote a more transparent AI through the creation of methods that make the function and predictions of machine learning systems comprehensible to

humans, without sacrificing performance levels. Explainable NILM networks these methods provide competitive accuracy, the inner workings of these models is less clear.

6.3 Conclusion

Usually we treat NILM as a regression or classification problem, but actually NILM is an inverse problem and that explains its complexity. There are various open access datasets to help the research community, however the real life problem is too complex, and usually algorithms with good performance in a specific dataset, do not share the same performance for other noes. The variety of different appliances and types of appliances with various characteristics and

Chapter 7

The proposed CoBiLSTM model for NILM

7.1 Our contribution

Although there is a significant interest from the industry, the research community has not yet explored NILM techniques at a larger scale and across different households. This is mainly because: (i) techniques developed for one household cannot be applied to other households (applicability), (ii) the developed models do not have the ability to perform satisfactorily across different households (scalability), (iii) and these models cannot be transferred across different datasets (transferability) [126]. The main cause of the aforementioned difficulties lies in the fact that energy consumption patterns of the appliances are highly correlated with the contextual conditions on which these appliances operate. Hereby, the term context refers to: (i) the external weather and environmental conditions (seasonal variations), (ii) the geographic location of the houses, (iii) the technology and the configuration set-up of an appliance (eco versus normal or even turbo mode of an operation) and (iv) other appliances' operational anomalies (malfunction, etc.) Therefore, a dynamic context adaptive model is developed to capture the new functional modes of an appliance, as the contextual conditions are changing. The main innovative characteristics of the proposed CoBiLSTM method are the following:

Sequence-to-sequence: Rather than estimating single time-points (Sequence-to-Point), our proposed method estimates a whole target sequence, given a sequence of aggregate signal (Sequence-to-Sequence). The final output is derived as the average of the different overlapping output values, thus increasing accuracy. Furthermore, we introduce a bidirectional LSTM network as in one of our earliest work in [103], which means that our approach remembers and draws inferences from future data points as well as from the past ones for the target appliance. However, our previous work [103] does not take into consideration contextual conditions and model adaptation techniques due to the evolution of the context.

Adaptability: We propose a modular and a self-trained energy disaggregation model with the capability of updating its behavior whenever a significant change of contextual conditions is detected. Since it is difficult to define the general polyparametric notion of context and consequently, decide



Fig. 7.1 The short-range recurrent regression model. (a) The bidirectional short-range recurrent regression model. (b) Unfolded representation in time where the forward and backward passes are depicted.

when a model update is required, an alternative approach is adopted. We implicitly define the context through the distribution of the performance errors of the energy disaggregation model during its operation. For this, the pursued solution to the problem of detecting changes in appliance operation will be sought in the space of model performance deterioration observations, instead of the space of contextual factors' changes. In particular, a context change is considered to occur when the distance between the probability distribution of the errors during model operation and the probability distribution during the training and validation phase, is statistically significant (Section 7.3.2). Then, model retraining is activated, through appropriate modification of the network weights, to implement the context aware adaptive energy disaggregation strategy. As we have stated previously, we call this model CoBiLSTM, indicating its adaptive capability to fit to current context.

Scalability: The proposed method is capable of handling situations where statistically significant differences exist compared with the model training conditions. This means that the proposed model is capable of generalizing its behavior to data of quite different statistics than those they have been trained on. Instead, traditional methods [103, 127] fail to provide accurate regression results in datasets of different statistical behavior than the trained ones.

Regression: The proposed approach handles energy disaggregation as a regression problem instead of a classification one- as many traditional approaches do. Regression is beneficial as the model can correctly detect not only the switch-on/off events but also reproduce the shape of the target appliance load.

Modularity: Usually, the traditional energy disaggregation approaches (such as [113]) assume a single model for all appliances. However, such an approach increases model complexity especially in cases where the number of appliances increases. The proposed model adopts a modular design by assigning a different regressor for every type of appliance. Similar approaches are also adopted in other Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) methodologies such as [57].



Fig. 7.2 The memory cell of an LSTM network. It contains three different components; (i) the forget gate F(n), (ii) the input gate I(n) and input node H(n) and (iii) the output node O(n).

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: In Section 9.2, NILM is formulated as a non-causal problem for which a bidirectional LSTM regression model is proposed. In Section 7.3, a method for dynamic adaptation and optimal hyperparameter selection under a Bayesian framework is described. In Section 7.4, the proposed method is experimentally evaluated against state of the art energy disaggregation methods in publicly available datasets, while Section 7.5 concludes the final results.

7.2 Bidirectional LSTM Regression for Non-causal Energy Disaggregation

7.2.1 Bidirectional Short-Term Recurrent Regression

One way to model the unknown function $g(\cdot)$ of Eq. (2) is by means of a Feedforward Neural Network [32]. Assuming L hidden neurons and one linear output layer, the estimate $p_j(n)$ is given by

$$\hat{p}_j(n) = \mathbf{u}_j(\mathbf{n})^T \cdot \mathbf{v}_j \tag{7.1}$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{j}(n) = \begin{bmatrix} u_{j,1}(n) \\ \vdots \\ u_{j,L}(n) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} tanh(\mathbf{w}_{j,1}^{T} \cdot \mathbf{p}(n)) \\ \vdots \\ tanh(\mathbf{w}_{j,L}^{T} \cdot \mathbf{p}(n)) \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.2)

 $tanh(\cdot)$ refers to the hyperbolic tangent, so each element of the vector $u_j(n)$ ranges between -1 and 1. The weights $w_{j,i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, L$, connect the input p(n) with the i-th hidden neuron. Similarly, v_j are the weights that connect the hidden neurons with the output neuron. Henceforth, subscript j



Fig. 7.3 Bidirectional LSTM regression model used for NILM estimation.

is omitted for simplicity. Vector u(n) gathers the outputs of all L hidden neurons $u_{j,i}$ and is a state vector expressing latent operational modes of the j-th appliance. Their values range within the [-1,1] interval. Each appliance has its own hidden states and these latent variables are estimated through a learning process. Since the power load of an appliance follows a non-causal relationship, the value of a state depends not only on its previous values and but also on its future ones (Fig. 7.1). Therefore,

$$u_i(n) = tanh(\mathbf{w}_i^T \cdot \mathbf{p}(n) + \vec{\mathbf{r}}_i^T \cdot \mathbf{u}(n-1) + \cdot \overleftarrow{r}_i^T \cdot u(n+1))$$
(7.3)

In Eq. 7.3, $\vec{r_i}$ is a weight vector expressing the dependencies of previous states, while \tilde{r}_i the future state dependencies [33].

7.2.2 Bidirectional Long-Term Recurrent Regression

Short-range dependencies are not adequate for power load estimation, as appliances often follow repeated patterns spanning long time periods. For this reason, bidirectional LSTM networks are adopted as an alternative regression model for power load estimation. LSTMs are of similar structure with the bidirectional recurrent regression model, but each node in the hidden layer is replaced by a memory cell, instead of a single neuron [128]. The structure of a single memory cell is depicted in Fig. 7.2, while Fig. 7.3 indicates an unfolded LSTM network over time. The memory cell contains three different components (see Fig. 7.2): (i) the forget gate, (ii) the input node and the input gate, and (iii) the output gate. Each component applies a non-linear relation to the inner product between the input vectors and respective weights (estimated through a training process). Some of the components have the sigmoid function, expressed as $\sigma(\cdot)$ in Fig. 7.3, while others the hyperbolic tangent function, $tanh(\cdot)$. Forget gate F(n) separates the worth-remembering information from the unnecessary information, by keeping the latter out of the memory cell. Input node H(n) activates appropriately the respective state (true or false output from the "tanh" activation). Input gate I(n)regulates whether the respective hidden state is "significant enough" for the accurate estimation of the power loads $p_j(n)$. Output gate O(n) regulates whether the response of the current memory cell



Fig. 7.4 The proposed CoBiLSTM deep learning structure.



Fig. 7.5 A graphical illustration of Bayesian optimization.

is "significant enough" to contribute to the next cell. In the context of washing machine operation, for example, the output gate indicates that if a pre-washing cycle is currently detected, a washing cycle operation is expected in the next time instances. One shortcoming of the memory cell of Fig. 7.2, is that it processes only previous state information. Bidirectional LSTM, on the other hand, processes data in both directions, including a forward and, additionally, a backward operation. The structure of a bidirectional LSTM, unfolded in time, is presented in Fig. 7.3. The operation of all the aforementioned modules is mathematically formulated by:

$$\{F(n), H(n), I(n), O(n)\} = \{\sigma, \tanh\} ($$

$$\mathbf{w}^{T,F,H,I,O} \cdot \mathbf{p}(n) + \vec{\mathbf{r}}^{T,\{F,H,I,O\}} \cdot \mathbf{u}(n-1) + \vec{\mathbf{r}}^{T}_{i,i}F, H, I, O \cdot u_{i}(n+1))$$
(7.4)

In Eq. (5), variables $w^{(F,H,I,O)}$, $\vec{r}^{F,H,I,O}$ and $\vec{r}_{j,i}^{(F,H,I,O)}$ have similar meaning as the ones involved in Eq. (4), with the difference that each node or gate has its own unique parameters.

7.2.3 A Detailed Description of the Proposed LSTM Network Configuration

Aggregate energy consumption signals (timeseries data) were used as inputs for the described bidirectional LSTM networks. Initially, the input data are down-sampled in 1 min intervals (in datasets with denser time intervals) and additionally, are normalized so that their values range in [0, 1]. The input data represent a time window of an appliance operation. For appliances that do not belong to the Type-IV (permanently active) category, the time window is set to be the duration of the active operation of the appliance. For Type-IV devices, a time window of two hours is considered.

The parameters of the bidirectional LSTM network are selected through the Bayesian optimization approach described in Section 7.3.3. In particular, the following network parameters are



Fig. 7.6 Performance metrics (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) per dataset (AMPds, REFIT, REDD). The vertical axis in the table shows the three selected appliances per dataset. The horizontal axis indicates MAE, RMSE and NRMS metrics per method. The three diagrams illustrate the performance (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) per method for three selected appliances: WOE/AMPds (orange), WM/REFIT (purple) and M/REDD (light purple), that proved to have the best performance.

optimized: network depth, number of hidden units, maximum number of epochs, mini batch size and initial learning rate. The optimization strategy starts from an initial configuration network set up and then, estimates the next network parameters in a way that model performance is improved. Therefore, the parameters of the bidirectional LSTM network are dynamically adjusted to fit appliance-specific characteristics as well as current contextual attributes. Fig. 7.4 shows the adopted strategy and the basic structure of the proposed CoBiLSTM model. A network configuration setup is provided for the clothes dryer: (i) the input layer, (ii) the bidirectional LSTM layers and (iii) the regression layer. The input layer receives the current data in a sequence-like form, of a time window with 60 min duration. The network includes two bidirectional LSTM layers: the first layer consists of 60 filters with a kernel size 1x5, while the second layer consists of 72 filters of the same kernel size. The regression layer. The output is a sequence of active power load with size 60 and not a single point. Further details regarding model's update constraints based on Kullback-Leibler (K-L) divergence are presented in Section 7.3.2.

7.3 Context-Aware Adaptive Energy Disaggregation

The way that some appliances operate depend on specific contextual attributes of the environment. For example, in case of an air-conditioning device, seasonality, external weather conditions or even technology adopted (e.g., inverter or not), affect the energy consumption patterns. Another characteristic example lies in energy signatures generated by a washing machine which highly depend on laundry loads. Such parameters are in effect contextual conditions affecting NILM performance. The purpose of the context-aware adaptation mechanism is to dynamically adapt the

	Minimum Power Difference (W)						Maximum Power Difference (W)				Average Power Difference (Standard Deviation) (W)				
Device	CoBiLSTM (Proposed)	[12] [12]	CNN [24]	FHMM [17]	CO [11]	CoBiLSTM (Proposed)	[12] ML51	CNN [24]	FHMM [17]	C0 [11]	CoBiLSTM (Proposed)	[12] [12]	CNN [24]	FHMM [17]	C0 [11]
CDE	0.1	2.2	0.1	0.2	1.0	594.8	635.5	793.4	1518.0	1627.1	19.4 (82.7)	31.9 (94.8)	29.3 (113.0)	66.1 (89.9)	58.3 (141.4)
HPE	2.2	1.5	21.6	1.9	0.4	1105.9	834.1	741.3	389.7	882.0	106.2 (215.3)	161.5 (182.1)	136.1 (132.4)	156.8 (110.4)	78.07 (172.4)
WOE	0.0	0.0	3.1	1.6	5.3	672.2	692.3	725.4	1143.9	1102.4	8.0 (51.9)	15.8 (66.8)	17.5 (64.6)	60.7 (134.0)	122.2 (141.7)
WD	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	1090.9	1280.8	1051.9	2034.8	1770.6	26.9 (99.3)	50.9 (143.6)	45.4 (135.7)	176.9 (260.2)	219.0 (193.3)
WM	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.1	518.9	519.8	568.2	788.5	1462.8	21.8 (71.2)	29.4 (79.9)	65.2 (87.9)	139.1 (154.2)	188.7 (278.1)
DW	0.1	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.1	552.6	769.7	699.8	1624.3	1787.7	31.3 (69.2)	66.8 (114.4)	67.8 (99.7)	229.4 (350.3)	204.2 (245.8)
М	0.9	3.4	4.4	19.6	5.5	103.9	112.1	151.1	742.9	226.5	6.9 (13.5)	9.6 (14.2)	15.8 (23.0)	77.3 (109.0)	51.7 (32.1)
KO	0.7	0.4	0.4	1.5	67.0	100.6	113.2	160.8	369.5	361.9	8.1 (16.3)	11.1 (20.6)	18.5 (26.2)	82.7 (43.7)	118.8 (41.4)
D	0.6	0.7	0.9	0.1	1.0	231.8	269.3	196.9	233.3	524.1	7.1 (27.1)	10.6 (31.8)	18.9 (31.8)	14.6 (34.9)	40.7 (83.4)

Fig. 7.7 Metrics (min, max, average and standard deviation) of the difference between the real and the estimated values of appliance active power.



Fig. 7.8 Comparison between CoBiLSTM, CNN and LSTM methods.

deep learning model so that it captures the new contextual operational conditions of the appliances, thereby improving the performance of NILM modeling.

7.3.1 Context-Aware Energy Disaggregation Framework

Let us denote by $g_j^b(\cdot)$ the non-linear model of the j-th appliance before model updating due to a change of the contextual conditions. Model $g_j^b(\cdot)$ has been trained and validated on data of a set S^b , which is divided into two mutually exclusive sets; the training S_{tr}^b and the validation S_v^b dataset. Set S_{tr}^b trains the network, whereas set S_v^b assesses the energy disaggregation model performance on data outside the training set. In order to build up an updated version of the model $g_j^b(\cdot)$, we need new additional samples capturing new contextual conditions of the j-th appliance. Let us denote by S^a the set containing the samples, which is again divided into a training and a validation subset. Considering the new samples of S^a that model the current context as well as samples of the previous knowledge in S^b , we deliver a new updated model for the j-th appliance, denoted as $g_j^a(\cdot)$. The superscript variable a stand for the energy disaggregation model after updating. Data of the training set S^a are obtained by using a set of houses equipped with smart plugs where the actual active power load of each appliance is available. In our application scenario, we assume that the smart-plug houses are very limited and they are only used to collect data for model updating. Then, the updated version of the model is delivered to non-smart-plug houses. Therefore, smart plugs are only used for network updating, that is, for collecting the new training samples in order to retrain the network to capture the new contextual conditions. It should be mentioned that the proposed scheme for dynamic model updating does not negatively impact on the practical applicability of the algorithm. Instead, it provides a framework that enables the model to be dynamically modified to include new operational ways of an appliance. In other words, the proposed context-aware adaptive energy disaggregation framework is a methodology to dynamically assess the performance of the model in a pool of representative houses. In case that model performance is not satisfactory, we appropriately retrain the network (i.e., modify its weight parameters) so that they can capture new contextual operational conditions of the appliances (i.e., different consumption signatures).

7.3.2 The Algorithm for Model Updating

Using Eq. (2), we can compute the performance error of the model $g_j^b(\cdot)$ over data of the validation set S_v^b . Let us denote by $e^b(i_n)$, $i_n \in S_v^b$ the performance error over all data of the set S_v^b . These errors form a probability distribution function (pdf), denoted by P_b , expressing the error distribution of the NILM model at those contextual conditions on which the model has been trained to over the S_v^b data. Let us now assume that the trained energy disaggregation model is applied to another contextual condition than the one on which the model has been trained. Then, we evaluate the performance of the model over a time window of duration T. This evaluation is carried out only on the representative houses equipped with smart plugs. In our experiments, T is assumed as equal to 30 days. Therefore, assuming a sampling rate of 1 min, a collection of $30 \times 1,440 = 43,200$ errors is gathered. Let us denote by Q(n) the probability distribution of all errors over the time window T. Q(n) models the current contextual conditions at a time instance n where the energy disaggregation model is applied to. Therefore, Q(n) can be considered as a metric of the current context c(n) which an appliance operates on.

$$c(n) \sim Q(n) \tag{7.5}$$

Depending on the values of distribution Q(n), two cases are considered. In the first case, Q(n) is close to the probability P_b , i.e., the probability expressing the initially trained contextual conditions. This means that no model updating is required. The second case refers to the condition where the probability Q(n) is far away from P_b . Then, the model is updated. For comparing the two distributions Q(n) and P_b , the Kullback-Leibler divergence entropy [43] is adopted here.

Fig. 7.5 A graphical illustration of Bayesian optimization.

In statistics, the K-L divergence entropy is a measure indicating of how close a probability distribution is against a reference probability. A K-L divergence of zero indicates that the two



Fig. 7.9 Comparison of the proposed method (blue solid line) with ground truth (in gray) for selected appliances in AMPds, REFIT and REDD dataset. The actual total energy consumption and total error (between estimation and ground truth) for given time periods in every appliance are also depicted.

distributions are identical. Instead, larger values of K-L entropy mean that the two distributions are quite different. The K-L entropy is defined as

$$D_{K-L}(P_b||Q) = \sum P_b \log\left(P_b/Q(n)\right) \tag{7.6}$$

Eq. 7.6 implies that the distributions Q(n) and P_b are discrete, namely frequency distributions.

7.3.3 Context-Aware Adaptive Bayesian Optimization

In this Section, a context-aware adaptive Bayesian optimization strategy is used for optimally configuring the parameters of the bidirectional LSTM network. Bayesian optimization is a design



Fig. 7.10 Performance comparison of CoBiLSTM method with benchmarks LSTM, CNN, CO, FHMM for AMPds and REFIT (House 9) dataset.



Fig. 7.11 Performance comparison of CoBiLSTM method with UGSP, SGSP and DT for REDD House 2.



Fig. 7.12 Bayesian optimization results for CDE, HPE and WOE appliances of AMPds dataset. The y-axis shows the RMSE performance error for every different configuration set ID (1, 2, 3), as indicated in x-axis.

strategy for optimizing an unknown, expensive and noisy objective function [129]. In particular, the Bayesian framework estimates a set of configuration parameters of the LSTM network, such as network depth and number of hidden units. More details about the configuration parameters can be found in Section 7.4. Let us denote by π_j a vector that contains the configuration parameters as far as the model $g_j(\cdot)$ is concerned. Then, the goal of the Bayesian optimization strategy is to estimate an optimal configuration network $\pi_l^{(opt)}$ in a way that the performance error of the network is minimized.

$$\pi_l^{(opt)} = \arg\min_{\pi} E(\pi) \tag{7.7}$$

where $E(\cdot)$ denotes the error of the estimated values as provided by the model $g_j(\cdot)$ and the ground truth data of the training and validation set. The main difficulty in solving Eq. 7.7 is that the error function $E(\cdot)$ is unknown. Therefore, a Bayesian optimization approach is considered, modeling the error $E(\cdot)$ as a Gaussian Process (GP). A GP models a distribution over function in a similar way that a Gaussian distribution models a distribution of a random variable and it is fully specified by the respective mean value and covariance [3].

Fig. 7.5 clarifies the way that the Bayesian optimization works, while more details can be found in [37]. In Fig. 7.5, we assume 1D configuration vector for visualization purposes. We have depicted 3 configuration values, namely π_1, π_2, π_3 . Each configuration value corresponds to $E(\pi_i), i = 1, \ldots, 3$. However, the exact form of the function $E(\pi_i)$ is actually unknown. For this reason, we model the errors $E(\pi_i)$ as Gaussian distribution functions. In this particular example, we have three Gaussian distributions, each corresponds to one of the three configuration values π_1, π_2, π_3 . These functions are depicted in Fig. 7.5 as dashed lines. Assembling, all these Gaussian distribution functions together, a GP is formed, as indicated with purple, Fig. 7.5. The scope of Bayesian optimization is to estimate a better configuration parameter from the current one. This means that it estimates the next configuration value, improving the error $E(\cdot)$. For example, let us assume that configuration value π_2 has been selected as the current optimal one. Then, a better choice for the Bayesian optimization strategy is the configuration π_3 , since it provides a better mean value than the current one even when standard deviation divergence is considered. In general, there is a trade-off between the mean value and standard deviation, called Exploration-Exploitation trade-off in a Bayesian context. More details can be found in [130]. Following these steps, the optimal configuration parameters of the LSTM network are derived.

7.4 Experimental Evaluation

7.4.1 Dataset description and experimental setup

The evaluation of our context-aware bidirectional LSTM (CoBiLSTM) model for energy disaggregation has been conducted on three publicly available datasets; AMPds (a single Canadian house) [119], REFIT (21 UK houses) [131] and REDD (6 US houses) [112]. These open-access energy consumption datasets provide the aggregate power measurements of the whole house and sub-metered readings (smart plugs) from individual appliances at different time resolutions; 60s for AMPds, 6-8s for REFIT and 1s for REDD. The time duration of these datasets varies, covering two years for AMPds and REFIT and only a few weeks for REDD dataset. AMPds is selected, as it covers measurements from two years, so contextual variations (such as seasonal settings) are easily observed. On the other hand, REFIT is challenging, as its measurements contain noise due to numerous unknown appliances and measurements errors. Finally, REDD is selected as it is the first public available dataset released by MIT in 2011 and is widely used for NILM research. The proposed algorithm assumes low-sampling rate measurements so the measurements from REFIT and REDD are down sampled to 60s resolution. CoBiLSTM is implemented using MATLAB software. We trained our models using the adaptive moment estimation optimization algorithm (adam) with a learning rate of 10-4. Model weights and coefficients are updated using a mini-batch size of 50 samples at each training iteration. The maximum number of epochs for training is selected to be 400. Deep learning performance is improved through data balance and normalization of the data used as input to the CoBiLSTM network to the range [0, 1]. We have individual networks, one per appliance of the aforementioned datasets. The network configurations are optimally selected using the Bayesian optimization approach. When a statistical difference is detected, the energy disaggregation model is updated to fit the current contextual conditions, while retaining a satisfactory performance on the already gained knowledge.

7.4.2 Case Study 1: The effect of bidirectionality

In this study, we evaluate the effect of bidirectionality, that is the effect of future samples, on energy disaggregation. In particular, we compare the proposed method against traditional deep learning models such as CNNs [107] and unidirectional LSTMs [1], which receive as inputs only past time instances. Additionally, we compare the proposed method against additional approaches such as FHMM [132] and CO [97].

Fig. 7.6 presents the comparative results based on objective metrics of (i) Mean Absolute Error (MAE), (ii) Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) and iii) Normalized RMSE (NRMS), which are commonly used metrics for the evaluation of energy disaggregation [102]. The performance metrics are defined as follows:

$$MAE = \frac{\sum_{n} |\hat{p}_j(n) - p_j(n)|}{n}$$
(7.8)

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n} (\hat{p}_{j}(n) - p_{j}(n))^{2}}{n}}$$
(7.9)

$$NRMS = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n} (\hat{p}_{j}(n) - p_{j}(n))^{2}}{\sum_{n} (p_{j}(n))^{2}}}$$
(7.10)

In this experimental setup, we have selected three appliances per dataset (AMPds, REFIT and REDD) for simplicity. Particularly, we have used (i) clothes' dryer (CDE), heat pump (HPE) and wall oven appliance (WOE) of AMPds, (ii) washer dryer (WD), washing machine (WM) and dishwasher (DW) of House 9 in REFIT and (iii) microwave (M), kitchen outlet (KO) and dishwasher for REDD (House 2) dataset. We select these appliances, as the most common in relevant studies focusing on deep learning low frequency NILM [99], [57]. As observed, the proposed



Fig. 7.13 Top: Performance error distribution for May with Bayes-BiLSTM [3] model (left) and CoBiLSTM model (right) for washer dryer. Bottom: the divergence K-L between distributions of May and the given distribution for the validation set.



Fig. 7.14 Comparison between the Bayes-BiLSTM approach [1] and CoBiLSTM models for washer dryer appliance.
		RMSE (W)	
	Bayes-BiLSTM	CoBiLSTM	CNN	CoCNN
	[3]	(Proposed)	[24]	COCININ
Dehumidifier	66.7	61.8	211.5	123.0
Heat Pump	135.7	125.6	291.6	314.6
Tumble Dryer	94.0	80.2	142.6	146.6
Washer Dryer	112.0	95.0	162.9	158.4

Fig. 7.15 Performance error per appliance and per method (Bayes-BiLSTM, Co-BiLSTM, CNN, CoCNN).

method outperforms the compared ones. Our proposed CoBiLSTM as well as unidirectional LSTM generally perform best mainly due to their capability to effectively model long-range dependencies. Comparing these two, the proposed method attains the minimum error, since it is able to model non-causal behavior and has been optimized using the Bayesian framework. Selected appliances for REDD and AMPds dataset seem to have better performance than the case of the noisy REFIT dataset. It should be mentioned that the model for detecting the HPE appliance (AMPds) is not so accurate mainly due to recurring signal changes caused by external (seasonal) contextual conditions. It is important to note that in Section 7.4.4, we consider these external factors that cause signal appliances' changes, further improving the performance of our proposed model. It should be mentioned that for all scenarios the metrics have been calculated over the entire examined time period, in which the appliances can be either in operation or not. Treating the outcome of the model's network as a timeseries of the estimated active power, we extract some summary descriptive statistics to get an insight in models' performance, through the comparison of the appliance's estimated timeseries with the ground truth. Thus, Table I provides minimum, maximum and average difference between the estimated power and the real one, as well as the standard deviation.

The majority of the minimum values are close to zero. On the contrary, maximum values in some appliances are quite high. This is mainly because in some cases there is a delay between model estimates and ground truth label data, leading to high maximum deviations. However, the mean and standard deviation indicate that the proposed CoBiLSTM model is an adequate energy disaggregation estimator. It should be mentioned that the proposed method has one further advantage compared to FHMM and CO approaches. In particular, the FHMM and CO methods fail to provide adequate estimates as the number of the appliances under consideration increases, mainly due to modularity related issues. Instead, the performance of the proposed CoBiLSTM model is independent of the number of appliances considered. Fig. 7.7 shows the temporal behavior performance of the proposed model compared with unidirectional LSTM and CNN. As is observed, all models can correctly detect the time intervals when the target appliance consumes energy. However, LSTM and CNN methods fail to follow the exact consumption pattern of the appliance. For example, WOE appliance energy consumption pattern is detected with high accuracy using the CoBiLSTM approach. The LSTM model tries to follow appliance's pattern but underestimates the amount of power that the appliance reaches. The CNN model detects the existence of WOE appliance, but the method can't follow the energy consumption profile of WOE appliance. Additionally, Fig. 7.8 shows the real amount of energy that a specific appliance



Fig. 7.16 Performance error for dishwasher appliance per method (Bayes-BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM, CNN, CoCNN).

consumes at a given time period and the error (losses) of our CoBiLSTM deep learning model. In the following, we perform comparisons using the Estimated Energy Fraction Index (EEFI) and Actual Energy Fraction Index (AEFI) indicators which is used in the literature [102]:

$$EEFI(j) = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n} \hat{p}_{j}(n)}{\sum_{n} \sum_{j} \hat{p}_{j}(n)}}$$
(7.11)

$$AEFI(j) = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n} p_j(n)}{\sum_{n} \sum_{j} \hat{p}_j(n)}}$$
(7.12)

where we recall that $\hat{p}_j(n)$ and $p_j(n)$ is the estimated and ground truth power load for the j-th appliance respectively. Then, the absolute difference is exploited:

$$DEFI(j) = |EEFI(j) - AEFI(j)|$$
(7.13)

This metric is depicted in Fig. 7.9 for the three selected appliances of the AMPds, REFIT and REDD dataset (i.e., total 9 appliances). In this figure, we also perform comparisons using other NILM methods (unidirectional LSTM, CNN, FHMM, CO), verifying that CoBiLSTM yields the minimum DEFI value (e.g., values close to zero). The performance of CoBiLSTM method is also compared with the state of the art GSP-based method of [7], [13]. Particularly, Fig. 7.10 shows the comparison of our method with algorithms of [107], [133], i.e. unsupervised GSP (UGSP), supervised GSP (SGSP) and decision trees (DT) as far as the Kitchen Outlet (KO) and Microwave (M) of REDD House 2. As is observed, our method presents almost similar behavior. It should be mentioned that the operation of these devices is not highly affected by seasonal (contextual) settings.



Fig. 7.17 Performance error for dishwasher and washer dryer appliances per method (Bayes-BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM, CNN, CoCNN).

7.4.3 Case Study 2: The effect of Bayesian optimization

Hyper-parameter tuning in a deep network is a major issue. In general, hyper-parameters are not optimized and are assumed to be fixed through time. However, seasonal attributes affect appliance electricity loads, influencing energy disaggregation performance. Bayesian optimization strengthens model performance through an optimal hyper-parameter selection. Fig. 7.11 shows the performance error (RMSE) of the three selected devices (CDE, HPE, WOE) of the AMPds dataset. In Fig. 7.11, we plot the RMSE performance error versus the number of iterations of the Bayesian optimization. As the number of iterations increases, RMSE is reduced. Similar results are derived for other devices of other datasets.

7.4.4 Case Study 3: The effect of seasonality

Consumers' energy consumption habits are characterized by heterogeneity across houses in different regions with varying weather conditions. The proposed CoBiLSTM model handles these heterogeneities through a dynamic learning process in which we update the basic parameters of the bidirectional LSTM model in a way to fit context changes (either internal or external). In this particular example, the effect of seasonality is validated. In our approach, the core idea lies in efficient triggering the update process, for the employed disaggregation networks. Trigger points are strongly connected to contextual factors (i.e., seasonal variations). The quantification of such factors is achieved by modeling the changes in model's performance (i.e. disaggregation error values). If the updated process is triggered, a new disaggregation network is created, using the same optimization approaches, over a renewed dataset. The process operates on a monthly base



Fig. 7.18 Top: Differences in signature patterns for three different models of the dishwasher appliance, in three different houses. Bottom: Heat map showing the performance error for three different Bayes-BiLSTM models trained separately for each house and the integrated proposed CoBiLSTM model (last line of the colored table).



Fig. 7.19 Performance error for dishwasher appliance for the four deep learning methods (Bayes-BiLSTM, CoBiLSTM, CNN and CoCNN).

and evaluates the differences in error distribution functions. Every month, we fit a probability distribution function on the observed performance errors. Typically, we have a normal distribution, from which we can calculate the corresponding cumulative distribution function (cdf). Then, a comparison between the distributions, i.e. monthly errors and validation set (reference distribution) indicates whether these distributions are close enough (no need to update the model) or if those distributions are far away (a model updating is required). Two types of statistical tests were employed to estimate the proximity between the two compared distributions: Kullback-Leibler (K-L) divergence and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S). K-S test, at a significance level of 10% (since variation in error is expected between months), evaluates the difference between the reference cdf distribution and the cdf of the current month, as illustrated in the bottom diagram in Fig. 7.12. If K-S test accepts the null hypothesis (the error distribution remains the same), there is no need for the model to be updated. On the other hand, that is i.e. K-S rejects the null hypothesis. Thus, the necessity for model's update is further investigated. In this case, K-L divergence is employed.

For example, in May, washer dryer's model performance function has changed, as Fig. 7.12 illustrates. K-S test rejects the null hypothesis and the K-L divergence score is 0.16. Thus, according to both tests, the applied disaggregation model should be updated. Consequently, we update the model, expanding the training dataset to include measurements of the month, in which difference in distribution of the performance error is observed. Fig. 7.13 shows the progress for the washer dryer RMSE performance error per month for a year, assuming a static model [1] and the improved performance achieved using the proposed Co-BiLSTM model. Furthermore, Fig. 7.14 shows the exact RMSE values as presented through a heat map to highlight the difference in performance between the approach of [1] and the CoBiLSTM model. The heat map is used here as a graphical representation tool of models' performance per month where the individual performance values are co-tained in the matrix and presented as colors of a gradient color palette. In case that the static model of [1] is considered, the performance for the next months will be worse in comparison to the proposed approach when dynamic model updating is carried out (Fig. 7.14).

Washer dryer, tumble dryer, dehumidifier and heat pump are typical examples of appliances that their usage patterns are highly dependent on external weather conditions. For those appliances, we proceed to a similar procedure as in the case of washer dryer. In Fig. 7.15, we compare our CoBiLSTM model performance with other methods such as CNN, as well as an improved version of it, called Context-aware CNN (CoCNN), where a similar approach for model updated is considered as in CoBiLSTM model. CoBiLSTM model has the minimum mean RMSE error over a period of about a year.

7.4.5 Case Study 4: The effect of geographical location

Here, we consider the transferability of our CoBiLSTM model against different regions. Thus, we evaluate our approach on two different datasets in different regions, namely the AMPds in Canada and the REFIT in UK. The experiment was conducted for dishwasher and washer dryer appliances. Firstly, we have our model trained in AMPds dataset. We check our model's performance for two different periods in time (CA1 and CA2) with mean RMSE error about 93.18 W for the dishwasher

(Fig. 7.16). Having our model trained in AMPds dataset, we test its performance in the REFIT dataset, for the same appliance. The results are considerably worse (328.11W and 332.66 W for UK1 and UK2 different periods of time respectively). Then, we create an updated CoBiLSTM model that includes additional information regarding the houses in UK. We test our CoBiLSTM model performance separately in the two aforementioned datasets (AMPds and REFIT). The attained accuracy for AMPds dataset is now a little lower for the Canadian house (113.51W and 117.00W for CA1 and CA2) but is significantly higher in the case of the UK dataset (216.82W and 187.84W). We also compare our method with a CNN network, and its respective adaptive context-aware implementation (CoCNN). The CoCNN version has a context-aware adaptive character similar to our approach. The performance of the CoCNN model is improved compared to the CNN model, but it is still far from the performance achieved with the proposed CoBiLSTM model. It has been proved that CNNs work excellent with image data, but LSTMs can deal effectively with 1D signal data [134]. Fig. 7.17 shows the performance error regarding the effect of regionality. In particular, the work of [1] and the CNN methods have been statically trained using data from one geographical region, Canada, in our specific example. Instead, the CoBiLSTM and CoCNN models have dynamically changed their behavior to include new training samples for the new region of UK. As is observed, the proposed method outperforms the compared ones.

7.4.6 Case Study 5: The effect of appliance's operation mode

As observed (Fig. 7.18), different types of the dishwasher appliance, have different signature patterns. This is mainly due to the fact that an appliance operates at different modes (e.g. eco versus turbo mode). In this case, a model update is required to capture the new internal contextual operational attributes of the appliance. Our experiment uses three different types of dishwasher from three different houses (House 1, House 9 and House 18 of REFIT dataset). In the first row of heat map (Fig. 7.18), we have the model of [56] trained with dishwasher appliance of house 18 and test its performance in House 18 as well as Houses 1 and 9. The second row of the heat map tests model performance, using as training set the signature of dishwasher (House 9) and test in these three Houses. The third row also presents model performance in the three houses. The model is trained using dishwasher measurements of House 1. The last row presents CoBiLSTM model's performance on the three examined houses. The CoBiLSTM model in the last line uses as training set the total measurements of the three houses. Fig. 7.19 shows the RMSE error between the proposed CoBiLSTM model and the three other compared ones (the work of [1], a conventional CNN model and a context-aware CNN). As is observed, our proposed method outperforms the other compared ones, indicating that our method is capable of modelling the different internal contextual attributes of an appliance.

7.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, we propose a contextually adaptive and Bayesian optimized bidirectional LSTM model for modeling appliances' consumption patterns in a NILM operational framework. The proposed CoBiLSTM model is a generalized bidirectional LSTM network, adaptable to different

contextual factors with an internal process of adaptation based on model performance error. The proposed approach based on progressive model updates can effectively adapt to a wider and more diverse range of instances and conditions, thus making a successful step towards scaled up NILM applicability. A bespoke, appliance-specific and specific to particular contextual configuration model would have better performance than our scalable context aware model, but it would only be applicable in a very constrained set of settings. The proposed model provides an updating solution that is sufficiently general, while at the same time managing to capture individual particularities in applicability to different contextual factors that constitute an obstacle to the solution of NILM problem, by leveraging a new NILM dataset across 3 countries (Greece, Austria and France) being currently created in the context of BENEFFICE EU project.

Chapter 8

The Proposed MR-TDLCNN model for NILM

8.1 The Proposed MR-TDLCNN model for NILM

The proposed methodology deals with the disaggregation problem by utilizing consecutive deep learning multi-input/multi-output regression models.

Let M be the number of household appliances and $p(t_n)$ be the measured aggregate active power over all appliances at a time instance t_n . Considering a discrete time sampling, we can express $p(t_n)$ as $p(t_n) = p(nT) = p(n)$, where $T = t_n - t_{(n-1)}$ is the sampling interval. Similarly, we denote $p_j(n)$ the active power load of the *j*-th appliance out of the M available. Then, the aggregate signal p(n) can be given as [105]

$$p(n) = \sum_{j=1}^{M} p_j(n) + e(n)$$
(8.1)

where e(n) denotes the additive noise of the measurements. In a NILM modeling framework, the measurements $p_j(n)$ are not available, since there are no smart plugs installed. Instead, only p(n) is given. Therefore, the problem is to estimate $p_j(n)$ from p(n). Let us note hereby that Table 8.1 includes the notations used in this chapter.



Fig. 8.1 The proposed non-linear pipelined recurrent CNN structure.



Fig. 8.2 The convolutional sequence to sequence NILM model. Time windows progress incrementally in time. The output is derived as the average of the different overlapping output values.

Notation							
j = 1,, M	number of appliances						
T	sampling interval						
$t_n = nT = n$	time instance						
p	active power						
r	reactive power						
q	apparent power						
Ι	current						
p(n)	aggregate signal						
$p_j(n)$	j-th appliance signal						
$\hat{p}_j(n)$	<i>j</i> -th appliance estimated signal						
e(n)	noise						
k	window of samples						
$\hat{p}_j^0(n)$	output of Module-1 TDLCNN						
$\hat{p}_j^1(n)$	output of Module-2 TDLCNN						
$f(\cdot),g(\cdot)$	non-linear function						

Table 8.1 List of the notations.

8.1.1 TDLCNN Model: Designing a baseline CNN for NILM

Each appliance has a unique spectral signature. This is the main principle we exploit to decompose the aggregate signal p(n) into its components $p_j(n)$. Aggregate signal is actually derived as an integration of individual appliances' power consumption values over time. Thus, in order to get the estimates $\hat{p}_j(n)$ of $p_j(n)$, we need to assemble measurements of the aggregate signal p(n) over a time window $[p(n)p(n-1)\dots p(n-k)]^T$. Variable k expresses the number of previous samples that should be considered for estimating the $p_j(n)$. The time window of the aggregate measurements (sequence) covers the mean appliance's operational duration in order to provide the full information regarding appliance's operational states for optimal feature maps selection later. Output sequences are created considering the same length T as in the input sequences, respectively (Fig. 8.2).

According to the already implemented approaches [1], sequence to sequence learning for NILM maps the input sequence of the aggregate signal to a same length output sequence of appliance's



Fig. 8.3 Schematic illustration of the proposed hybrid model in conjunction to a simple feedforward and a recurrent neuron.

active power via LSTM networks. Here, we introduce an architecture based entirely on 1D convolutional neural networks that incorporates time series data. At instant n, the set of input to the module is a sequence of k most recent measurements of aggregate power values which can be represented as vector $\mathbf{p}(n)$ given by:

$$\mathbf{p}(n) = [p(n) \, p(n-1) \dots p(n-k)]^T \tag{8.2}$$

proposing a Tapped Delay Line CNN model (TDLCNN). The purpose of the convolutional layer is to apply non-linear transformations on the input data to maximize regression performance. A set of parameterizable filters (e.g., learnable kernels) is convolved with the input data selecting appropriate feature modalities and estimating kernel parameters, so that performance error on a labeled training set is minimized. The L feature maps, say f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_L , optimally selected by the convolutional layer, will be used as input to the final regression layer. The output is a sequence of the *j*-th appliance active power data, formed as:

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}^{0}(n) = [\hat{p}_{j}^{0}(n)\,\hat{p}_{j}^{0}(n-1)\dots\hat{p}_{j}^{0}(n-k)]^{T}$$
(8.3)

Therefore, we have that:

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}^{0}(n) = g(\mathbf{p}(n)) + e(n) \tag{8.4}$$

where $g(\cdot)$ is a nonlinear relationship modeled by the learning process. As derived in this section, the first step to suitably decompose the aggregate signal to its components $p_j(n)$, is to consider several previous observations of the aggregate signal over a time window, in a way to maximize model's performance.

	CDE			DWE			HPE			WOE		
	MAE(W)	RMSE(W)	NRMS									
TDLCNN	19.2	103.7	0.2	32.0	84.6	0.8	102.2	102.2	1.1	42.2	201.3	1.3
R-TDLCNN	11.9	95.8	0.2	16.0	74.8	0.7	49.3	181.0	0.9	20.4	139.2	0.9
M-TDLCNN	16.3	65.3	0.1	23.9	71.7	0.6	24.9	65.9	0.3	27.0	99.1	0.6
MR-TDLCNN	4.7	41.6	0.1	14.3	64.5	0.6	18.4	58.3	0.3	15.2	76.68	0.5
LSTM[103]	25.3	180.9	0.4	24.0	72.1	1.0	161.7	369.8	0.5	15.8	141.2	0.8
ConvLSTM[99]	14.1	107.0	0.2	24.3	87.3	0.7	94.7	236.8	1.2	55.9	298.0	2.0
CO[128]	117.5	453.3	1.2	156.2	317.6	4.4	249.1	458.7	1.2	267.0	432.7	3.4
FHMM[128]	129.5	323.2	0.9	313.6	459.0	4.4	121.6	426.6	1.1	49.3	360.8	2.8

Table 8.2 Performance metrics (MAE, RMSE, NRMS) for AMPds dataset.

8.1.2 R-TDLCNN Model: Introducing a Recurrent character to CNN for NILM

It is intuitively clear that the active power signal observations per appliance are not independent over time. A widely accepted way to model this dependence and dealing with these inherently recursive data is through recurrent neural networks (RNN). RNNs can use the feedback connection to store information over time in form of activations, successfully handling sequential data and time series. On the other hand, CNNs capture patterns through non-linear relationships allowing weights to be dynamically updated in a complicated way. An approach based entirely on CNN is not adequate (see Section III.A), since significant variations in the disaggregated signal are observed that should be taken into consideration.

Thus, a hybrid CNN model is hereby introduced that incorporates RNN model's characteristics into the basic CNN structure, leading to a novel CNN model with a recurrent character, as illustrated in Fig. 8.3. The difference is that in the case of RNN model the update occurs in the hidden state, whereas in our approach the update is carried out directly to the output. Except for matching sequence inputs with sequence outputs, as introduced in the previous step (Section IV.A), the model incorporates an a posteriori state estimation per appliance, at time n, given observations up to and including time n.

Thus, based on (4) and given (2) and (3), we form an updated non-linear framework:

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}^{1}(n) = f(\mathbf{p}(n), \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}^{0}(n)) + e(n)$$
(8.5)

where:

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}^{1}(n) = [\hat{p}_{j}^{1}(n)\,\hat{p}_{j}^{1}(n-1)\dots\hat{p}_{j}^{1}(n-k)]^{T}$$
(8.6)

The main difficulty in (5) is that the non-linear relationship $f(\cdot)$ is actually unknown. To address the fact, machine learning methods can be applied to approximate $f(\cdot)$ in a way that minimizes error e(n).



Fig. 8.4 The power triangle.

8.1.3 M-TDLCNN Model: Introducing a multi-channel CNN architecture for NILM

An important benefit of using CNNs is that they can support multiple inputs. In the literature, the majority of the proposed methods adopt a solution that uses only active power measurements. However, power utility companies are generally concerned about both active power (P) loads (W) and reactive power (Q) loads (VAR). In active power loads (e.g., an electric stove) dissipation of the performed worked takes place, whereas reactive power loads (e.g., a capacitor) store the power received from the grid, and release it back in the opposite direction later without dissipation. Loads can often be both active and reactive, as for example an air conditioning unit. Mathematically, active power results from in-phase voltage and current, whereas referred to as total momentary power, can also be a useful cue for disaggregation. Apparent power is conventionally expressed in volt-amperes (units in VA). These quantities are related as (Fig. 8.4):

$$s = I \cdot Vp = s \cdot \cos \theta q = s \cdot \sin \theta \tag{8.7}$$

where I is current, V is voltage, and θ is the phase of voltage relative to current (i.e., the phase angle).

The s, p, q, and I are inserted in the CNN model as multi-variable timeseries in order to strengthen the model's reliability, resulting in a non-linear regression problem. In correspondence to Section IV.A, each variable (p, s, q, I) adopts the tapped delay line structure in order to be feed in the model. Each input sequence $(\{p\}, \{s\}, \{q\}, \{I\})$ is then, passed as a separate channel, in correspondence to different channels of an image (e.g. red, green and blue), forming a multi-channel CNN structure. As a result, a fused input that resembles a tensor is created. The tensorized input ensures that the model encapsulates all necessary information to produce the output, using a M-TDLCNN model.

8.1.4 MR-TDLCNN Model: Leveraging M-TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN models into a novel NILM model

The architecture, as shown in Fig. 8.1, consists of a pipelined recurrent structure. As shown in the figure, it is composed of two modules in parallel, TDLCNN Module-1 and TDLCNN Module-2,



Fig. 8.5 Comparison of the proposed method (green solid line) with ground truth (in gray) for selected appliances in AMPds dataset.

in such a manner that the output of Module-2 is used as an input to Module-1. MR-TDLCNN model combines simple recursive approach with CNN architecture in order to allow learning meaningful data-dependent weights. Furthermore, it exploits multiple input features succeeding high performance.

8.2 EXPERIMENTAL EVALUATION

In this section, we will experimentally validate the superiority of the proposed MR-TDLCNN method in comparison to (i) the basic TDLCNN model, (ii) individual updates (R-TDLCNN and M-TDLCNN models) and, more importantly, (iii) other state of the art methods. Among them an LSTM network [103] and a hybrid CNN-LSTM method [99] are included. LSTM has been selected as a typical network for timeseries processing. Furthermore, an improved hybrid CNN-LSTM model [135] is used with CNN layers for feature extraction on input data combined with LSTMs to support sequence prediction. We also compare the aforementioned results with the state-of-the-art NILM algorithms i.e., FHMM-based and CO-based methods from NILMTK [128], a Python-based extension which is widely used in energy disaggregation research. We evaluate the model's accuracy and convergence speed across different models and different appliances. RMSE error of training was selected as a frequently used measure of accuracy in order to keep track of the performance measure of our model during training.



Fig. 8.6 Comparison of loss curves between the basic TDLCNN (orange line) and R-TDLCNN (green line) models.



Fig. 8.7 Comparison of loss curves between the basic TDLCNN (orange line) and M-TDLCNN (green line) models.

8.2.1 Dataset description and experimental setup

The evaluation of the proposed method is conducted on the public AMPds dataset [116]. The AMPds contains active, reactive and apparent power values as well as current measurements from a Canadian house, at one-minute interval over a 2-year period. The selected appliances are of multi-state type, making difficult their respective power load estimation (see Fig. 8.5 with grey filled color).

8.2.2 Performance Evaluation and Comparisons

We trained our models using adam (adaptive moment estimation) optimization with a learning rate of 1e-4. Model weights and coefficients are updated using a mini-batch size of 50 at each training iteration. The maximum number of epochs for training is selected to be 400. Training period starts at 18 August 2012 and ends at 13 April 2013; 30 days were used as test sample (17 May 2013-17 June 2013). This split is representative of the problem and in addition, the testing period is a transitional period, so we can evaluate the ability of the model to adapt to seasonal variations.



Fig. 8.8 Comparison of loss curves between the basic M-TDLCNN (orange line) and MR-TDLCNN (green line) models.



Fig. 8.9 The proposed model architecture. The model leverages the strength of rapid progress in CNNs, among with the need to apply the convolutional models for temporal sequences of data. Thus, a sequential input is entered into the model, a CNN layer is used for the optimal feature extraction and then, the stacked recurrent layers follow.

Deep learning performance is improved through data balance and normalization to 0-1 for each channel. The proposed MR-TDLCNN model, along with TDLCNN, M-TDLCNN, R-TDLCNN and LSTM are implemented using MATLAB software. CNN-LSTM algorithms have been trained and deployed using Python with Tensorflow and Keras libraries. CO and FHMM methods have implemented in NILMTK. Regarding the dataset, training and testing splits have already been pre-split and pre-normalized, to ensure that the conditions are the same and the results are comparable.

The proposed MR-TDLCNN regression model satisfies a set of crucial characteristics making it superior than the other existing methods in literature, for NILM. Its modularity is one of its main advantages in comparison to FHMM and CO approaches, in which dimensionality is a major issue. In addition, the introduction of deep learning as part of the solution of NILM problem is also a comparative advantage. Furthermore, model's performance strengthens with the use of all four components (current, active power, reactive power, and apparent power) available in AMPds dataset, achieving faster convergence and higher performance than state-of-the-art results for the same dataset.

Table 2 presents the comparative results based on objective metrics of (i) Mean Absolute Error (MAE), (ii) Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) and iii) Normalized RMSE (NRMS), which are commonly used metrics for the evaluation of energy disaggregation. In this experimental setup, four appliances for AMPds dataset are presented. Particularly, we have used clothes' dryer (CDE), dishwasher (DWE), heat pump (HPE) and wall oven appliance (WOE) of single AMPds house. Our proposed MR-TDLCNN method generally performs best mainly due to its capability to effectively model time dependencies and its ability to incorporate different data observations (p, s, q, I) strengthen model's performance. R-TDLCNN and M-TDLCNN models proved to have better performance compared to basic TDLCNN model. Here, it is worth mentioning that, CNN-LSTM model's performance is quite high and is a good alternative as a proposed solution to solve NILM problem. It should be mentioned that the model for detecting the HPE appliance (AMPds) is not so accurate mainly due to seasonal signal's changes caused by external contextual conditions / parameters. It should be mentioned that for all scenarios the metrics have been calculated over all the examined time period, in which the appliances can be either in operation or not.

Fig. 8.5 shows the comparison among the predicted signal and the ground truth for clothes dryer (CDE), heat pump (HPE) and wall oven appliance (WOE) of single AMPds House. Fig. 8.5 is representative of the MR-TDLCNN method's superiority against the remaining TDLCNN, M-TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN methods that have been presented before. Thus, the integrated MR-TDLCNN model succeeds better performance in comparison to the results that the basic model architecture succeeds. Particularly, the baseline TDLCNN model presents the worst results among others for all the presented appliances. Also, we can notice the existence of false detections, especially in HPE and WOE appliance. M-TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN models' have adequate performance, while MR-TDLCNN presents high-levels of performance and additionally, false detections have been eliminated.

A way to get insight into the model's learning behavior is through evaluation on the training dataset. Thus, a model's learning rate can be described using performance/epochs diagram. Fig.

8.6, 8.7, 8.8 illustrate loss curves for the four aforementioned models, namely are TDLCNN, R-TDLCNN, M-TDLCNN and MR-TDLCNN, in pairs.

Fig. 8.6 shows TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN models' loss progress during training using RMSE error and considering 60000 iterations per appliance for each of the presented CNN based models. In general, the loss function is being minimized during training. As observed, R-TDLCNN model's performance is slightly better than TDLCNN model's, as the former has a lower loss than the latter. It is worth mentioning that the training loss for HPE and DWE appliances present considerably lower values in R-TDLCNN than the values deriving from TDLCNN model. The loss curve, as illustrated with green for R-TDLCNN model, has lower starting point value, decreases with a smaller rate and is smoother than TDLCNN model's loss curve (with orange line).

Fig. 8.7 shows loss progress for basic TDLCNN and M-TDLCNN models during training. In general, the loss function is being minimized during training. In most cases, M-TDLCNN losses are lower compared to TDLCNNs ones. DWE appliance presents intense slope with high starting point values (3 for TDLCNN and 1.5 for M-TDLCNN) that converge at values <1. Finally, the loss curve for M-TDLCNN and MR-TDLCNN models is presented with orange and green color line, respectively, as Fig. 8.8 shows.

Taking as example WOE appliance, the box plot has been used to display the distribution of RMSE error reduction during training in conjunction to elapsed time, based on the five-number summary: minimum, first quartile, median, third quartile, and maximum. Furthermore, surprisingly high and low values called outliers, are illustrated by dots. The central rectangle spans the first quartile to the third quartile. A segment inside the rectangle shows the median and "whiskers" above and below the box show the locations of the minimum and maximum. Comparing TDLCNN and R-TDLCNN in Fig.9, we notice an increase in convergence speed leading to the reduction of needed time for training in comparison to the time needed for TDLCNN , even though the initial RMSE error (0.9) is greater than RMSE error of the simple CNN single channel model (0.8). Furthermore, TDLCNN succeeds RMSE error 0.2 while R-TDLCNN reaches the value of 0.1. Also, the presence of RMSE error value 0.1 starts early (the first minute of training time), even though as an "outlier". As regards the other two models, M-TDLCNN model reaches the value of 0.1 RMSE error, while MR-TDLCNN reaches the same value earlier and the training phase stops 10 minutes earlier.

Chapter 9

The proposed EnerGAN++ model for NILM

9.1 Motivation and Contribution

The main limitation of the aforementioned GAN-based NILM approaches is that the discriminator is represented by a generic classifier which has not been optimised for the specific particularities of energy disaggregation. More specifically, energy consumption follows long-range dependencies which cannot be approximated by the traditional shallow-based (short-term) discriminant components. Moreover, data consumption time-series of an appliance present non-linear auto-regressive behavior; the output values at a time instance is non-linearly related with the output values of previous time instances. Therefore, the discriminator classifier should simulate recurrent capabilities. Finally, a GAN model used for NILM modelling is implemented using the inverse GAN framework, since we need to approximate real energy consumption signals of an appliance instead of generating realistic outputs.

In this section, we extend the EnerGAN approach of [79] by including a deep learning classifier in the discriminator component of GAN [136], [137]. In particular, we enrich the concept of adversarial learning in NILM by introducing a more efficient discriminator in our proposed EnerGAN++ model which is now constitute of a combined convolutional layer with a recurrent GRU unit instead of a simple binary classifier. Advanced structures such as the recurrent GRU approximate long range recurrent dependencies in a better way, compared to traditional recurrent neural networks suffering from the vanishing gradient problem [138], [40]. In this work, we leverage the strengths of rapid progress in CNNs and the desire to apply these models to time-varying power consumption data sequences, under an adversarial training framework [139]. Here, we emphasize that alternative ways of applying CNNs for sequential data with temporal character for NILM have been proposed, such as [3]. However, none of the above mentioned methods that combine CNNs properties with temporal character have been used in adversarial learning for energy disaggregation. In particular, EnerGAN++ model has good performance, especially in case that (a) noisy aggregate signals are used as input triggers and (b) abrupt changes in the appliance energy signals are encountered. We name this extended model, which is also based on an inverse GAN structure, EnerGAN++. Therefore, the main contributions can be summarized as follows:

- The use of a deep learning recurrent classifier to model the discriminator component of the EnerGAN++, with the capability to approximate long-term and regressive data signal behaviour, instead of the traditional GAN discriminators relied on shallow and generic classifiers.
- EnerGAN++ generates the entire signal waveform and it is capable of making more long-term estimations, rather than predicting solely the single current value of the individual power signal
- Our approach uses the aggregate energy measurements as the noise input vectors triggering the GAN model. In addition, since our target is to approximate real energy consumption of a specific appliance, EnerGAN++ uses labeled time-series of single appliance as input vectors of the generator during the training phase in contrast to conventional GAN modelling where only random noise signals are considered as input triggers. The non-linear deep discriminator unit competitively acts with the generator to reject generated sequences which are not well approximates of energy time-series of an appliance during training. Instead during testing, only the aggregate energy signal is used as input and the EnerGAN++ isolates the energy consumption sequence of a specific appliance from aggregate measurements.
- EnerGAN++ are inherently more robust to noisy input signals and less sensitive to inconsistencies or gaps in the input aggregate signal, since more sophisticated deep learning GAN components are considered.

The structure of the chapter is as follows: In Section 9.2 a detailed description of the NILM problem formulation is provided. Sections 9.3 and 7.4 describe the two EnerGAN++ network's components: the generator and the discriminator, explaining at the same time the challenges and barriers that we should overcome to adopt a GAN network for solving NILM problem as well as, the respective adaptations that EnerGAN++ introduces. Section 7.5 presents the proposed EnerGAN++ method configuration. In Section 9.6, the EnerGAN++ approach is experimentally evaluated against state of the art energy disaggregation methods in publicly available datasets, whereas Section 9.7 concludes the results.

9.2 The NILM Problem Formulation

The residential total power consumption is measured using smart meter devices, thus the consumers be aware of their total (aggregate) power consumption. However, as far as energy efficiency is concerned, energy consumption awareness at appliance level is essential. One way to measure consumption per appliance is through the usage of smart plugs, a solution which is economically unaffordable. For this reason, usually NILM or energy disaggregation methods are applied. NILM is the problem of decomposing the total power consumption of a household, into individual appliance



Fig. 9.1 Comparison between a typical GAN approach and the EnerGAN+ structure approach. Three main specifications are introduced there: (i) the use of the aggregated signal as input noise, (ii) the encoding layer used to map the aggregated signal into a desired latent feature, and (iii) the advanced CNN-GRU discriminator dedicated to achieve the optimal sequence classification, that ensure the EnerGAN++ ability to achieve energy disaggregation, even if the data input samples are noisy.

power signal components, using signal processing and machine learning tools, without prior existence of smart-plug equipment.

At a discrete time index t, we assume $\tilde{p}(t)$ the noisy aggregate measured energy signal for the whole household under study. Signal $\tilde{p}(t)$ is the sum of the individual appliances' power consumption $p_j(t)$ plus an additional noise $\epsilon(t)$. Thus, in a NILM framework [97], we express the total power consumption $\tilde{p}(t)$ as:

$$\tilde{p}(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{M} p_m(t) + \epsilon(t)$$
(9.1)

In Eq. (9.1) variable m refers to the m-th out of M available appliances. Here, we need a robust to noise model able to separate the total noisy power measurements $\tilde{p}(t)$ into the individual -free of noise- appliance source signals $p_m(t)$. Under a NILM framework, the individual appliance power consumption $p_m(t)$ is not a priori available, assuming the absence of installed smart plugs. Instead, only $\tilde{p}(t)$ is given. Therefore, the problem is to calculate the best estimates $\hat{p}_m(t)$ of the appliance power consumption, given the noisy $\tilde{p}(t)$ values.

NILM methods often look at the problem as decomposing a mixture signal into individual appliances signals (based on single-channel source separation) and formulate the task as an optimization problem [see Eq. (9.1)]. Traditional generative models such as independent component analysis [140] and non-negative matrix factorization [117] have been proposed to solve the NILM problem. Linear independent component analysis (ICA) has been especially popular as a method for blind source separation (BSS), with applications in various domains including audio source separation and image processing. However, it would be interesting to replace the linear ICA model, with an alternative model to model the non-linearities existing in energy data consumption signals. In the light of the recent success of deep learning methods, auto-encoders (AEs) have been proposed as an approach to supervised non-linear source separation, by for example Pandey et al. [141] and Grais and Plumbley [142]. In the context of NILM, the work of Kelly [99] is one of the first works that have used denoising autoencoders.



Fig. 9.2 The proposed EnerGAN++ architecture. The proposed method aims to unify existing AE and GAN architectures into a single framework, in which AE achieves a non-linear total power signal source separation, and adversarial training enhances model's robustness to noise. The generator is a convolutional autoencoder and as input has the noisy version of the aggregated power signal. The autoecoder is trained adversarially with the discriminator. The discriminator is a long-term convolutional recurrent network for sequence classification, and is conditioned with the aggregated power signal.

9.2.1 Adversarial learning in Energy Disaggregation - The EnerGAN++ approach

In general estimates of $\hat{p}_m(t)$ given as input the aggregate signal $\tilde{p}(t)$ is approximated through a non-linear relationship and therefore neural network structures are considered as universal approximators [143], [33]. However, unlike other deep learning neural networks that are trained with a loss function until convergence, a GAN model is trained in an adversarial manner between two main components: the generator \mathcal{G} and the discriminator \mathcal{D} . In our NILM modelling, the generator \mathcal{G} is trained to produce time sequences resembling energy consumption of an appliance, while the discriminator \mathcal{D} is trained to check whether the produced time series by the generator coincide with a specific (real) appliance energy consumption sequence or not. Therefore \mathcal{G} is trained in a way to cheat \mathcal{D} in the sense that it produces data sequences that they are not be able to be distinguished by \mathcal{D} . In other words \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{D} play a two-play minmax game with value function of $V(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{G})$

$$\min_{\mathcal{G}} \max_{\mathcal{D}} V(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{G}) = E_{p_m \sim p_{data(p_m)}}[\log \mathcal{D}(p_m)] + E_{z \sim p_z(z)}[\log(1 - \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G}(z))]$$
(9.2)

Eq. (9.2) means that the discriminator \mathcal{D} is trained to maximize the probability of assigning the correct label between the ground truth samples and the "fake" samples produced by \mathcal{G} , while

simultaneously \mathcal{G} to minimize $log(1 - \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G}(z)))$ that is the generator to produce samples of being indistinguishable by \mathcal{D} . The discriminator is trained to reject the artificially generated sequences by the \mathcal{G} and the generator to produce sequences confusing \mathcal{D} .

A typical generative model takes a noise signal vector z in space \mathbb{R}^k and generates another signal, $\mathcal{G}(z)$, of a higher dimensional space \mathbb{R}^n with n > k. The generative models produce data that resemble the real data [144]. Probabilistic generative models demonstrate excellent performance for various tasks such as denoising, inpainting, texture synthesis, video and natural language processing [145].

In our case, a typical generative model will try to successfully reproduce the power consumption signal of an appliance in households. In particular, in the following, we denote as $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ the target signals over a time window T and as $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ the data generated by the generator \mathcal{G} over the same time interval. A traditional GAN generator is optimized to create data sequence resembling the labeled data. This is achieved by propagating the noise signal into a higher dimension space through a neural network structure (i.e., a decoder) with the purpose of transforming the noise input z into a data sequence $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$. This is illustrated in Fig. 9.1, where the noise input signal z is forwarded into a convolutional decoder to generate a data sequence of $\hat{p}_m^{\mathcal{G}}$ of similar statistical properties with the labeled data p_m^{label} .

Even though the generated data $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ are indistinguishable from the real data $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ as they follow the same statistical properties, their resemblance to the actual power values is purely coincidental. Until now, we have underlined the GAN's ability to reproduce appliances power signals that resemble to the actual appliance operation power signal. However, solving NILM problem implies the need for a network trained not only to reproduce the power signal of an appliance but to know the exact operation and consumption of the appliance power consumption value having the same statistics. The trained network should be able to provide information regarding the estimated appliance power consumption value at a specific time, and this, in turn, means that z values should not be purely randomly generated but to move in a space appropriate for extracting the desirable sequential data $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ is a priori known, we need to solve the inverse problem, which corresponds to finding the latent vector z that explains the output measurements as much as possible.

To address the aforementioned difficulties, we modify the traditional GAN configuration to fit the particularities of energy disaggregation problem. In energy disaggregation the purpose of a NILM-based GAN network is to generate real appliance power sequence which is almost identical with the labelled data over a time interval T, that is $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \approx \{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ instead of producing realistic data sequences. Thus, it is important to find a way of inverting the "noninvertible" generator. This is achieved through the following modifications of the traditional GAN structure (see Fig. 9.1).

• First, instead of using a noise input signal z the aggregate energy consumption signal $\tilde{p}(t)$ is considered. Aggregate signal $\tilde{p}(t)$, which is the sum of appliance's energy consumption signals, can be considered as an "noise" input trigger of the EnerGAN++ model. In this way,

the generator \mathcal{G} is capable of producing real and not realistic energy consumption sequences for the *m*-th appliance, confusing the discriminator \mathcal{D} .

- Second, in case that the aggregate signal $\tilde{p}(t)$ is used as input trigger of the proposed GANbased model for NILM, an additional layer is required for the generator \mathcal{G} . In particular, we add an encoder prior to the decoder with the main purpose of compressing the input aggregate signal $\tilde{p}(t)$ in a way to produce a noise vector resembling z of the traditional GAN structure.
- Third, the traditional GAN models considers simple classification structure for the discriminator D. Energy consumption signal presents high temporal relationships and auto-regressive properties. Therefore, the traditional GAN discriminator can be easily cheated by the generator, reducing the overall NILM performance. For this reason, the proposed EnerGAN++ model modifies the conventional GAN discriminator by using GRU unit which has recurrent capabilities in order to address the temporal appliance's energy consumption properties. EnerGAN++ has a more clever discriminator, forcing the generator to produce almost identical appliance energy consumption to cheat D.

9.3 The EnerGAN++ Generator

Fig. 9.2 presents the structure of the generator of the proposed EnerGAN++ model. Our method extends the traditional operation of a GAN beyond the need for randomly generated appliance's power data sequence of the same statistics with the labeled data. The NILM framework implies the need for a network trained to generate the exact operation and consumption of an appliance at a given time instance t.

This is achieved by using as input trigger of the EnerGAN++ the aggregate signal $\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ over a time window of T duration. The signal $\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ is considered as a noise trigger since it is the summation of independent energy consumption signals of the appliances. In addition, during training, the ground truth data of the m-th appliance $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ over a time window of T duration is considered in order to initiate the EnerGAN++ generator to simulate the real energy consumption data of the m-th appliance. We denote as \mathcal{I}_{train} the input trigger vector of the $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\cdot)$ generator during the training phase,

$$\mathcal{I}_{train} \equiv \left[\{ \tilde{p}_t \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \{ p_{m,t}^{label} \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \right]^T$$
(9.3)

To handle the aggregate signal $\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ and the ground truth labels of $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ as input trigger of the EnerGAN++ model, an encoder layer is added prior to the decoder. The encoder generates a compressed "noise" signal z_m (by encoding the input vector signal of \mathcal{I}_{train}) [99] which is used as input trigger of the decoder of the EnerGAN++ generator to produce a real appliance energy consumption time series $\mathcal{G}(z_m)$ for the *m*-th appliance. Thus, the pipeline of the EnerGAN+ generator during the *training phase* is the following:

the pipeline of EnerGAN++ generator during training:

$$\mathcal{I}_{train} \to Encoder(\mathcal{I}_{train}) \to z_m \to Decoder(z_m) \to \mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(z_m)$$
(9.4)

Eq. (9.4) means that the input signal $\mathcal{I}_{train} \equiv \left[\{ \tilde{p}_t \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \{ p_{m,t}^{label} \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \right]^T$ is transformed (compressed) to a latent noise trigger z_m , through a convolutional encoder and then, the noise signal z_m is decompressed to generate a signal $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(z_m)$ that resembles the real energy consumption of the *m*-th appliance. The encoder with convolutional layers, is forced to be an inverted version of the decoder (with transposed convolutional layers), where corresponding layers perform opposite mappings and share parameters [147]. The model tries to minimize the difference between the $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ sequence values and the actual sequence values $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$, generating data sequences $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(z_m)$ that confuse the discriminator \mathcal{D} .

During the testing phase, the generator of the EnerGAN++ model $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\cdot)$ receives as input only the aggregate signal $\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ and not the appliance ground truth data of $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ since it has been learned during the training phase to produce almost identical energy consumption time series of the *m*-th appliance. Thus, the pipeline of the EnerGAN++ generator $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\cdot)$ during the testing phase is the following:

$$\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \to Encoder\left(\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}\right) \to \hat{z}_m \to Decoder\left(\hat{z}_m\right) \to \mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m)$$

$$(9.5)$$

It is clear that the output of the EnerGAN++ generator during the testing phase approximates its output during training since the ground truth data of the *m*-th appliance are available only during training. Therefore, we have that $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m) \approx \mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(z_m)$, meaning that the propoduce data time series by the generator $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ is very close to the labeled data of $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$

9.4 The EnerGAN++ Disciminator

In the EnerGAN++ model there is not a loss function for training the network until convergence. Instead, adversarial learning is adopted based on a min-max two-player game between the generator $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}$ and the discriminator $\mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++}$. The generator produces a sequence of data $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ to cheat the discriminator, while the discriminator seeks to distinguish whether the data sequence produced by \mathcal{G} is real (assigned a value of 1) or fake (assigned a value of 0). The traditional discriminator of a GAN network does not take into account the regressive temporal characteristics of the energy consumption signals. Therefore, it can be easily cheated by the generator which has been appropriately modified to produce almost identical time series for the *m*-th appliance (see Section 9.3).



Fig. 9.3 The computation of a hidden state in a GRU cell.



Fig. 9.4 The discriminator is a long-term convolutional recurrent network for sequence classification. The proposed architecture of the discriminator leverages the strength of rapid progress in CNNs, among with the need to apply the convolutional models for temporal sequences of data. Thus, a sequential input is entered into the discriminator, a CNN layer is used for the optimal feature extraction and then, the stacked recurrent layers follow. The scope of the discriminator is to decide whether the given sequence is the generated or the real one.

Here, the discriminator solves a binary sequence classification problem. Sequence classification is posed as a problem of assigning a label to a sequence of observations. Recently deep learning reccurrent networks have been proposed in the literature for sequence classification. Examples are the LSTM [40] and the GRU [148] structures. These networks have an internal mechanism to balance between current and previous time steps, and thus, memorizing the temporal information flow.

9.4.1 CNN Enriched - Gated Recurrent Networks for EnerGAN++ Discriminator

In the EnerGAN++ model, a combined CNN enriched - GRU classifier is adopted as the discriminator unit. GRU networks are appropriate for modelling the temporal auto-regressive properties of a time series (Fig. 3). However, GRU structures are not able to extract features from the input data in a way to optimize the overall classification performance. For this reason, we adopt a combined approach by introducing a CNN model [36] prior to the GRU framework. Hereby, CNNs have been used as feature extractors for the GRUs. In other words, the combination of CNN as an efficient feature extractor with the GRU model, is capable of representing, synthesize and therefore distinguish the temporal dynamic nature of the power sequence signals.

GRU is a modern version and very similar to the traditional LSTM cell, albeit less complex. It merges the cell state and hidden state of the traditional LSTM cell, and in addition, it combines the forget and input gates into a single update gate. Thus, it is more computational efficient as it need less parameters for training and it has less complex structure. GRUs make use of a gated activation function and are designed so as to have more persistent memory thereby making it easier to capture long-term dependencies.

In the proposed EnerGAN++ dicriminator, a stack of l GRU layers is considered. In general, stacking improves discrimination performance [149]. Stacked GRU layers have two main operations of dependence; the in-depth dependence and the temporal dependency. The in-depth dependence implies that the output of the current GRU layer is related with the output of the previous layer, while temporal dependency assumes that the hidden GRU states in a layer are inter-related in the time domain. Each GRU unit has two additional control variables; the reset gate $r^l(t)$ and the update gate $u^l(t)$ (see Fig. 9.3). The reset gate $r^l(t)$ is responsible for determining how much of information to forget. The update gate $u^l(t)$ is responsible for determining the worth-remembering information of the previous states that should be forwarded to the next state. Therefore, the gates $r^l(t)$ and $u^l(t)$ are related with the hidden states $h^l(t)$ and $h^l(t-1)$ as follows

$$\begin{bmatrix} u^{l}(t) \\ r^{l}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma \\ \sigma \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{W}_{l} \begin{bmatrix} h^{l}(t-1) \\ h^{l-1}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} b_{u}^{l} \\ b_{r}^{l} \end{bmatrix}$$
(9.6)

In Eq. (9.6) σ is the sigmoid function and b_u^1 and b_r^1 are the respective biases of each component for the GRU cell. Variables **W** and **U** are the transition matrices of the *l*-th GRU. In case of l = 1, the convolutional layer is considered as previous layer and the input vector is the feature vector [see Eq. (9.9)]. This means that $h^{l=0}(t) \equiv f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)$. In stacked GRUs configuration a recursive approach is considered as regards the operation of each GRU cell. In particular, a new memory state, denoted as $\tilde{h}^l(t)$, is considered, acting as the consolidation of the hidden state of the previous layer $h^{l-1}(t)$ and the previous hidden state $h^l(t-1)$ of the current layer. The consolidated hidden state $\tilde{h}^l(t)$ is given by:

$$\tilde{h}^{l}(t) = \tanh\left(r^{l}(t)\mathbf{U}h^{l}(t-1) + \mathbf{W}h^{l-1}(t)\right)$$
(9.7)

In Eq. (9.7) function $tanh(\cdot)$ refers to the hyperbolic tangent relationship. As we stated previous, for l = 0 the value of the hidden state equals $h^{l=0}(t) \equiv f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)$ (see Fig. 9.4). Eq. (9.7) means that the consolidated state is related with the output of the hidden state $h^l(t-1)$ at the time instance t-1 and the output of the previous hidden layer $h^{l-1}(t)$ at the time instance t. Using the values of the consolidated state $\tilde{h}^l(t)$ [see Eq. (9.7)] and the values of the update gate $u^l(t)$ [see Eq. (9.6)] the value of the hidden state of the l-th GRU element is estimated

$$h^{l}(t) = \left(1 - u^{l}(t)\right)\tilde{h}^{l}(t) + u^{l}(t)h^{l}(t-1)$$
(9.8)

In more detail, the GRU related above mentioned operations are illustrated in Fig. 9.4.

9.4.2 Operation of the EnerGAN+ discriminator

2

The proposed discriminator has two main components; the convolutional layer and the GRU unit. The convolutional layer transform the input signal to a reliable feature vector $f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)$, while the GRU unit performs the discrimination. As input signal the generated power signal $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m)$ of the *m*-th appliance is used [see Eq.(9.5)]. In addition, the labeled training samples of the respective appliance $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ and the aggregate measurements $\{\tilde{p}_t\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ is used as input triggers for classification comparisons. The discriminator has been optimized through training to distinguish the "fake" data sequences produced by the generator $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ from the real ones.

Initially, the input vector of the discriminator, that is the data produced by the generator $\{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$, the real labelled data $\{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ and the aggregate measurements $\{\tilde{p}_{t}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$ are fed as inputs to a CNN structure with the main purpose of transforming them into optimized feature maps of $f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)$.

$$f_{\mathcal{D}}(t) \sim Conv_{\mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++}} \left(\mathcal{I}_{input} \right)$$
with
$$\mathcal{I}_{input} = \left[\{ p_{m,t}^{label} \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}, \{ \hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}} \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}, \{ \tilde{p}_t \}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \right]^T$$
(9.9)

The features $f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)$ at the time instance t are fed to the GRU structure trained to distriguish the "fake" sequence produced by $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}$ from the real one (available in the training set). Therefore, we have that

$$\mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++} \equiv GRU(f_{\mathcal{D}}(t)) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \approx \{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \\ 0 & \text{if } \{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \text{not} \approx \{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T} \end{cases}$$
(9.10)

Table 9.1 Performance metrics (MAE, SAE, RMSE) for nine appliance of the AMPds and REFIT datasets. In bolds, we have highlighted the method that succeeds the best performance per appliance.

	Clothes Dryer			I	Ieat Pun	np	Oven				
	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE		
EnerGAN++	17.700	0.018	192.523	80.032	0.065	227.704	8.051	0.011	108.909		
ENERGAN [79]	25.030	0.034	260.748	80.125	0.255	256.610	10.258	0.619	145.82		
BabiLSTM [56]	10.009	0.062	99.211	88.215	0.354	230.155	17.645	1.420	146.459		
DAE [99]	37.355	0.170	310.081	55.608	0.261	228.690	19.255	1.306	137.930		
seq2seq CNN [121]	15.473	0.116	149.819	107.119	1.501	260.468	67.578	7.536	322.287		
unidirectional LSTM [109]	90.200	1.104	219.296	154.947	2.181	285.355	57.685	6.094	242.572		
FHMM [128]	129.568	3.422	323.225	121.689	2.641	426.662	49.383	9.047	360.852		
CO [128]	120.191	2.712	468.625	249.389	2.731	459.612	267.089	50.242	433.586		
]	Dishwash	er		Kettle			Microwave			
	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE		
EnerGAN++	20.320	0.079	156.633	7.811	0.232	119.102	8.302	1.417	75.840		
ENERGAN [79]	22.166	0.154	197.087	31.304	0.788	122.357	12.046	1.444	94.008		
BabiLSTM [56]	29.200	0.716	144.776	41.286	4.835	137.877	15.263	0.210	89.678		
DAE [99]	25.410	0.235	205.516	9.063	0.303	114.404	12.252	0.391	89.587		
seq2seq CNN [121]	34.987	0.886	188.099	19.896	1.968	115.482	14.830	0.408	79.568		
unidirectional LSTM [109]	102.171	3.432	241.053	41.120	4.332	149.885	15.922	0.168	92.983		
FHMM [128]	147.701	3.902	493.499	40.856	2.433	204.101	77.342	3.599	196.579		
CO [128]	138.805	3.629	492.172	40.659	2.567	203.586	51.826	2.042	165.419		
		Toaster		Т	Tumble Dryer		Washing Ma		achine		
	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE	MAE	SAE	RMSE		
EnerGAN++	2.255	0.249	32.979	16.992	0.060	108.256	7.362	1.519	105.555		
ENERGAN [79]	2.645	0.632	38.743	19.207	0.069	133.004	8.171	0.265	101.452		
BabiLSTM [56]	12.810	11.897	45.886	48.749	1.097	121.309	17.696	0.811	88.099		
DAE [99]	8.294	7.737	57.960	32.864	0.149	142.340	13.400	0.275	109.782		
seq2seq CNN [121]	15.044	13.790	50.837	42.513	0.648	158.970	27.090	2.196	133.218		
unidirectional LSTM [109]	26.708	14.471	50.413	87.832	1.966	183.102	31.859	2.617	121.371		
FHMM [128]	32.457	15.443	57.786	91.554	2.456	193.771	177.015	2.747	535.198		
CO [128]	35.664	12.544	67.729	91.988	3.211	201.533	210.956	2.936	458.503		

9.5 The Proposed EnerGAN++ Model Configuration

The min-max game refers to the minimization of generator and the maximization of the discriminator.

9.5.1 The adversarial learning between the generator and the discriminator

Eq. (9.10) means that the discriminator is trained not to be cheated by the generator $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}$. At the same time the generator is optimized to produce a sequence of the *m*-th appliance in a way to cheat the discriminator, that is $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m) \approx \{p_{m,t}^{label}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$. This results into a 2-player adversarial learning between the discriminator and the generator

$$\operatorname{EnerGAN}_{++}: \operatorname{minmax}_{\mathcal{G}} V(\mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++}, \mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}) = E\left[\log\mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++}(p_m^{label}, \mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m))\right] + E\left[\log(1 - \mathcal{D}_{EnerGAN++}(\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m), \tilde{p}))\right]$$

$$(9.11)$$

In Eq. (9.11) it is held that $\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}(\hat{z}_m) \equiv \{\hat{p}_{m,t}^{\mathcal{G}}\}_{t=t}^{t=t+T}$.

9.5.2 The proposed EnerGAN++ network configuration

Fig. 2 shows the proposed methodology and the basic structure of the proposed model. As we have stated previously two main components are included in the EnerGAN++ model; *the generator* and *the discriminator*.

EnerGAN++ generator configuration: The EnerGAN++ generator consists of an autoencoder having (i) a convolutional encoder and (ii) a decoder part, which is an inverted convolutional version of the encoder. During the training phase the encoder part takes the aggregate signal measurements $\tilde{p}(t)$ and the labelled energy consumption time series of the *m*-th appliance $p_m^{label}(t)$ and maps it to a latent compressed vector of $z_m(t)$. The compressed vector $z_m(t)$ feeds the decoder part of the generator with the purpose of reconstructing an approximate version of $p_m^{label}(t)$ denoted as $\hat{p}_m(t)$. During the testing phase only the aggregate measurements are used as inputs to the encoder part of the generator and therefore, it produces an approximate latent compressed vector of $\hat{z}_m(t)$. The decoder part has been learned, during the training phase, to produce approximate energy consumption time series of the *m*-th appliance. Therefore, during the test phase, the decoder part of the generator produces a data sequence of $\hat{p}_m^{\mathcal{G}}(t)$ close to $p_m^{label}(t)$ from the input latent signal $\hat{z}_m(t)$. Therefore, the loss function of the generator autoencoder will be:

with

$$\begin{aligned} L_{\mathcal{G}_{EnerGAN++}} &: \min \left\| p_m^{label}(t) - Decoder(\hat{z}_m(t)) \right\|_2 \\ & \hat{z}_m(t) = Encoder(\tilde{p}(t)) \end{aligned} \tag{9.12}$$

Eq. (9.12) means that the encoder part of the generator has been trained to produce a latent compressed signal \hat{z}_m with the capability of generating the energy time series p_m^{label} for the *m*-th appliance.

The encoder configuration structure has three convolutional layers: the first layer consists of 256 filters with a kernel size 1×8 , the second layer consists of 128 filters of 1×16 kernel size, whereas the third layer consists of 64 filters with size 1×32 . The decoder maps the latent value z_m to a higher feature space, which describes accurately the individual appliance waveform. The proposed topology layout has two deconvolution layers: the first layer consists of 64 filters with a kernel size 1×8 and the second layer consists of 128 filters of 1×16 kernel size. The latent vector is not randomly generated, on the contrary it comes from an inverted generator (the encoder) and encloses information from the aggregate signal.

EnerGAN++ discriminator configuration: The discriminator \mathcal{D} comprises of a convolutional layer with 60 different kernels consisting of trainable parameters which can convolve the given input and extract the appropriate features. After the automated feature selection, a sequence classification with two stacked recurrent GRU layer follows. The first GRU layer comprises of 40 filters and the second with 30 filters, whereas the network architecture ends up with two dense layers. The first one consists of 30 neurons, whereas the second one is fully connected to the output neuron to predict whether the input pair is the actual data or the generated one. The neurons in output layer use as the activation function the sigmoid function, whereas all the remaining layers use ReLU as the activation function.



Fig. 9.5 Comparison of the proposed method (purple line) with ground truth (in orange) for selected appliances in AMPds and REFIT dataset. Furthermore, the aggregated data are also illustrated.



Fig. 9.6 Generated power appliance samples for dishwasher appliance (REFIT). The diagrams show the GAN's model robustness to noise, for all the cases (adding Gaussian noise in 5%, 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%).



Fig. 9.7 Generated power values for toaster appliance, The diagrams indicate that the proposed model is robust to noise, whereas the baselines are weak for the cases with noise.



Fig. 9.8 Quantitative results on AMPds and REFIT datasets. The small MAE error values provide better performance.



Fig. 9.9 Comparison between EnerGAN++ model results provided after applying Gaussian noise to the aggregate signal and the respective results of the disaggregation using the sequence to subsequence conditional GAN model of [2]. The small MAE error values provide better performance.



Fig. 9.10 Comparison between EnerGAN++ model results provided after applying Gaussian noise to the aggregate signal and the respective results of the disaggregation using the WaveNILM model of [3]. The small MAE error values provide better performance.

9.6 Experiments

9.6.1 Description of the Dataset

The evaluation of our generative adversarial model for energy disaggregation has been conducted on nine appliances derived from AMPds [119] and REFIT [131] datasets. These open-access energy consumption datasets provide the aggregate power measurements of the whole house and sub-metered readings (smart plugs) from individual appliances at different time resolutions; 60s for AMPds, 8s for REFIT. In our study, REFIT data are down sampled to 60s resolution. The AMPds consists of a single house in Canada, whereas the REFIT consists of 20 houses located in UK. Both the AMPds and REFIT datasets collected over a period of two years. The appliances are: clothes dryer, heat pump and oven appliances from AMPds and dishwasher, kettle, microwave, toaster, tumble dryer and washing machine appliances from REFIT dataset.

The section 9.6 presents: (i) the evaluation performance metrics for our proposed methods in contrast to the other state of the art methods (see section 9.6.3), (ii) the robustness of our method to noise, which is our comparative advantage in contrast to other conventional NILM methods (see section 9.6.4).

The chapter points out the EnerGAN++ method's comparative advantage for noisy aggregate data. Furthermore, REFIT measurements contain noise in the label ground truth data due to numerous unknown appliances and measurement errors. This introduces an additional challenges for our proposed method.

Our EnerGAN++ algorithm is implemented in Python 3.6 using the Keras API integrated into TensorFlow 2. The computer used for all of the training and testing was an Intel Core i7-8750H CPU at 2,20 GHz with 8 GB of random-access memory and an NVIDIA GeForce GTX 1050 with 4096 MB of DDR5 memory.

9.6.2 Quantitative Evaluation Metrics

In this study, we compare the proposed EnerGAN++ method for NILM, against other state of the art methods. In particular, our method is evaluated against the previous version of our proposed GAN (EnerGAN) [79], as well as the BabiLSTM network, as presented in [56]. Furthermore, the method is compared against the traditional deep learning models, applied for NILM, such as sequence to sequence CNNs (seq2seq CNN), [121], [56], unidirectional LSTMs [109], [57] and denoising autoencoders [99]. These models have also been implemented in Python 3.6 using Keras. Finally, we compare the proposed method against additional benchmark approaches such as FHMM [128] and CO [128]. These approaches are implemented in NILMTK library [128].

Table I is a summary that compares the aforementioned techniques with the proposed Ener-GAN++ model. The metrics used are:

(i) the Mean Absolute Error (MAE) that measures the average magnitude of the errors in the set of predictions and is a commonly used metric for NILM [58]. MAE metric is used when we are interested in the error in power at every time point, and is less affected by outliers, i.e. isolated predictions that are particularly inaccurate:

$$MAE = \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{N} \left| \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{j}}(t) - \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{j}}(t) \right|}{N}$$
(9.13)

(ii) the Signal Aggregate Error (SAE) is a common metric used to estimate the total energy consumed by each appliance over a period of time [58]. This measure is useful because a method could be accurate enough for reports of daily power usage even if its per-timestep prediction is less accurate,

$$SAE = \frac{\left| \sum_{t=1}^{N} \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{j}}(t) - \sum_{t=1}^{N} \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{j}}(t) \right|}{\sum_{t=1}^{N} \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{j}}(t)}$$
(9.14)

(iii) the Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE), that is more sensitive to large errors, occurring either due to time delays or even fault detection (outliers),

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{N} (\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{j}(t) - \mathbf{p}_{j}(t))^{2}}{N}}$$
(9.15)

From the above, we consider that the smaller the MAE, SAE and RMSE errors are, the better the performance of the examined method is.

Table 9.2 Rate of change in MAE error with an increase on Gaussian noise. The comparison is between the proposed EnerGAN++ method and the BabiLSTM as well as sequence to sequence CNN methods.

	Appliance		Clothes dryer			Heat pump	Oven				
	Method	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	Proposed	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	
Δn	(0-5)%	-0.16	1.58	1.07	1.20	1.84	2.26	0.67	0.70	0.32	
	(5-10)%	1.67	1.63	2.25	0.07	-0.15	0.99	1.31	0.90	0.51	
	(10 - 20)%	0.03	0.73	2.27	-0.15	0.52	2.61	0.88	0.56	0.06	
	(20 - 30)%	0.77	2.37	-0.76	0.58	0.33	0.26	0.67	0.62	0.61	
	(30 - 40)%	1.53	0.39	0.79	-0.05	1.60	0.66	0.28	1.30	1.22	
	$\overline{\Delta r}$	0.83	1.34	1.43	0.41	0.89	1.36	0.76	0.82	0.55	
	Appliance	Dishwasher			Kettle			Microwave			
	Method	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	Proposed	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	
	(0-5)%	0.37	1.10	0.75	0.19	1.59	1.05	0.01	0.32	-0.05	
	(5-10)%	0.61	1.50	0.04	0.93	0.65	-0.15	0.06	0.04	0.02	
Δn	(10 - 20)%	0.94	0.74	-0.07	0.15	0.13	0.33	0.34	-0.11	0.13	
	(20 - 30)%	0.16	0.33	0.05	-0.29	-0.13	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.20	
	(30 - 40)%	0.29	0.92	0.58	0.08	0.46	0.10	-0.04	0.06	0.07	
	$\overline{\Delta r}$	0.47	0.92	0.30	0.33	0.59	0.34	0.09	0.12	0.09	
	Appliance		Tumble dryer		Washing machine			Toaster			
	Method	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	EnerGAN++	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	Proposed	BabiLSTM	seq2seqCNN	
	(0-5)%	0.62	1.19	0.23	-0.19	1.82	0.70	-0.08	1.18	0.53	
	(5-10)%	0.38	1.88	-0.47	0.15	0.41	1.15	0.10	-0.08	0.57	
Δ^n	(10 - 20)%	0.15	-0.02	0.48	0.03	0.45	-0.07	0.33	0.10	-0.08	
	(20 - 30)%	0.01	0.42	0.13	0.17	0.16	0.30	-0.06	0.01	-0.05	
	(30 - 40)%	0.21	-0.49	0.13	0.35	-0.30	-0.08	0.02	0.19	0.35	
	$\overline{\Delta r}$	0.27	0.80	0.29	0.18	0.63	0.46	0.12	0.31	0.31	

9.6.3 Experimental Results

In Table 1, our proposed method has the lower values for MAE metric. This indicates that the proposed EnerGAN++ has the best performance compared to the other methods, in terms of MAE.

The exception is the clothes dryer appliance, where MAE as well as RMSE values seem to be higher, while SAE error succeeds the minimum value. This is probably occurs due to the "jagged edges" appeared in clothes dryer appliance pattern, that successfully cashed by the bidirectional-LSTM scheme, but only as outline in the proposed scheme (also see Fig. 9.5). SAE and RMSE metric values show also good performance for the majority of appliances. In terms of RMSE error, however, the "failures" observed refereed to time delays occurred between the generated and ground truth data. Furthermore, from previous studies in NILM, has been observed that architectures such as LSTM and CNN, underestimate power values during the training process. As a result, such schemes, produce patterns with lower power values, leading to small RMSE values, but, on the contrary, to increased MAE values. Furthermore, it should be pointed out that the proposed network has been significantly improved compared to our former EnerGAN network [79]. The improvement is due to the different discriminator configuration, i.e. the recurrent convolutional network for sequence classification that is trained to discriminate samples from data, as well as the different loss functions selected for our proposed GAN network.

Fig. 9.5 shows the aggregate signal (grey line) and the generated power timeseries from our GAN network (purple line) at a given time period. Also, with orange line the ground truth data are depicted. As shown, the operation of each appliance is detected at an adequate level. In Fig. 9.5, the generated timeseries of power data are identical with the actual operation (ground truth) of clothes dryer, oven, kettle, microwave, toaster, tumble dryer and washing machine appliances. However, during the snapshot in time as illustrated in Fig. 9.5, for the heat pump appliance, a false positive is appeared, since the appliance is detected in operation five times, whereas 4 times is actually ON. On the contrary, a false negative is detected, at first, for dishwasher appliance, but actually the orange undetected signal for this case indicates noise and not actual presence of the dishwasher appliance.

9.6.4 Robustness to noise

Hereby we compare the results of our proposed method after having applied additive white Gaussian noise in the aggregate signal in varying percentages (5%, 10%, 20%, 30% and 40%). The n% percentage values means that the power measurements of the aggregated signal (in W) have a deviation of n% with 68%. Fig. 9.6 shows the generated values and their respective ground truth, assuming clear aggregated signal (as illustrated in the up left diagram) and aggregated signal, corrupted with 5%, 10%, 20%, 30% and 40% Gaussian noise, respectively. As noticed, the aggregated power values are differentiated from the real ones, according to the percentage of the Gaussian noise, and gradually "new" peak values in the aggregate timeseries are appeared, that could lead to an erroneously detection of an appliance in operation or to degrade the quality of the generated appliance power signal. In Fig. 9.6, the aggregated signal distortion, is observed, for the different percentages of the Gaussian noise. For example, on the 6th of May, at 6:00 AM, the aggregated signal has its maximum, with peak values reaching the 4000 W, while, after adding the Gaussian noise, it appears that the GAN's performance isn't affected.
Dishwasher appliance has a duration in operation of about a half hour or even 1 hour. The Gaussian noise, distorts the aggregated signal, however, this distortion is not enough to fool the EnerGAN++ and force it to fault detection. In the next step, the study examines the behaviour of the EnerGAN++ model in detecting appliances in operation for short time, since the peak values from the Gaussian noise act as a catalyst for techniques that detect the appliance pattern into the aggregated signal. Toaster, an appliance that remains ON for a short period of time (some minutes), has been selected. Fig. 9.7 compares the generated appliances power values (dark green line) using as input an aggregate signal corrupted with Gaussian noise (gray filled color), with the respective estimations after applying the traditional LSTM (yellow line) and CNN (orange line) methods. In contrast to EnerGAN++ method that performs learning in an adversarial framework (between generator and discriminator), CNN and LSTM methods try to catch the appliance signal from the aggregated signal using non-linear regression relationships. Thus, a possible aggregated signal distortion, leads to erroneous appliance signal detection and the opposite one. This is obvious, in Fig. 9.7, where the CNN and LSTM architectures underestimate the toaster appliance power values during operation at 8:00 AM, as the Gaussian noise increases from 5% to 40%. In addition, fault detection seems to be appeared for LSTM and CNN models. The right down diagram (40%) is indicative of the CNN method's "confusion". In particular, it appears that the CNN model detects the toaster appliance in operation, two times in the time interval between 7:45 and 8:00 AM, and in addition, the peak power values for the appliance in operation reach almost the 400 W, whereas the actual power values should be of about 900 W.

Fig. 9.8 shows the MAE metric results for noise in the aggregate signal in all cases (5%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%) between the proposed approach and the LSTM and CNN methods, per appliance. The quantitative results on AMPds and REFIT datasets, shown that the EnerGAN++ approach is robust to noise in the aggregate signal. Here, it is nevertheless necessary to remind that the smaller MAE error values provide a better performance. It is indicative that in most appliances, the rate of change of the MAE is lower than the increase in Gaussian error (for further details see Table II).

Fig. 9.9 compares the results of EnerGAN++ model with the corresponding results provided by the sequence to sub-sequence conditional GAN model [2], given noisy aggregate signal values, for the REFIT dataset. EnerGAN++ is a robust to noise model and achieves good performance, regardless of noise, in contrast to the SEQ2SUB model. SEQ2SUB model achieves good results in normal cases as shown in [2], however, given noise aggregate signal input, its performance is degraded (Fig. 9.9). Fig. 9.10 compares the result of EnerGAN model and WaveNILM [3] model given noisy aggregated inputs, for the AMPds dataset. The results using WaveNILM method are significantly degraded with the noisy inputs.

Table II shows the MAE error rate of change Δr for the respective increase of Gaussian noise ((0-5)%, (5-10)%, (10-20)%, (20-30)%, (30-40)%), as well as the average rate of change $\overline{\Delta}r$ for all the above mentioned cases.

$$\Delta r = \frac{MAE_{n_j\%} - MAE_{n_i\%}}{n_j - n_i}, \ n_j > n_i$$
(9.16)

$$\overline{\Delta r} = \frac{\sum_{1}^{N} |\Delta r|}{N} \tag{9.17}$$

As observed, the change of MAE by an additional one percentage point, referred as $\overline{\Delta r}$, is lower in our proposed case, rather than in the two other methods (BaBiLSTM and seq2seqCNN).

9.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we attempt to incorporate the autoencoder architecture under a generative adversarial network, to achieve the inverse mapping and extract meaningful appliance power consumption signal from the generator. Furthermore, we propose a novel discriminator for sequence classification, that successfully distinguishes the generated appliance sequences from the real ones. A hybrid CNN-GRU model ensures that the discriminator creates proper features and exploits the temporal information of the timeseries. In the discriminator, the appliance power signal is paired with the aid of the aggregated signal, to assist the discriminator to properly separate the generated from the real values. Experimental results indicate the proposed method's superiority compared to the current state of the art.

Chapter 10

Conclusions

10.1 Summary and Contribution of the Dissertation

Deep neural networks have successfully been applied to address time series modelling problems. They have proved to be an effective solution given their capacity to automatically learn the temporal dependencies present in time series. However, selecting the most convenient type of deep neural network and its parametrisation is a complex task that requires considerable expertise. Numerous deep learning architectures have been developed to accommodate the diversity of time-series datasets across different domains. In this dissertation, we proposed architectures in both one-step-ahead and multi-horizon time-series prediction—describing how temporal information is incorporated into the model. Furthermore, we have proposed hybrid deep learning models, which combine different neural network components to improve pure methods in either category.

10.1.1 Contribution in the field of ionospheric TEC modeling

To establish high-precision forecast products and use them for positioning needs, it is necessary to introduce reliable regional observation data to characterize regional anomalies that affect the ionosphere. In this dissertation, we review a variety of deep learning models for time series ionospheric TEC prediction that have been developed to explicitly capture temporal relationships.

Recurrent Neural Networks and their variants have become competitive methods for time series TEC modeling. In chapter 3, a supervised unidirectional LSTM regression model that predicts vertical TEC values has been proposed. The LSTM structure models the temporal dependencies of the phenomenon and additionally the entrance to the model of external parameters related to solar and geomagnetic activity, enhances the models accuracy. Furthermore, non-linearity and sequence-to-sequence modelling is an additional advantage of the proposed LSTM method.

A Recurrent Neural Network is a type of neural network well-suited to time series data. Moving towards RNN models that have as basic structure recurrent layers, that are able to process a time series step-by-step, alternative architectures are proposed here, that adopt convolutional la yers as basic structure. The proposed network has its origins in the traditional CNN network that is popular for imaging applications. However, here is attempted to explore CNN correspondence in detecting temporal recurrent patterns in timeseries structures, through the implementation of various adjustments and proposing specialized convolutional architectures. A temporal convolutional neural network is proposed that consists of causal dilated 1D convolutions with autoregressive character to predict ionosphere variations above a ground station and extract individualized VTEC values per observed satellite. For ionosphere TEC modelling, the proposed network has statistically higher accuracy than the other compared models, due to the successful combination between dilated convolutions and very deep networks (augmented with residual layers). Thus, the temporal CNN model looks very far into the past to make a prediction, allowing temporal dependencies.

Then, a model for accurate TEC estimates from GNSS data, surpassing problems related to ionosphere irregular behavior at regional level, is proposed. The model creates robust regional TEC models, which can eventually be used to estimate ionosphere variations at different geographic locations (*spatial*), for different time periods (*temporal*) and under various solar and geomagnetic conditions. The proposed model allows different solar and geomagnetic parameters as features. As regards the spatial variability, depending on the station latitude, different weights to the model should be assigned. These weights are learnable during the training phase and the features contribute in a different way to the predictions of the model, depending on the station. In this step, the *convolutional neural networks (CNN)* properly adjust the weights to better capture the particularities of each station [36]. The proposed deep learning architecture is a combination between convolutional and recurrent layer structures, to enhance temporal variability. Our model leverages the strength of rapid progress in CNN, among with the need to apply the convolutional models for temporal sequences of data. The CNN layer is used for the optimal feature extraction and then, the stacked recurrent layers follow, to control and manage the temporal information flow.

10.1.2 Contribution in the field of energy disaggregation

In chapter 7, a contextually adaptive and Bayesian optimized bidirectional LSTM model for modeling appliances' consumption patterns in a NILM operational framework is proposed. The CoBiLSTM model is a generalized bidirectional LSTM network, adaptable to different contextual factors with an internal process of adaptation based on model performance error. The proposed approach based on progressive model updates can effectively adapt to a wider and more diverse range of instances and conditions, thus making a successful step towards scaled up NILM applicability. A bespoke, appliance-specific and specific to particular contextual configuration model would have better performance than our scalable context aware model, but it would only be applicable in a very con-strained set of settings. The proposed model provides an updating solution that is sufficiently general, while at the same time managing to capture individual particularities in appliance operation.

Then, a novel deep learning based on CNN structure is introduced for energy disaggregation. The proposed CNN deep-learning multi-input/multi-output regression model leverages the recurrent property to effectively model the temporal interdependencies of the power signals. Moreover, the incorporation of multiple channels, each for a different signal (active, reactive, apparent power and current), offers additional streams of information resulting in a more accurate model. Experimental results suggest higher performance and faster convergence times compared to state of the art approaches.

Then, the NILM problem is solved by incorporating an autoencoder architecture to a generative adversarial network, to achieve the inverse mapping and extract meaningful appliance power consumption signal from the generator. Furthermore, a novel discriminator for sequence classification is proposed. The discriminator successfully distinguishes the generated appliance sequences from the real ones. A hybrid CNN-GRU model ensures that the discriminator creates proper features and exploits the temporal information of the timeseries. In the discriminator, the appliance power signal is paired with the aid of the aggregated signal, to assist the discriminator to properly separate the generated from the real values. Experimental results indicate the proposed method's superiority compared to the current state of the art.

10.2 Future Prospects

There is, of course, room for additional work in each of the topics covered in this dissertation. Hence, in this final section, some ideas for future research are discussed. An issue that falls under the broader research area of this dissertation is the incorporation of the current trends in the literature such as ensemble models to enhance accuracy or transfer learning and to reduce the burden of high training times. As for time series prediction, providing explainable result is beneficial for measuring its reliability. Therefore, enhancing interpretability becomes a future topic attracting intensive attention. Acceleration for the learning process is another area in which deep learning needs to be improved over the next few years. In order to determine the weights of multiple layers in the network, deep learning-based approaches usually requires hours or even days for training, even using the latest GPU processors, which is unacceptable for time series prediction in some real-world application cases. For improving the computational efficiency, some studies have been conducted to propose algorithms and strategies for accelerating deep learning [20].

10.2.1 Ionospheric TEC modeling

The transmitted signals from Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) are directly affected by the ionospheric variations, causing delays [50]. These delays depend on the signal frequency and the electron density along the transmission path. Hence, ionospheric variability introduces an additional error source in GNSS positioning [51]. The use of multiple navigation signals of distinct center frequency transmitted from the same GNSS satellite allows direct estimation of these ionospheric delays. Exploiting the fact that different signal frequencies are affected differently by the ionosphere, an appropriate processing strategy of multiple-frequency GNSS signals, eliminates the ionospheric error [51]. Contrary to multi-frequency GNSS receivers, real-time (RT) single-frequency (SF) positioning with a low-cost receiver has received increasing attention in recent years due to its large amount of possible applications. However, in this case, one major challenge is the effective mitigation of these ionospheric delays [52]. RT-SF-SPP (Standard Point Positioning)/PPP (Precise Point Positioning) techniques use ionospheric vertical TEC (VTEC) products released by the International GNSS Service (IGS) real-time service [53], to eliminate the ionospheric error and apply corrections to the model as external parameters. However, these ionospheric VTEC products have global coverage. An interesting future prospect would be to extend the applicability of the proposed non-linear regional models for ionospheric variability modelling and to apply them as external ionosphere corrections in near-real time PPP-RTK processing. The outcomes of these models could be used as part of the integer ambiguity resolution (IAR)–enabled PPP owing to the use of predicted ionospheric delays in addition to other corrections.

As future work, it is important to assess the accuracy of the TECs computed by the model in the position domain, with precise coordinates of the IGS stations. Also, it is important to investigate model reliability, given as inputs GNSS observational data from a regional network of stations close to each other, to examine the extent to which such models capture the regional anomalies.

In addition, more complicated deep learning architectures such as semi-supervised learning [94], [95] and/or Generative Adversarial Networks (GAN) [90] can be examined to see if they can improve the results while retaining small computational cost.

10.2.2 Energy disaggregation

Efficient and careful utilisation of energy resources is necessary in order to conserve them. Energy disaggregation is an essential element in the conservation of energy since it elaborates the energy usage tendencies. The trends observed in the energy-usage patterns from a household can be used for security purposes. A detected anomaly behaviour might implies a sign of appliance failure or illegal use of supplied electricity. The appliance usage patterns can also be used to calculate and control the amount of carbon emissions. Also, investigating model's scalability and applicability to different contextual factors that constitute an obstacle to the solution of NILM problem, is another interesting prospect for future research.

References

- M. Kaselimi, E. Protopapadakis, A. Voulodimos, N. Doulamis, and A. Doulamis. Multichannel recurrent convolutional neural networks for energy disaggregation. *IEEE Access*, 7:81047–81056, 2019.
- [2] Y. Pan, K. Liu, Z. Shen, X. Cai, and Z. Jia. Sequence-to-subsequence learning with conditional gan for power disaggregation. In *ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 3202–3206. IEEE, 2020.
- [3] A. Harell, S. Makonin, and I. V. Bajić. Wavenilm: A causal neural network for power disaggregation from the complex power signal. In ICASSP 2019 - 2019 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 8335–8339, 2019.
- [4] Changqing Cheng, Akkarapol Sa-Ngasoongsong, Omer Beyca, Trung Le, Hui Yang, Zhenyu Kong, and Satish Bukkapatnam. Time series forecasting for nonlinear and nonstationary processes: A review and comparative study. *IIE Transactions*, 01 2015.
- [5] Zhengping Che, Sanjay Purushotham, Kyunghyun Cho, David Sontag, and Yan Liu. Recurrent neural networks for multivariate time series with missing values. *Scientific reports*, 8(1):1–12, 2018.
- [6] George C Tiao and George EP Box. Modeling multiple time series with applications. *journal* of the American Statistical Association, 76(376):802–816, 1981.
- [7] Lawrence C Hamilton, Cliff Brown, and Barry D Keim. Ski areas, weather and climate: time series models for new england case studies. *International Journal of Climatology: A Journal* of the Royal Meteorological Society, 27(15):2113–2124, 2007.
- [8] Nima Amjady. Short-term hourly load forecasting using time-series modeling with peak load estimation capability. *IEEE Transactions on power systems*, 16(3):498–505, 2001.
- [9] Ruey S Tsay. Analysis of financial time series, volume 543. John wiley & sons, 2005.
- [10] Giovanni Sparacino, Francesca Zanderigo, Stefano Corazza, Alberto Maran, Andrea Facchinetti, and Claudio Cobelli. Glucose concentration can be predicted ahead in time from continuous glucose monitoring sensor time-series. *IEEE Transactions on biomedical* engineering, 54(5):931–937, 2007.
- [11] Nikolay Laptev, Saeed Amizadeh, and Ian Flint. Generic and scalable framework for automated time-series anomaly detection. In *Proceedings of the 21th ACM SIGKDD international* conference on knowledge discovery and data mining, pages 1939–1947, 2015.
- [12] Sherif Ishak and Haitham Al-Deek. Performance evaluation of short-term time-series traffic prediction model. *Journal of transportation engineering*, 128(6):490–498, 2002.
- [13] Md Abdur Rashid Sarker, Khorshed Alam, and Jeff Gow. Exploring the relationship between climate change and rice yield in bangladesh: An analysis of time series data. Agricultural Systems, 112:11–16, 2012.

- [14] Martin Längkvist, Lars Karlsson, and Amy Loutfi. A review of unsupervised feature learning and deep learning for time-series modeling. *Pattern Recognition Letters*, 42:11–24, 2014.
- [15] Eric Zivot and Jiahui Wang. Vector Autoregressive Models for Multivariate Time Series, pages 369–413. 01 2003.
- [16] P.J. Brockwell. Time series analysis. In Penelope Peterson, Eva Baker, and Barry McGaw, editors, *International Encyclopedia of Education (Third Edition)*, pages 474–481. Elsevier, Oxford, third edition, 2010.
- [17] Christopher Bishop. Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning, volume 16, pages 140–155. 01 2006.
- [18] Gianluca Bontempi, Souhaib Ben Taieb, and Yann-Aël Le Borgne. Machine learning strategies for time series forecasting. In *European business intelligence summer school*, pages 62–77. Springer, 2012.
- [19] Nesreen K Ahmed, Amir F Atiya, Neamat El Gayar, and Hisham El-Shishiny. An empirical comparison of machine learning models for time series forecasting. *Econometric Reviews*, 29(5-6):594–621, 2010.
- [20] Zhongyang Han, Jun Zhao, Henry Leung, King Fai Ma, and Wei Wang. A review of deep learning models for time series prediction. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 2019.
- [21] Jiawei Han, Micheline Kamber, and Jian Pei. 3 data preprocessing. In Jiawei Han, Micheline Kamber, and Jian Pei, editors, *Data Mining (Third Edition)*, The Morgan Kaufmann Series in Data Management Systems, pages 83–124. Morgan Kaufmann, Boston, third edition edition, 2012.
- [22] Amal Mahmud and Ammar Mohammed. A Survey on Deep Learning for Time-Series Forecasting, pages 365–392. 01 2021.
- [23] O. Mandrikova, Nadezhda Fetisova, Riad Al-Kasasbeh, D. Klionskiy, Vladimir Geppener, and Ilyash Maksim. Ionospheric parameter modelling and anomaly discovery by combining the wavelet transform with autoregressive models. *Annals of Geophysics*, 58, 11 2015.
- [24] D Venkata Ratnam, Nagireddy Vanga, P S Brahmanadam, B Sada Siva Rao, K Sarat Kumar, et al. Auto regressive ionospheric prediction model for gps applications. *International Journal* of Computer Applications, 48(4):7–9, 2012.
- [25] Yulong Kong, Hongzhou Chai, JinYao Li, ZongPeng Pan, and Yang Chong. A modified forecast method of ionosphere vtec series based on arma model. In 2017 Forum on Cooperative Positioning and Service (CPGPS), pages 90–95. IEEE, 2017.
- [26] D. Venkata Ratnam, Yuichi Otsuka, G. Sivavaraprasad, and J.R.K. Kumar Dabbakuti. Development of multivariate ionospheric tec forecasting algorithm using linear time series model and arma over low-latitude gnss station. *Advances in Space Research*, 63(9):2848–2856, 2019. Multi-GNSS: Methods, Benefits, Challenges, and Geosciences Applications.
- [27] Zhongyang Han, Jun Zhao, Henry Leung, King Fai Ma, and Wei Wang. A review of deep learning models for time series prediction. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 21(6):7833–7848, 2021.
- [28] A. D. Doulamis, N. D. Doulamis, and S. D. Kollias. On-line retrainable neural networks: improving the performance of neural networks in image analysis problems. *IEEE Transactions* on Neural Networks, 11(1):137–155, 2000.
- [29] John Bosco Habarulema, Lee-Anne McKinnell, Pierre J. Cilliers, and Ben D.L. Opperman. Application of neural networks to south african gps tec modelling. *Advances in Space Research*, 43(11):1711–1720, 2009. Ionosphere - Modelling, Forecasting, and Telecommunications I.

- [30] Farideh Sabzehee, Saeed Farzaneh, Mohammad Ali Sharifi, and Mehdi Akhoondzadeh. Tec regional modeling and prediction using ann method and single frequency receiver over iran. *Annals of Geophysics*, 61(1):103, 2018.
- [31] ATILA Yilmaz, KE Akdogan, and M Gurun. Regional tec mapping using neural networks. *Radio Science*, 44(3), 2009.
- [32] N. Bakalos, A. Voulodimos, N. Doulamis, A. Doulamis, A. Ostfeld, E. Salomons, J. Caubet, V. Jimenez, and P. Li. Protecting water infrastructure from cyber and physical threats: Using multimodal data fusion and adaptive deep learning to monitor critical systems. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 36(2):36–48, 2019.
- [33] N. Doulamis, A. Doulamis, and T. Varvarigou. Adaptive algorithms for interactive multimedia. *IEEE MultiMedia*, 10(4):38–47, 2003.
- [34] Z. Huang and H. Yuan. Ionospheric single-station tec short-term forecast using rbf neural network. *Radio Science*, 49(4):283–292, 2014.
- [35] Zhengxie Zhang, Shuguo Pan, Chengfa Gao, Tao Zhao, and Wang Gao. Support vector machine for regional ionospheric delay modeling. *Sensors*, 19:2947, 07 2019.
- [36] A. Voulodimos, N. Doulamis, A. Doulamis, and E. Protopapadakis. Deep learning for computer vision: A brief review. *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, 2018, 2018.
- [37] Wojciech Zaremba, Ilya Sutskever, and Oriol Vinyals. Recurrent neural network regularization, 2014.
- [38] Alex Sherstinsky. Fundamentals of recurrent neural network (rnn) and long short-term memory (lstm) network. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 404:132306, 03 2020.
- [39] Sepp Hochreiter. The vanishing gradient problem during learning recurrent neural nets and problem solutions. International Journal of Uncertainty, Fuzziness and Knowledge-Based Systems, 6(02):107-116, 1998.
- [40] Sepp Hochreiter and Jürgen Schmidhuber. Long short-term memory. Neural Comput., 9(8):1735–1780, November 1997.
- [41] Felix A. Gers, Douglas Eck, and Jürgen Schmidhuber. Applying lstm to time series predictable through time-window approaches. In Georg Dorffner, Horst Bischof, and Kurt Hornik, editors, *Artificial Neural Networks — ICANN 2001*, pages 669–676, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2001. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [42] Wenqing Sun, Long Xu, Xin Huang, Weiqiang Zhang, Tianjiao Yuan, and Yihua Yan. Bidirectional lstm for ionospheric vertical total electron content (tec) forecasting. In 2017 IEEE Visual Communications and Image Processing (VCIP), pages 1–4. IEEE, 2017.
- [43] Maria Kaselimi, Athanasios Voulodimos, Nikolaos Doulamis, Anastasios Doulamis, and Demitris Delikaraoglou. A causal long short-term memory sequence to sequence model for tec prediction using gnss observations. *Remote Sensing*, 12(9):1354, 2020.
- [44] Adarsha Ruwali, AJ Sravan Kumar, Kolla Bhanu Prakash, G Sivavaraprasad, and D Venkata Ratnam. Implementation of hybrid deep learning model (lstm-cnn) for ionospheric tec forecasting using gps data. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 2020.
- [45] Pedro Lara-Benítez, Manuel Carranza-García, and José Riquelme. An experimental review on deep learning architectures for time series forecasting. *International Journal of Neural* Systems, 31, 11 2020.

- [46] Madhab Pal, Rajib Roy, Joyanta Basu, and Milton S. Bepari. Blind source separation: A review and analysis. In 2013 International Conference Oriental COCOSDA held jointly with 2013 Conference on Asian Spoken Language Research and Evaluation (O-COCOSDA/CASLRE), pages 1–5, 2013.
- [47] Jeffrey M Forbes, Scott E Palo, and Xiaoli Zhang. Variability of the ionosphere. Journal of Atmospheric and Solar-Terrestrial Physics, 62(8):685–693, 2000.
- [48] Hu Jiang, Jingbin Liu, Zemin Wang, Jiachun An, Jikun Ou, Shulun Liu, and Ningbo Wang. Assessment of spatial and temporal tec variations derived from ionospheric models over the polar regions. *Journal of Geodesy*, 93(4):455–471, 2019.
- [49] Siyu Tang, Zhi Huang, and Hong Yuan. Improving regional ionospheric tec mapping based on rbf interpolation. Advances in Space Research, 67(2):722–730, 2021.
- [50] John A Klobuchar. Ionospheric time-delay algorithm for single-frequency gps users. *IEEE Transactions on aerospace and electronic systems*, (3):325–331, 1987.
- [51] Manuel Hernández-Pajares, J. Miguel Juan, Jaume Sanz, Angela Aragón-Angel, Alberto García-Rigo, Dagoberto Salazar, and Miquel Escudero. The ionosphere: effects, GPS modeling and the benefits for space geodetic techniques. *Journal of Geodesy*, 85(12):887–907, December 2011.
- [52] S. Wang, L. Liu, Liangke Huang, Y. Yang, and H. Peng. Performance evaluation of ionospheric tec forecasting models using gps observations at different latitudes. *ISPRS - International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, XLII-3/W10:1175–1182, 02 2020.
- [53] Liang Wang, Zishen Li, Maorong Ge, Frank Neitzel, Zhiyu Wang, and Hong Yuan. Validation and assessment of multi-gnss real-time precise point positioning in simulated kinematic mode using igs real-time service. *Remote Sensing*, 10(2), 2018.
- [54] M. Kaselimi, N. Doulamis, A. Voulodimos, E. Protopapadakis, and A. Doulamis. Context aware energy disaggregation using adaptive bidirectional lstm models. *IEEE Transactions on* Smart Grid, 11(4):3054–3067, 2020.
- [55] Patrick Huber, Alberto Calatroni, Andreas Rumsch, and Andrew Paice. Review on deep neural networks applied to low-frequency nilm. *Energies*, 14(9), 2021.
- [56] M. Kaselimi, N. Doulamis, A. Doulamis, A. Voulodimos, and E. Protopapadakis. Bayesianoptimized bidirectional lstm regression model for non-intrusive load monitoring. In *ICASSP* 2019 - 2019 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 2747–2751, 2019.
- [57] D. Murray, L. Stankovic, V. Stankovic, S. Lulic, and S. Sladojevic. Transferability of neural network approaches for low-rate energy disaggregation. In *ICASSP 2019 - 2019 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 8330–8334, 2019.
- [58] M. D'Incecco, S. Squartini, and M. Zhong. Transfer learning for non-intrusive load monitoring. IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, 11(2):1419–1429, 2020.
- [59] F. Meyer, R. Bamler, N. Jakowski, and T. Fritz. The potential of low-frequency sar systems for mapping ionospheric tec distributions. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 3(4):560–564, 2006.
- [60] Ping Yin, CN Mitchell, PSJ Spencer, and JC Foster. Ionospheric electron concentration imaging using gps over the usa during the storm of july 2000. *Geophysical research letters*, 31(12), 2004.

- [61] O. Mandrikova, Nadezhda Fetisova, and Ilya Zhivetiev. Modeling and analysis of ionospheric parameters by a combination of wavelet transform and autoregression models. *Geomagnetism* and Aeronomy, 54:593–600, 09 2014.
- [62] Ersin Tulunay, Erdem Turker Senalp, Sandro Maria Radicella, and Yurdanur Tulunay. Forecasting total electron content maps by neural network technique. *Radio Science*, 41(04):1–12, 2006.
- [63] I. Lakshmi Mallika, D. Venkata Ratnam, Yuichi Ostuka, G. Sivavaraprasad, and Saravana Raman. Implementation of hybrid ionospheric tec forecasting algorithm using pca-nn method. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*, 12(1):371– 381, 2019.
- [64] Jyothi Ravi Kiran Kumar Dabbakuti and Bhavya Lahari G. Application of singular spectrum analysis using artificial neural networks in tec predictions for ionospheric space weather. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*, 12(12):5101– 5107, 2019.
- [65] Wang Li, Dongsheng Zhao, Yi Shen, and Kefei Zhang. Modeling australian tec maps using long-term observations of australian regional gps network by artificial neural network-aided spherical cap harmonic analysis approach. *Remote Sensing*, 12(23), 2020.
- [66] Ke Su, Shuanggen Jin, and M. M. Hoque. Evaluation of ionospheric delay effects on multi-gnss positioning performance. *Remote Sensing*, 11(2), 2019.
- [67] Maria Kaselimi, Nikolaos Doulamis, and Demitris Delikaraoglou. Ionospheric modeling in gnss positioning using deep learning models, 04 2019.
- [68] I Srivani, G Siva Vara Prasad, and D Venkata Ratnam. A deep learning-based approach to forecast ionospheric delays for gps signals. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 16(8):1180–1184, 2019.
- [69] Rongxin Tang, Fantao Zeng, Zhou Chen, Jing-Song Wang, Chun-Ming Huang, and Zhiping Wu. The comparison of predicting storm-time ionospheric tec by three methods: Arima, lstm, and seq2seq. *Atmosphere*, 11(4):316, 2020.
- [70] Zhichao Wen, Shuhui Li, Lihua Li, Bowen Wu, and Jianqiang Fu. Ionospheric tec prediction using long short-term memory deep learning network. Astrophysics and Space Science, 366, 01 2021.
- [71] Adarsha Ruwali, A. S. Kumar, K. B. Prakash, G. Sivavaraprasad, and D. V. Ratnam. Implementation of hybrid deep learning model (lstm-cnn) for ionospheric tec forecasting using gps data. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 18:1004–1008, 2021.
- [72] Feng Zhou, Danan Dong, Weiwei Li, Xinyuan Jiang, Jens Wickert, and Harald Schuh. Gamp: An open-source software of multi-gnss precise point positioning using undifferenced and uncombined observations. *Gps Solutions*, 22(2):1–10, 2018.
- [73] Ningbo Wang, Yunbin Yuan, Zishen Li, Oliver Montenbruck, and Bingfeng Tan. Determination of differential code biases with multi-gnss observations. *Journal of Geodesy*, 90(3):209–228, 2016.
- [74] Nicolas Bergeot, Jean-Marie Chevalier, Carine Bruyninx, Eric Pottiaux, Wim Aerts, Quentin Baire, Juliette Legrand, Pascale Defraigne, and Wei Huang. Near real-time ionospheric monitoring over europe at the royal observatory of belgium using gnss data. *Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate*, 4:A31, 2014.
- [75] Martin Sundermeyer, R. Schlüter, and H. Ney. Lstm neural networks for language modeling. In *INTERSPEECH*, 2012.

- [76] A. Graves. Generating sequences with recurrent neural networks. ArXiv, abs/1308.0850, 2013.
- [77] Amin Ullah, Jamil Ahmad, Khan Muhammad, Muhammad Sajjad, and Sung Wook Baik. Action recognition in video sequences using deep bi-directional lstm with cnn features. *IEEE Access*, 6:1155–1166, 2018.
- [78] Ilya Sutskever, Oriol Vinyals, and Quoc V Le. Sequence to sequence learning with neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.3215, 2014.
- [79] M. Kaselimi, A. Voulodimos, E. Protopapadakis, N. Doulamis, and A. Doulamis. Energan: A generative adversarial network for energy disaggregation. In *ICASSP 2020-2020 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 1578–1582. IEEE, 2020.
- [80] Alex Graves, Abdel-rahman Mohamed, and Geoffrey Hinton. Speech recognition with deep recurrent neural networks. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, pages 6645–6649, 2013.
- [81] Felix A Gers, Jürgen Schmidhuber, and Fred Cummins. Learning to forget: Continual prediction with lstm. 1999.
- [82] Oliver Montenbruck, Peter Steigenberger, Lars Prange, Zhiguo Deng, Qile Zhao, Felix Perosanz, Ignacio Romero, C. Noll, Andrea Stuerze, Georg Weber, Ralf Schmid, Ken MacLeod, and Stefan Schaer. The multi-gnss experiment (mgex) of the international gnss service (igs) – achievements, prospects and challenges. *Advances in Space Research*, 59:1671–1697, 01 2017.
- [83] Maria Kaselimi, Nikolaos Doulamis, Demitris Delikaraoglou, and Eftychios Protopapadakis. Gnssget and gnssplot platforms - matlab guis for retrieving gnss products and visualizing gnss solutions. pages 626–633, 01 2018.
- [84] Alex Krizhevsky, Ilya Sutskever, and Geoffrey Hinton. Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. *Neural Information Processing Systems*, 25, 01 2012.
- [85] Yann LeCun, Yoshua Bengio, and Geoffrey Hinton. Deep learning. nature, 521(7553):436–444, 2015.
- [86] Christian Szegedy, Wei Liu, Yangqing Jia, Pierre Sermanet, Scott Reed, Dragomir Anguelov, Dumitru Erhan, Vincent Vanhoucke, and Andrew Rabinovich. Going deeper with convolutions. In Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, pages 1–9, 2015.
- [87] Dzmitry Bahdanau, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate. arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.0473, 2014.
- [88] Hassan Ismail Fawaz, Germain Forestier, Jonathan Weber, Lhassane Idoumghar, and Pierre-Alain Muller. Deep learning for time series classification: a review. *Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery*, 33(4):917–963, 2019.
- [89] Maria Kaselimi, Athanasios Voulodimos, Nikolaos Doulamis, Anastasios Doulamis, and Demitris Delikaraoglou. Deep recurrent neural networks for ionospheric variations estimation using gnss measurements. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, pages 1–15, 2021.
- [90] M. Kaselimi, N. Doulamis, A. Voulodimos, A. Doulamis, and E. Protopapadakis. Energan++: A generative adversarial gated recurrent network for robust energy disaggregation. *IEEE Open Journal of Signal Processing*, 2:1–16, 2021.
- [91] Razvan Pascanu, Caglar Gulcehre, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. How to construct deep recurrent neural networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:1312.6026, 2013.

- [92] Cheng Wang, Shaoming Xin, Xiaolu Liu, Chuang Shi, and Lei Fan. Prediction of global ionospheric vtec maps using an adaptive autoregressive model. *Earth, Planets and Space*, 70(1):1–14, 2018.
- [93] Diederik P Kingma and Jimmy Ba. Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980, 2014.
- [94] Nikolaos Doulamis and Anastasios Doulamis. Semi-supervised deep learning for object tracking and classification. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP), pages 848–852. IEEE, 2014.
- [95] Nikolaos Doulamis and Athanasios Voulodimos. Fast-mdl: Fast adaptive supervised training of multi-layered deep learning models for consistent object tracking and classification. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Imaging Systems and Techniques (IST), pages 318–323. IEEE, 2016.
- [96] David Rolnick, Priya Donti, Lynn Kaack, Kelly Kochanski, Alexandre Lacoste, Kris Sankaran, Andrew Ross, Nikola Milojevic-Dupont, Natasha Jaques, Anna Waldman-Brown, Alexandra Luccioni, Tegan Maharaj, Evan Sherwin, s. Karthik Mukkavilli, Konrad Kording, Carla Gomes, Andrew Ng, Demis Hassabis, John Platt, and Y. Bengio. Tackling climate change with machine learning. 06 2019.
- [97] G. W. Hart. Nonintrusive appliance load monitoring. Proceedings of the IEEE, 80(12):1870– 1891, 1992.
- [98] Behzad Najafi, Sadaf Moaveninejad, and Fabio Rinaldi. Data Analytics for Energy Disaggregation: Methods and Applications, pages 377–408. 01 2018.
- [99] J. Kelly and W. Knottenbelt. Neural nilm: Deep neural networks applied to energy disaggregation. In Proceedings of the 2nd ACM International Conference on Embedded Systems for Energy-Efficient Built Environments, pages 55–64, 2015.
- [100] C. Dinesh, S. Makonin, and I. V. Bajić. Residential power forecasting using load identification and graph spectral clustering. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs*, 66(11):1900–1904, 2019.
- [101] K. Basu, V. Debusschere, and S. Bacha. Residential appliance identification and future usage prediction from smart meter. In *IECON 2013 - 39th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, pages 4994–4999, 2013.
- [102] Anthony Faustine, Nerey Mvungi, Shubi Kaijage, and Michael Kisangiri. A survey on nonintrusive load monitoring methodies and techniques for energy disaggregation problem. 03 2017.
- [103] Lukas Mauch and Bin Yang. A new approach for supervised power disaggregation by using a deep recurrent lstm network. In 2015 IEEE Global Conference on Signal and Information Processing (GlobalSIP), pages 63–67, 2015.
- [104] Hana Altrabalsi, J. Liao, L. Stanković, and V. Stanković. A low-complexity energy disaggregation method: Performance and robustness. 2014 IEEE Symposium on Computational Intelligence Applications in Smart Grid (CIASG), pages 1–8, 2014.
- [105] Jing Liao, Georgia Elafoudi, Lina Stankovic, and Vladimir Stankovic. Non-intrusive appliance load monitoring using low-resolution smart meter data. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGridComm), pages 535–540, 2014.
- [106] Yu-Hsiu Lin and Men-Shen Tsai. Non-intrusive load monitoring by novel neuro-fuzzy classification considering uncertainties. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 5(5):2376–2384, 2014.

- [107] Kanghang He, Lina Stankovic, Jing Liao, and Vladimir Stankovic. Non-intrusive load disaggregation using graph signal processing. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 9(3):1739– 1747, 2018.
- [108] Georgia Elafoudi, Lina Stankovic, and Vladimir Stankovic. Power disaggregation of domestic smart meter readings using dynamic time warping. pages 36–39, 05 2014.
- [109] J. Kim, T. Le, and H. Kim. Nonintrusive load monitoring based on advanced deep learning and novel signature. *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, 2017, 2017.
- [110] Bochao Zhao, Kanghang He, Lina Stankovic, and Vladimir Stankovic. Improving event-based non-intrusive load monitoring using graph signal processing. *IEEE Access*, 6:53944–53959, 2018.
- [111] Ram Machlev, Yoash Levron, and Yuval Beck. Modified cross-entropy method for classification of events in nilm systems. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 10(5):4962–4973, 2019.
- [112] Z. Kolter and T. Jaakkola. Approximate inference in additive factorial hmms with application to energy disaggregation. In *Artificial intelligence and statistics*, pages 1472–1482, 2012.
- [113] R. Bonfigli, A. Felicetti, E. Principi, M. Fagiani, S. Squartini, and F. Piazza. Denoising autoencoders for non-intrusive load monitoring: improvements and comparative evaluation. *Energy and Buildings*, 158:1461–1474, 2018.
- [114] Dragana Bajović, Kanghang He, Lina Stanković, Dejan Vukobratović, and Vladimir Stanković. Optimal detection and error exponents for hidden semi-markov models. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 12(5):1077–1092, 2018.
- [115] Ahmed Zoha, Alexander Gluhak, Muhammad Ali Imran, and Sutharshan Rajasegarar. Nonintrusive load monitoring approaches for disaggregated energy sensing: A survey. Sensors, 12(12):16838–16866, 2012.
- [116] S. Makonin, F. Popowich, I. V. Bajić, B. Gill, and L. Bartram. Exploiting hmm sparsity to perform online real-time nonintrusive load monitoring. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 7(6):2575–2585, 2016.
- [117] A. Rahimpour, H. Qi, D. Fugate, and T. Kuruganti. Non-intrusive energy disaggregation using non-negative matrix factorization with sum-to-k constraint. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 32(6):4430–4441, 2017.
- [118] J Zico Kolter and Matthew J Johnson. Redd: A public data set for energy disaggregation research. In Workshop on data mining applications in sustainability (SIGKDD), San Diego, CA, volume 25, pages 59–62, 2011.
- [119] S. Makonin, F. Popowich, L. Bartram, B. Gill, and I. Bajić. Ampds: A public dataset for load disaggregation and eco-feedback research. In 2013 IEEE Electrical Power & Energy Conference, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2013.
- [120] C. Zhang, M. Zhong, Z. Wang, N. Goddard, and C. Sutton. Sequence-to-point learning with neural networks for non-intrusive load monitoring. In *Thirty-second AAAI conference on artificial intelligence*, 2018.
- [121] K. Chen, Q. Wang, Z. He, K. Chen, J. Hu, and J. He. Convolutional sequence to sequence non-intrusive load monitoring. *The Journal of Engineering*, 2018(17):1860–1864, 2018.
- [122] K. Bao, K. Ibrahimov, M. Wagner, and H. Schmeck. Enhancing neural non-intrusive load monitoring with generative adversarial networks. *Energy Informatics*, 1(1):295–302, 2018.
- [123] K. Chen, Y. Zhang, Q. Wang, J. Hu, H. Fan, and J. He. Scale-and context-aware convolutional non-intrusive load monitoring. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 35(3):2362–2373, 2019.

- [124] Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Lukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. Attention is all you need. arXiv preprint arXiv:1706.03762, 2017.
- [125] Zhenrui Yue, Camilo Requena Witzig, Daniel Jorde, and Hans-Arno Jacobsen. Bert4nilm: A bidirectional transformer model for non-intrusive load monitoring. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Workshop on Non-Intrusive Load Monitoring*, NILM'20, page 89–93, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [126] Warit Wichakool, Al-Thaddeus Avestruz, Robert W Cox, and Steven B Leeb. Modeling and estimating current harmonics of variable electronic loads. *IEEE Transactions on power* electronics, 24(12):2803–2811, 2009.
- [127] Yizheng Xu and Jovica V Milanović. Artificial-intelligence-based methodology for load disaggregation at bulk supply point. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 30(2):795–803, 2014.
- [128] N. Batra, J. Kelly, O. Parson, H. Dutta, W. Knottenbelt, A. Rogers, A. Singh, and M. Srivastava. Nilmtk: an open source toolkit for non-intrusive load monitoring. In *Proceedings of the 5th international conference on Future energy systems*, pages 265–276, 2014.
- [129] Peter I Frazier. A tutorial on bayesian optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1807.02811, 2018.
- [130] Eric Brochu, Vlad M Cora, and Nando De Freitas. A tutorial on bayesian optimization of expensive cost functions, with application to active user modeling and hierarchical reinforcement learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:1012.2599, 2010.
- [131] D. Murray, L. Stankovic, and V. Stankovic. An electrical load measurements dataset of united kingdom households from a two-year longitudinal study. *Scientific data*, 4(1):1–12, 2017.
- [132] W. Kong, Z. Y. Dong, D. J. Hill, J. Ma, J. H. Zhao, and F. J. Luo. A hierarchical hidden markov model framework for home appliance modeling. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 9(4):3079–3090, 2018.
- [133] Chuanbao Zhao, Yunbin Yuan, Baocheng Zhang, and Min Li. Ionosphere sensing with a low-cost, single-frequency, multi-gnss receiver. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote* Sensing, 57(2):881–892, 2018.
- [134] K. Makantasis, A. Doulamis, N. Doulamis, and A. Nikitakis. Tensor-based classification models for hyperspectral data analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 56(12):6884–6898, 2018.
- [135] Maria Kaselimi and Nikolaos Doulamis. Long-term recurrent convolutional networks for non-intrusive load monitoring. In Proceedings of the 13th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, pages 1–4, 2020.
- [136] Maria Kaselimi, Athanasios Voulodimos, Nikolaos Doulamis, Anastasios Doulamis, and Eftychios Protopapadakis. A robust to noise adversarial recurrent model for non-intrusive load monitoring. In ICASSP 2021 - 2021 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 3335–3339, 2021.
- [137] Maria Kaselimi, Athanasios Voulodimos, Nikolaos Doulamis, Anastasios Doulamis, and Eftychios Protopapadakis. A generative adversarial gated recurrent network for power disaggregation & consumption awareness.
- [138] J. Chung, C. Gulcehre, K. Cho, and Y. Bengio. Empirical evaluation of gated recurrent neural networks on sequence modeling. arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.3555, 2014.

- [139] J. Donahue, L. Anne Hendricks, S. Guadarrama, M. Rohrbach, S. Venugopalan, K. Saenko, and T. Darrell. Long-term recurrent convolutional networks for visual recognition and description. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 2625–2634, 2015.
- [140] Y. Zhu and S. Lu. Load profile disaggregation by blind source separation: A wavelets-assisted independent component analysis approach. In 2014 IEEE PES General Meeting/ Conference & Exposition, pages 1–5. IEEE, 2014.
- [141] L. Pandey, A. Kumar, and V. Namboodiri. Monoaural audio source separation using variational autoencoders. In *INTERSPEECH*, pages 3489–3493, 2018.
- [142] E. M. Grais and M. D. Plumbley. Single channel audio source separation using convolutional denoising autoencoders. In 2017 IEEE global conference on signal and information processing (GlobalSIP), pages 1265–1269. IEEE, 2017.
- [143] A. Doulamis and N. Doulamis. Generalized nonlinear relevance feedback for interactive content-based retrieval and organization. *IEEE transactions on circuits and systems for video* technology, 14(5):656–671, 2004.
- [144] I. Goodfellow, J. Pouget-Abadie, M. Mirza, B. Xu, D. Warde-Farley, S. Ozair, A. Courville, and Y. Bengio. Generative adversarial nets. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 2672–2680, 2014.
- [145] J. Gui, Z. Sun, Y. Wen, D. Tao, and J. Ye. A review on generative adversarial networks: Algorithms, theory, and applications. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.06937*, 2020.
- [146] Q. Lei, A. Jalal, I. Dhillon, and A. Dimakis. Inverting deep generative models, one layer at a time. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, pages 13910–13919, 2019.
- [147] Y. Teng and A. Choromanska. Invertible autoencoder for domain adaptation. Computation, 7(2):20, 2019.
- [148] W. Pei, T. Baltrusaitis, D. Tax, and L. Morency. Temporal attention-gated model for robust sequence classification. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 6730–6739, 2017.
- [149] Protopapadakis E., Voulodimos A., and Doulamis A.and Doulamis N.and Dres D.and Bimpas M. Stacked autoencoders for outlier detection in over-the-horizon radar signals. *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, 2017.